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Defendant Ghislaine Maxwell files this Response to Non-Party Sharon Churcher’s
Motion to Quash Subpoena, and states as follows:

INTRODUCTION

Ms. Maxwell seeks documents and testimony from Sharon Churcher (“Churcher’) that
are critical to the defense of this single count defamation case. Churcher is the only person with
much of the information that will prove the truth defense.

The alleged defamatory press release at issue in this case states:

“Each time the story is re told it changes with new salacious details about public

figures and world leaders and now it is alleged by Ms. Roberts that Alan

Dershowitz is involved in having sexual relations with her, which he denies.

Ms. Roberts claims are obvious lies and should be treated as such and not publicized as
news, as they are defamatory.”

Churcher is the sole source of information regarding the original story told by Plaintiff,
and was the author of the first articles publishing Plaintiff’s claims. She was actively and
personally involved in changing those stories over time and in the creation and addition of new
salacious details about public figures, including the fabrication of Alan Dershowitz’s alleged
sexual relations with Plaintiff.

Sharon Churcher’s attempt to avoid the subpoena for deposition and production of
documents based on the journalist Shield Law must fail for three reasons. First, much of the
discovery sought is unrelated to any news gathering activities. Rather, Churcher was acting as a
friend and advisor to Plaintiff in Plaintiff’efforts to write and publish a book, sensationalizing her
story in a manner that would best boost the publicity, publication and sales of that work of
fiction. In that role, she helped manufacture some of the stories that have been denied and that

are the central issues in this case.
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Second, in certain instances, Churcher was also acting as a source for information to
Plaintiff’s counsel and law enforcement agencies, specifically stating that she was not acting in
her capacity as a journalist. In these instances, she was not gathering news for publication, she
was providing information she had already gathered. Providing this information to third parties
waived any qualified privilege that ever arguably existed.

Finally, to the extent that any information sought is covered by the qualified protection of
Civil Rights Law § 79-h(c)', Ms. Maxwell provides a clear and specific showing that the
information is highly material or relevant, critical or necessary to the Ms. Maxwell’s truth
defense, and not obtainable from any alternative source. As such, the Shield Law requires
compliance with the subpoena.

For these reason, the Motion to Quash should be denied, and Churcher should be
compelled to comply with the Subpoena, as modified herein.

ARGUMENT

I CHURCHER IS A MATERIAL FACT WITNESS AND WAS NOT ACTING AS A
JOURNALIST

The New York Shield law relied on by Churcher is only applicable where a professional
journalist is asked to disclose information they have received “in the course of gathering or
obtaining news for publication.” 79-h(b) &(c). Much of the information sought from Churcher
has nothing to do with information she gathered or collected in the course of gathering news for
publication. Rather, it relates to advice, information and communications that she had with
Plaintiff in her capacity as a friend and advisor. “Section 79-h is not applicable where the

journalist is called upon, as other citizens, to testify with respect to personal observations”

1 As discussed in detail below, the undersigned has informed Churcher’s counsel that the Subpoena is not intended
to cover any information from confidential sources. Thus, the absolute privilege found in Civil Rights Law § 79—
h(c) is inapplicable
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Solargen Elec. Motor Car Corp. v. Am. Motors Corp., 506 F. Supp. 546, 551 (N.D.N.Y. 1981);
People v. Dupree, 88 Misc. 2d 791, 796, 388 N.Y.S.2d 1000, 1003 (Sup. Ct. 1976) (“the
privilege does not exist if the newsman is called on to testify what he personally observed.”).

In this single count defamation action, Churcher is being called as a witness to testify
regarding events that she personally observed and in which she participated. This case is about
whether the information included in the December 2014 Joinder Motion that Ms. Maxwell called
obvious lies were, in fact, lies. These included allegations about Plaintiff’s alleged sexual
interactions with Alan Dershowitz and Prince Andrew, specifically referenced in Ms. Maxwell’s
denial statement. Not only is Churcher aware that the allegations were false, she helped Plaintiff
concoct the stories.

A. Churcher was acting as a friend and advisor to help Plaintiff publish her
book, not as journalist

As set out in Churcher’s Declaration, she first met with Plaintiff in early 2011 and
conducted a weeks-long series of extensive interviews in person with Plaintiff, leading to a string
of publications in March of 2011. As Churcher stated, her focus in these articles was Prince
Andrew. After the interviews and the publication of the March 2011 stories, Churcher continued
regular contact with Plaintiff as her friend and business advisor. See Menninger Decl. Ex. A, p.
5-7, 10, 12, 19, 24-25, 30, 32, 35, 37-38, 48, 51, 61 & 68. Churcher encouraged Plaintiff to write
a book and to begin pursing publishing contracts as soon as her exclusivity with the Mail on
Sunday was over in May 2011. Menninger Decl. Ex. A, p. 2, 5. Churcher recommended a
variety of ghost writers and agents to Plaintiff for this purpose, all as Plaintiff’s friend, advisor
and advocate. See Menninger Decl. Ex. A, p. 5, 9, 10, 12, 15, 25, 30, 32, 35, 37, 38, 42, 48, 50

&60. Churcher also initiated contact with the US Attorney’s office and FBI on behalf of
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Plaintiff, setting up their initial meeting where Churcher planned to be present at that meeting
“for support,” not in her capacity as a journalist. Menninger Decl. Ex. A, p. 3.

Plaintiff did begin writing her book and sent versions of her manuscript to Churcher for
her review and comment — again, in her capacity as a friend, not as a journalist. Menninger Decl.
Ex. A, p. 59. Churcher also had extensive discussion with Plaintiff on the best strategies for
getting interest in her book, including determining when to “name names” Menninger Decl. Ex.
A, p. 63. She strategized with Plaintiff and Plaintiff’s counsel, Brad Edwards, on how to use a
potential Vanity Fair article as book publicity by dropping names of famous politicians, claiming
she was sex trafficked, but refusing to provide additional information because she was writing a
book. Menninger Decl. Ex. A, p. 51-58.

Through some of these communications between Plaintiff and Churcher, it is obvious that
stories in the book — later to become allegation in the Joinder Motion — were created and
supported based on the suggestions of Churcher. They were not reported by Plaintiff in her
initial interview, or in Churcher’s initial publications, because they did not occur.

B. Churcher prompted Plaintiff to fabricate stories regarding Prince Andrew

In 2011, when Churcher first reported on Plaintiff’s story after having just spent weeks
interviewing Plaintiff in Australia, and with a particular focus on reporting Plaintiff’s meeting
Prince Andrew, Churcher specifically reported: “[t]here is no suggestion that there was any
sexual contact between Virginia and Andrew, or that Andrew knew that Epstein paid her to have
sex with his friends.” Churcher Decl., Ex. 2, p, 6/34. Shortly thereafter, on March 20, 2011,
Churcher emailed Plaintiff explaining to her how she can corroborate a story to tell the FBI —
that she was “given to” Prince Andrew. Menninger Decl., Ex. A, p. 8. Churcher provided an
explanation for how Plaintiff can substantiate the claim — a claim not previously made by

Plaintiff.
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The December 2014 Joinder Motion is the first publication of alleged sexual interaction
between Plaintiff and Prince Andrew. At some point between March 2011 and January 2015,
Churcher requested that Plaintiff handwrite a diary describing her alleged sexual encounters with
Prince Andrew. Attached to the Churcher Declaration at Exhibit 7 is an Article subtitled “Diary
Entries Of ‘Teen Sex Slave’ Detail Sorted Hook-Up With Prince Andrew — In Her Own
Handwriting.” The article claims to print excerpts of a contemporaneous journal kept by
Plaintiff when she was 17, stating “In a bombshell world exclusive, RadarOnline.com has
exclusively obtained the secret journal of the then 17-year-old employed to have sex with
billionaire pedophile Jeffrey Epstein and his rich and powerful pals — and it’s packed with
scandalous claims about her illicit trysts, including with Andrew, the fifth in line to the British
throne.” Churcher Decl. Ex. 7. This alleged 24 page “diary” or “journal” was a completely
fabricated document handwritten by Plaintiff at the request and direction of Churcher. See
Menninger Decl. Ex. B, p. 207-208; 226-231% Plaintiff maintains she did not keep a copy of this
handwritten “diary,” leaving the only source of the complete document and information about its
creation with the person who asked for the document’s fabrication — Churcher.’

If there was no suggestion of sexual contact with Prince Andrew as of March 2, 2011,
how and when was this story first created? From the email correspondence, it appears that
Churcher was directly involved in inventing this story during the course of creating stories for a
book — stories that would generate the interest of publishers. Churcher’s testimony on how the

Prince Andrew allegation was first created is direct evidence in this case.

? In actuality, the only journal Plaintiff ever maintained that might contain relevant information was purposefully
destroyed by Plaintiff in a bonfire in 2013, at a time when she was represented by counsel and actively trying to
insert herself as a Plaintiff in the CVRA case. Menninger Decl., Ex. B, p. 205-209.

* To the extent Churcher argues that the creation of this “diary” was somehow part of the news “gathering” process,
it was clearly not confidential, and the test requiring production of the non-published potions, discussed below, is
met — the information is highly relevant, critical to the defense, and available form no other source.

5
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C. Churcher prompted Plaintiff to invent stories regarding Alan Dershowitz

Churcher’s direct involvement in creating the allegations in the Joinder Motion regarding
Plaintiff’s alleged sexual interactions with Alan Dershowitz — or even the knowledge of Alan
Dershowitz’ name — is even more apparent. Prior to the December 2014 joinder Motion, there is
not a single mention of Mr. Dershowitz in any pleading related to Plaintiff. In Churcher’s March
2011 publications, directly after she interviewed Plaintiff, there was not a single mention of Mr.
Dershowitz. It is quite apparent that Plaintiff had never met Mr. Dershowitz or reported that he
was a person with whom she had had sexual relations.

In the May/June 2011 timeframe, Plaintiff and Churcher’s communications relate
primarily to Plaintiff’s draft of her novel, hiring a ghostwriter, and requests for advice on how to
manage agent and book publication deals. Menninger Decl. Ex. A. As a part of those
communications, on May 10, 2011, Plaintiff writes Churcher:

“Hello gorgeous, I hope this message comes to you on a bright, sunny day!!! I took your

advice about what to offer Sandra [a ghostwriter] and she accepted. We’re drawing up a

contract through her agent right now and getting busy to meet my deadline. Just

wondering if you have any information on you from when you and I were doing
interviews about the J.E. story. I wanted to put the names of these assholes, oops I meant
to say, pedo’s, that J.E. sent me to. With everything going on my brain feels like mush
and it would be a great deal of help!...””*

In an e-mail dated May 11, 2011, Churcher replies to Plaintift:

“Don't forget Alan Dershowitz... JE' s buddy and lawyer -good name for your pitch as he

repped Claus von Bulow and a movie was made about that case ... title was Reversal of

Fortune. We all suspect Alan is a pedo and tho no proof of that, you probably met him

when he was hanging put w JE”

Menninger Decl. Ex. A, p. 26-28.

4 This email raises its own issues. If Plaintiff was providing her own personal information regarding what allegedly
happened to her, why would she require information from Churcher from their interviews about whom she had been
‘trafficked” to. What information did Churcher provide to Plaintiff that was the basis for Plaintiff’s various
allegations, as opposed to being factual information based on events that happened to Plaintiff?

6
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Sometime thereafter, Plaintiff did insert Mr. Dershowitz’s name in her book manuscript
but she did not allege therein that she had any sexual relations with him, rather she simply
referred to him as a business acquaintance of Mr. Epstein’s. It was not until the Joinder Motion
in December 2014 that she claimed she engaged in sexual relations with Mr. Dershowitz,
something he adamantly and publicly denied.

At the heart of this case is the question of whether Ms. Maxwell defamed Plaintiff by
calling her a liar. Of course, if Plaintiff is a liar, then there is no defamation. Churcher had
direct and actual knowledge that Plaintiff is a liar and helped orchestrate specific and incredible
public lies in concert with Plaintiff relating to Prince Andrew and Alan Dershowitz. In both of
these instances, Churcher is not acting as a journalist — she is acting as a friend and advisor to
Plaintiff on how to drop names — truth be damned — to try to sell Plaintiff’s book. As Churcher
puts it, the only incentives are “deadlines and/or cash”. Menninger Decl., Ex. A, p. 12. Churcher
is not a journalist; she is a co-conspirator in Plaintiff’s publication of false statements regarding
numerous people including Prince Andrew, Alan Dershowitz and Ms. Maxwell. It is the denial
of the defamatory claims Churcher helped create that is the basis of this defamation suit. There
is no reporter shield over these factual matters that are not related to new gathering.

D. Churcher’s communications with Plaintiff’s Counsel and Law Enforcement
are not news-gathering activities

Churcher also admits to communicating regularly with Bradley Edwards, now Plaintiff’s
counsel, and other agents for Plaintiff, which communications continue through the present day.
See Churcher Decl., 44 9-10. Churcher is the person who initially put Plaintiff in contact with
Edwards. See Menninger Decl., Ex A, p. 7. Churcher coached Plaintiff on how to use Edwards
to provide information to reporters in a manner that would best help her book sales. See

Menninger Decl., Ex A, p. 51-58. According to Plaintiff, she regularly shared information from
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Edwards with Churcher, although she could not specify the attorney-client privileged
information she shared. Menninger Decl. Ex. B, p. 297-300. None of the communications or
correspondence with Edwards, or any of Plaintiff’s other attorneys, are in a news gathering
capacity, and are not covered by the Shield Law.

Likewise, Churcher apparently corresponded with the FBI and US Attorney’s office
regarding Plaintiff, and specifically states she is not acting in her journalistic capacity.
Menninger Decl. Ex A, 3. Communications that occurred that were not forwarded or copies to
Plaintiff have not been produced. Churcher specifically states that she would like to be treated as
a confidential source of information. /d., p. 8. She is not gathering news, she is attempting to
assist law enforcement and providing them with information she has gathered. First, this is not
news gathering activity, and clearly not related to confidential source. Even if there was some
claim of qualified privilege, having shared information with the FBI or other law enforcement,
there is a waiver of any protection of the Shield Law. See Guice-Mills v. Forbes, 12 Misc. 3d
852, 857, 819 N.Y.S.2d 432, 436 (Sup. Ct. 2006) (professional journalist waived the exemption
of the Shield Law if they voluntarily disclose or consent to disclosure of otherwise covered
information to third parties).

None of the documents or information described above is covered by the New York
Shield Law because Churcher was not engaged in the news-gathering process. Regardless, there
is no proof that any of the information sought by Ms. Maxwell in the subpoena is confidential
information from a confidential source, nor was it intended kept confidential. The requested
information must be produced and Churcher deposed as her testimony is critical to the truth

defense in this case.
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II. THE ABSOLUTE PRIVILEGE OF THE SHIELD LAW IS NOT APPLICABLE
BECAUSE THERE WAS NO EXPECTATION OF CONFIDENTIALITY

As with all attempts to block the discovery of relevant information “[t]he burden rests
upon the [party invoking privilege] to demonstrate that the material is privileged.” People v.
Wolf, 39 A.D.2d 864, 864, 333 N.Y.S.2d 299, 301 (1972). “To successfully raise a claim of
privilege under this statute, the information must be imparted to the reporter under a ‘cloak of
confidentiality’. There had to be an understanding, express or implied, that the information will
not be disclosed” People v. Bova, 118 Misc. 2d 14, 19, 460 N.Y.S.2d 230, 233 (Sup. Ct. 1983);
Hennigan v. Buffalo Courier Express Co., Inc., 85 A.D.2d 924, 446 N.Y.S.2d 767 (“The
confidential relationship with the source must first be established in order to determine the
interest to be balanced against that of a civil litigant. Full disclosure is the general rule and the
burden of showing immunity from disclosure is on the party asserting it”); People v. LeGrand,
67 A.D.2d 446, 415 N.Y.S.2d 252; Matter of WBAI-FM v. Proskin, 42 A.D.2d 5, 344 N.Y.S.2d
393; Matter of Wolf, 39 A.D.2d 864, 333 N.Y.S.2d 299; Davis v. Davis, 88 Misc.2d 1, 386
N.Y.S.2d 992).

Churcher admits that her conversations and communications with Plaintiff were not made
with any expectation of confidentiality. Indeed, quite the opposite. The express reason for the
communication was to obtain press coverage and to cause the publications of the series of
articles written and published by Churcher. Plaintiff was paid over $140,000 to go “on record.”

With respect to any other “source” of information over which Churcher claims an
“absolute” privilege, there is no issue. Ms. Maxwell is not seeking this information. Ms.
Maxwell recognizes that there are occasions in which Churcher attributes information to a
confidential source. Ms. Maxwell does not seek to compel documents relating to these limited

individuals, to the extent the information and source was not later revealed, and will not question
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Churcher on these sources except to determine if they have later been identified with their
permission. The undersigned informed Ms. Churcher’s counsel in their conferral that she would
not seek information relating to confidential sources.

Respecting identified sources, Churcher fails to carry the burden of showing that there
was an expectation of confidentiality, which is her burden to carry. Indeed, in her declaration
she admits that she had conversations with Plaintiff’s attorney, Bradly Edwards, and law
enforcement agencies that were not intended to be kept confidential. See Churcher Decl. 119 &
11. In her articles, she specifically identifies the sources of her information, demonstrating the
lack of confidentiality. Plaintiff simply cannot carry the burden of claiming any absolute
privilege under 79-h(b).

III. THERE IS A COMPELLING NEED FOR CHURCHER’S DOCUMENTS AND
TESTIMONY

Having failed to establish the essential element of confidentiality, Churcher attempts to
claim a qualified protection. Matter of Sullivan, 167 Misc. 2d 534, 538, 635 N.Y.S.2d 437, 440
(Sup. Ct. 1995) (source “had no understanding or expectation of confidentiality with either Mr.
Hurley or the police detectives regarding the viewing of the interrogation. Consequently, there 1s
no absolute privilege which protects the movant's materials, see Civil Rights Law § 79—h(b), and
therefore any protection that might be afforded to the journalistic material can only be of a
qualified nature.”). Churcher relies on qualified protection relating to non-published news
gathering information, which requires Ms. Maxwell make a clear and specific showing that the
information is: (1) highly material and relevant; and (2) critical or necessary to the litigant's
claim or defense; and (3) not obtainable from any alternative source. Matter of Sullivan, 167

Misc. 2d 534, 537-38, 635 N.Y.S.2d 437, 440 (Sup. Ct. 1995); Civil Rights Law 79-h (c). As

discussed above, this provision is only applicable where a journalist is acting in a news gathering

10



Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-1 Filed 01/04/24 Page 13 of 21

capacity. Ms. Maxwell proffers the following clear and specific showing establishing each of
these elements, requiring production of the information sought and deposition of Churcher.

A. The Information Sought from Churcher is Highly Material and Directly
Relevant

This is a case about whether or not allegations in the Joinder Motion were lies, in
particular the claims about Ms. Maxwell, Prince Andrew and Alan Dershowitz, which are the
specific items that were denied in Ms. Maxwell’s press release. The information sought from
Churcher is highly material in proving that that each time the story is told, new salacious details
are added — the alleged defamatory statement. Indeed, it could be the most probative evidence in
this case.

“In determining whether the defendant has made a clear and specific showing that the
information sought is critical or necessary to [her] defense, this court should not ‘substitute its
judgment for a defendant's on the question whether such evidence is ‘necessary and critical’ to a
defense.” Matter of Sullivan, 167 Misc. 2d 534, 540, 635 N.Y.S.2d 437, 441 (Sup. Ct. 1995)
(quoting United States v. Sanusi, 813 F.Supp. 149, 160 (U.S.Dist.Ct.E.D.1992)).

Starting with Ms. Maxwell, Churcher’s articles directly conflict with the allegations in
the Joinder Motion and Plaintiff’s testimony in this case. First, Churcher’s original article
reports the following regarding Plaintiff’s first visit to Mr. Epstein’s mansion:

“I’d get training and be paid well. Virginia’s father gave his blessing, believing

his daughter was being handed the opportunity to learn a skill and to work for a

wealthy and respectable employer.

He drove her to Epstein’s pink mansion on the Palm Beach waterfront . . .

Virginia says: ‘Ghislaine said I was to start immediately and that someone would
drive me home.

My father left and I was told to go upstairs.” She was led by another woman

through Epstein’s bedroom into a massage room where he lay face down naked
on a table.

11
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He started to interview Virginia. This was unconventional, but Virginia had no
suspicions. Presumably, she thought, this was how the wealthy conducted their
business.

Epstein elicited the information that Virginia had been a runaway, and was no

longer a virgin. Virginia was then told to start massaging Epstein, under the

instructions of the woman who had shown her in. The massage quickly

developed into a sexual encounter.

Churcher Decl., Ex. 2, p. 4/34; See also Churcher Decl., Ex. 5, p. 3/13.

Churcher later reports that Ms. Maxwell hired girls for Epstein. In this story, she alleges
Ms. Maxwell escorted Plaintiff to meet Mr. Epstein, but nowhere claims that Ms. Maxwell
engaged in any sexual interaction with Plaintiff at any time. See Churcher Decl., Ex. 4, p.1-6.

The Joinder Motion alleges that it was Ms. Maxwell that took Plaintiff to Mr. Epstein’s
room on her first visit to the mansion, and allegedly participated in a sexual interaction — a claim
never before made. Ex. C. Obviously, Churcher’s notes, interviews and recordings are directly
relevant to Plaintiff’s original story about Ms. Maxwell, and how it has changed and morphed
over time, as well as the motivation for those changes.

The next allegation that has mutated with time in Churcher’s stories and in the Joinder
Motion relates to Plaintiff’s age when she first met Epstein and the amount of time she spent
working for him. In Churcher’s first story, she published that Plaintiff first met Epstein in 1998,
soon after her 151 birthday, and worked for him for four years. Churcher Decl., Ex. 1, p. 3/34;
Ex. 5, p. 2/31. The Joinder Motion alleges that Plaintiff met Epstein in 1999, when she was 15.
Both the year and the time of year are material to this case.

Plaintiff now admits that she did not meet Epstein in 1999, but rather met him in 2000
which was the year she worked at the Mar-A-Lago. Plaintiff’s claims about meeting Epstein in

1998 or 1999, and her claim of being 15, are lies. Plaintiff still claims, however, that she was 16

years old at the time she met Epstein. Menninger Decl., Ex. B, p. 104. Despite efforts to obtain

12
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records from the Mar-A-Lago, they have no records of Plaintiff’s dates of employment to
establish the timeframe. Churcher is a witness with information fixing the month when Plaintiff
claims to have met Epstein, i.e. soon after her birthday in August. In light of the now admitting
year — 2000 — Plaintiff would have been 17 at the time.

Other highly relevant information in Churcher’s sole possession is the identification of
what documents and information Plaintiff was shown by Churcher, including flight logs,
pictures, or other witness statements. For instance, based on email correspondence, it appears
that Churcher was in possession of Epstein’s flight logs. There is no indication that Plaintiff had
seen those flight logs prior to meeting Churcher. Plaintiff never mentions certain names that
appear in the flight logs prior to Churcher’s meeting with her in February 2011. By way of
example, Bill Clinton is referenced in the flight logs. Before 2011, Plaintiff never mentioned or
references President Clinton. Yet, suddenly and out of thin air, Plaintiff allegedly reports to
Churcher in 2011 that she met Bill Clinton twice, and that Ms. Maxwell flew President Clinton
on a helicopter to Mr. Epstein’s Island — a story which has since been fully discredited as a lie.
This is simply one example of names and stories that were mysteriously added to Plaintiff’s
story, likely through Churcher’s suggestive questioning and presentation of documents to
Plaintiff. The only person who can testify on this highly relevant matter, including what
documents were shown to Plaintiff, is Churcher.

Churcher also reported that Plaintiff was sent by Epstein (and Epstein alone) to meet with
men including “a well-known businessman (whose pregnant wife was asleep in the next room), a
world-renowned scientist, a respected liberal politician and a foreign head of state.” Churcher
Decl., Ex. 2, p. 5/34. By contrast, the Joinder Motion alleges “Epstein also trafficked Jane Doe

#3 [Plaintiff] for sexual purposes to many other powerful men, including numerous prominent

13
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American politicians, powerful business executives, foreign presidents, a well-known Prime
Minister, and other world leaders.” Menninger Decl., Ex. C. Notably, Plaintiff has not identified
any foreign presidents, a prime minister, a foreign head of state, a world-renowned scientist or
numerous “prominent American Politicians” in her Rule 26 disclosures in this case. So the
question is, who did Plaintiff identify to Churcher in 2011, and how has that list changed and
expanded over time. Only Churcher can provide this information.

Churcher’s publications in March of 2011 were the first publication containing the now
widely publicized picture of Plaintiff with Prince Andrew. Plaintiff was well paid for this picture,
and continued to get royalties on the reprints. Despite multiple requests, Plaintiff has not been
able to produce or provide the actual native version of the picture, or identify the specific date it
was taken. Given that Churcher was the first news source to print the picture, and later worked
with the FBI to provide information, she is likely the person who has the photo, or knows the
chain of custody of the picture. Either way, information including the date and location where
the picture was taken are relevant. Churcher is the only person who may be able to provide the
information to track down the picture, or may have it herself.

The interview notes, recordings, memos and other documentation in Churcher’s
possession regarding Plaintiff are highly probative, material and directly relevant to Plaintiff’s
fabrication and expansion of claims. For instance, if Plaintiff specifically told Churcher that she
only met, but did not have sexual relations with, Prince Andrew in early 2001, the statement in
the Joinder Motion is a lie. Given that Churcher reported that there is “no indication of sexual
interaction with Prince Andrew,” in 2011 only Churcher can provide testimony or notes

reflecting the basis for that published statement.
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B. Churcher’s documents and testimony are critical to Ms. Maxwell’s truth
defense and Plaintiff’s claims

As stated in the Motion to Quash, the “highly relevant” and “critical or necessary to the
litigant's claim or defense” prongs of the test for overcoming a qualified privilege largely
overlap. In this single count defamation action, this is particularly true. As can be seen by the
clear and specific showing above, all of the information sought from Churcher is critical to the
defense of substantial truth.

It is well settled that truth is an absolute defense to a claim of defamation. “Under New
York law, it is well-settled that truth is an absolute, unqualified defense to a civil defamation
action. It is an equally fundamental concept that substantial truth suffices to defeat a charge of
libel.” Jewell v. NYP Holdings, Inc., 23 F. Supp. 2d 348, 366 (S.D.N.Y. 1998) (internal
quotations and citations omitted). In examining the role of Churcher’s testimony and documents
to this defense, it is important to look at the actual text of that press statement::

Each time the story is re told it changes with new salacious details about public

figures and world leaders and now it is alleged by Ms. Roberts that Alan

Dershowitz is involved in having sexual relations with her, which he denies.

Ms. Roberts claims are obvious lies and should be treated as such and not
publicized as news, as they are defamatory.

Ex.D

As demonstrated above, Ms. Churcher’s documents and testimony are critical to
establishing the fact that each time Plaintiff has told her story it changes and new salacious
details are added.

Likewise, Churcher admits that her testimony is relevant to Plaintiff’s credibility. While
a journalist testimony relating to impeachment or credibility of a party may not normally be
critical, it is here. Plaintiff’s credibility, or lack thereof, is the central issue in the case. This is

not merely impeachment evidence, it is the crux of the case. If Plaintiff is a “liar” defense of

15



Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-1 Filed 01/04/24 Page 18 of 21

truth is established. Likewise, it establishes that there can be no damages caused by the alleged
defamatory statement. Again, Churcher’s documents and testimony are central to this issue.

C. Churcher’s information cannot be obtained from an alternative source.

Churcher claims that there are other sources for the information sought, citing almost
exclusively the Plaintiff as the potential source of information. This argument is flawed for two
reasons. First, Plaintiff claims that she does not have much of the information sought, or simply
can’t remember. In her deposition, she said she cannot remember where the photograph is,
where the contract is, what she told Churcher, and she refused upon advice of counsel, to state
what stories Churcher “got wrong.” See Motion to Re-Open Deposition of Plaintiff. Second, as
the direct adversary in this case, Plaintiff is not a reliable source for information, and thus cannot
be deemed an alternative source. Matter of Sullivan, 167 Misc. 2d 534, 541, 635 N.Y.S.2d 437,
442 (Sup. Ct. 1995) (compelling journalist notes, records, and videotapes of interrogation where
claimed alternative source of information — detectives conducting the interrogation — were
adversaries and thus could not be deemed the reliable source for information)

For most information, Churcher is the only source of the information sought. She is the
only person who can provide the following information and documents:

o The 24 page fabricated diary, and testimony on when and why it was created’
e Notes, transcriptions, tape recordings, and memorandum from her interviews with
Plaintiff, including her week long interviews in Australia;®

e Churcher’s communications with law enforcement or the FBI concerning
Plaintiff;’

5 Plaintiff contends that she gave the original to Churcher, and did not maintain a copy. Ex B, p. 229.

6 Plaintiff has produced some email communications with Churcher, although in light of Plaintiff’s statements
concerning the regular deletion of emails, there are likely email communications that were not captured by Plaintiff
in Ms. Churcher’s possession or control. Nevertheless, to minimize the burden, Ms. Maxwell will voluntarily limit
documents containing communication with Plaintiff by eliminating email communications between Plaintiff and
Churcher using Plaintiff’s | S 2ddress. Because Plaintiff did not produce documents from her
hotmail account and only recently produced documents from her iCloud account, Ms. Maxwell requests that
Churcher search for documents to or from Plaintiff at these two email address.

7 Ms. Maxwell has filed a FOIA request and had not received a response.
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e Plaintiff’s contract with the Mail on Sunday, which Plaintiff claims she no longer
has;8

e The original Prince Andrew picture, or information on its chain of custody;

e Communications with Brad Edwards and other attorneys for Plaintiff’

From a testimonial standpoint, only Churcher can testify about the deviations in the
stories she has heard from Plaintiff because only Churcher was there. Plaintiff herself claims she
cannot remember what she told Churcher at various points in time, and herself asked Churcher
for the notes from her interview so Plaintiff could remember what she said. Menninger Decl.,
Ex. A, p. 26. Plaintiff further refused to testify about what information Churcher printed that
was untrue or varied from what Plaintiff told Churcher. Menninger Decl., Ex. B, p. 215-226.
Thus, the only person who can testify or provide documentary evidence about Plaintiff’s stories
to Churcher is Churcher.

In light of the critical nature of the documents and testimony in establishing the truth
defense and the fact that the information simply is not available from other sources, Churcher is
not entitled to claim qualified privilege over her news-gathering materials or non-published non-
confidential information.

IV. MS. MAXWELL’S COUNSEL AGREED TO EXTEND THE RETURN DATE
FOR COMPLIANCE WITH THE SUBPOENA

Churcher’s final argument for a Protective Order — that there was not a reasonable time to
respond — is defeated by the admission in her own pleading. It is true that the original response
date was twelve days after service — two days less than is considered presumptively
“reasonable.” Ms. Maxwell’s counsel readily agreed that if Churcher intended to respond and

comply with the subpoena rather than moving to quash, that the response date would be extended

8 Ex.247-248

9 This information had been requested in discovery to Plaintiff, but no documents have been produced. Ms.
Maxwell has also subpoenaed the information from Plaintiff’s attorneys, each of whom has moved to quash. There
can be no question that Ms. Maxwell has exhausted every possible source for obtaining this information.
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and the deposition would be scheduled at a mutually agreeable time. As such, there is no basis
for quashing the subpoena based on the “unreasonable time” argument, as Churcher was on
notice that she would be given the time needed to obtain the documents requested. In light of the
discovery cut-off in this case, however, if a motion to quash was forthcoming, the matter needed
to be resolved to permit completion of discovery.

WHEREFORE, for the forgoing reasons, Ms. Maxwell requests that the Court deny the
Motion to Quash, and compel deposition and the Production of Documents by Sharron Churcher
pursuant to the subpoena, as modified by footnote 6 herein.

Dated: June 22, 2016

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Laura A. Menninger

Laura A. Menninger (LM-1374)
Jeffrey S. Pagliuca (pro hac vice)
HADDON, MORGAN AND FOREMAN, P.C.
150 East 10™ Avenue

Denver, CO 80203

Phone: 303.831.7364

Fax: 303.832.2628
Imenninger@hmflaw.com

Attorneys for Ghislaine Maxwell
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that on June 22, 2016, I electronically served this RESPONSE TO NON-PARTY
SHARON CHURCHER MOTION TO QUASH SUBPOENA via ECF on the following:

Sigrid S. McCawley

Meredith Schultz

BOIES, SCHILLER & FLEXNER, LLP

401 East Las Olas Boulevard, Ste. 1200
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
smccawley@bsfllp.com
mschultz@bsfllp.com

Bradley J. Edwards

FARMER, JAFFE, WEISSING, EDWARDS,
FISTOS & LEHRMAN, P.L.

425 North Andrews Ave., Ste. 2

Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
brad@pathtojustice.com

Paul G. Cassell

383 S. University Street
Salt Lake City, UT 84112
cassellp@law.utah.edu

J. Stanley Pottinger
49 Twin Lakes Rd.
South Salem, NY 10590
StanPottinger@aol.com

/s/ Nicole Simmons

Nicole Simmons
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We'll get your money going asap. You earned it babe!!! The book next...

Page 2 of 69
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| am sending you this email on a strictly background, not for attribution
basis. }

Virginia would prefer me to be preseht whenvybu initiate communication with
her. We both realize that any such communication must be in confidence. |
will be there for support, not as a journalist.

Page 3 of 69



Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-2 Filed 01/04/24 Page 5 of 70

Page 4 of 69



Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-2 Filed 01/04/24 Page 6 of 70

Here is contact info for NY literary agency u might like
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‘oday, I'm just really happy | got to work with you on this! Many more great times tc
come.:

Page 6 of 69
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now! We had a wonderful time with you and know this is only a new beginning of a

wonderful friendship. Ne
ime! | would like you to give Brad

Edwards my phone number or email so that | may speak with him regarding the victims suit and start that off.

Seriously, | am so blessed to have you as friends. it is a wrench leaving

you -- despite everything Jenna has been through, there is a sphere of

peace around you and your family and going back into the brash worlid of New
York isn't going to be easy.

Page 7 of 69
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I just got off the phone with Jason and he confirmed that he does infact have your flight logs and journal. | told him you must remain a

confidential source and the way he explained it was that all of the info you pass through me will not be used in court, only as a lead fo
, 3 s a direct source. He would like your help with the contact information for the following people:

Teala Davis, miles and Kathy, Emmy tayler, and Sarah kellan. If there is anyone else you can think of that may be viable, please let v

know and | will be happy to pass it on.

Take care buddy,

Jenna

Can you ask Jason to regard me as a confidential source. He may be afraid
of media...| can't be seen to be helping him either.

odriguez. Maybe Jason means that he wants to know how they
corroborate the flight to London when you were ‘given’ to Andrew. Here's
how: you had photos from that trip -- taken in Granada and London -- and
you recalled going to Paris as well and Morocco. | found that itinerary in
the logs (you landed at Luton airport near London) . Also Johanna had
recalled being groped by Andrew one Easter at the NY mansion and that
Ghislaine sat both of you on his knee. You had an identical memory and
there was a flight to NY just before Easter in 01 that | found in the logs.

Page 8 of 69
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I

Hi Irene,
Sorry about the confusion, maybe I misunderstood. So you are a lit agent? I am going to be selling my book soon after Ju
maybe we will be in touch then. T hope you are well and thank you for your time.

Hello lrene, .

You came highly recommended from my good pal Sharon Churcher, a journalist who works for Sunday Mai
She mentioned to me that you publish books back in N.Y and thought it would be a great idea to con.tact you
talk about "The Billionaires Playboy Club" a book that | am currently writing, including names of_ the rich, famf
and always in trouble. If you are interested in speaking further about this | would love to chat with you someti
| am still under a contract until May 20th, so It could only be off the record for now.

Page 9 of 69
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y? | am using your gift the thesaurus, thanks again buddy its really come in handy! | am doing soml? writting
and its real gbod stuff, putting alot of heartfelt memoirs down for the first time. l.-lopeAfully meeting Sandra today_and | ce(xjn~ r<rarae dy z?s?( =
started! | sent an email to Irene and jarred to let them know | will be interested in using them after my contract is up and ja

me to call him but gave me no number.

Page 10 of 69
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1 had a meeting with Sandra and it went really well, thanks for the connection!! The book is going really well, everytime
rewrite it, my memories only reflect more and more!!!

T will try and contact Jarred on the number you gave me, thanks for that, and let him know.v that T am interested in speak:
with him but hc's gonna have to wait... with the rest of them...he he... uutil my contract finishes.

Page 12 of 69
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You came highly recommended from my good pal Sharon Churcher, a journalist who works for Sunday Mail. She
mentioned to me that you produce miniseries back in N.Y and thought it would be a great idea to contact you to talk abou
"The Billionaires Playboy Club" a book that I am currently writing, including names of the rich, famous and always in
trouble. If you are interested in speaking further about this I would love to chat with you sometime. I am still under a
contract until May 20th, so It could only be off the record for now.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 08-80736-Civ-Marra/Johnson
JANE DOE #1 and JANE DOE #2
V.

UNITED STATES

JANE DOE #3 AND JANE DOE #4’S MOTION PURSUANT TO RULE 21 FOR
JOINDER IN ACTION

COME NOW Jane Doe #3 and Jane Doe #4 (also referred to as “the new victims”), by and
through undersigned counsel, to file this motion pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 21
to join this action, on the condition that they not re-litigate any issues already litigated by Jane
Doe #1 and Jane Doe #2 (also referred to as “the current victims”). The new victims have
suffered the same violations of their rights under the Crime Victims’ Rights Act (CVRA) as the
current victims. Accordingly, they desire to join in this action to vindicate their rights as well.
Because the new victims will not re-litigate any issues previously litigated by the current victims
(and because they are represented by the same legal counsel as the current victims), the
Government will not be prejudiced if the Court grants the motion. The Court may “at any time”
add new parties to the action, Fed. R. Civ. P. 21. Accordingly, the Court should grant the

motion. '

' As minor victims of sexual offenses, Jane Doe #3 and Jane Doe #4 desire to proceed by
way of pseudonym for the same reasons that Jane Doe #1 and Jane Doe #2 proceeded in this
1
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND

As the Court is aware, more than six years ago, Jane Doe #1 filed the present action
against the Government, alleging a violation of her rights under the CVRA, 18 U.S.C. § 3771.
DEI1. She alleged that Jeffrey Epstein had sexually abused her and that the United States had
entered into a secret non-prosecution agreement (NPA) regarding those crimes in violation of her
rights. At the first court hearing on the case, the Court allowed Jane Doe #2 to also join the
action. Both Jane Doe #1 and Jane Doe #2 specifically argued that the government had failed to
protect their CVRA rights (inter alia) to confer, to reasonable notice, and to be treated with
fairness. In response, the Government argued that the CVRA rights did not apply to Jane Doe #1
and Jane Doe #2 because no federal charges had ever been filed against Jeffrey Epstein.

The Court has firmly rejected the United States’ position. In a detailed ruling, the Court
concluded that the CVRA extended rights to Jane Doe #1 and Jane Doe #2 even though federal
charges were never filed. DE 189. The Court explained that because the NPA barred
prosecution of crimes committed against them by Epstein, they had “standing” to assert
violations of the CVRA rights. Id. The Court deferred ruling on whether the two victims would
be entitled to relief, pending development of a fuller evidentiary record. /d.

Two other victims, who are in many respects similarly situated to the current victims,
now wish to join this action. The new victims joining at this stage will not cause any delay and
their joinder in this case is the most expeditious manner in which to pursue their rights. Because
the background regarding their abuse is relevant to the Court’s assessment of whether to allow

them to join, their circumstances are recounted here briefly.

fashion. Counsel for the new victims have made their true identities known to the Government.
2
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Jane Doe #3’s Circumstances

As with Jane Doe #1 and Jane Doe #2, Jane Doe #3 was repeatedly sexually abused by
Epstein. The Government then concealed from Jane Doe #3 the existence of its NPA from Jane
Doe #3, in violation of her rights under the CVRA. If allowed to join this action, Jane Doe #3
would prove the following:

In 1999, Jane Doe #3 was approached by Ghislaine Maxwell, one of the main women
whom Epstein used to procure under-aged girls for sexual activities and a primary co-conspirator
in his sexual abuse and sex trafficking scheme. In fact, it became known to the government that
Maxwell herself regularly participated in Epstein’s sexual exploitation of minors, including Jane
Doe #3. Maxwell persuaded Jane Doe #3 (who was then fifteen years old) to come to Epstein’s
mansion in a fashion very similar to the manner in which Epstein and his other co-conspirators
coerced dozens of other children (including Jane Doe #1 and Jane Doe #2). When Jane Doe #3
began giving Epstein a “massage,” Epstein and Maxwell turned it into a sexual encounter, as
they had done with many other victims. Epstein then became enamored with Jane Doe #3, and
with the assistance of Maxwell converted her into what is commonly referred to as a “sex slave.”
Epstein kept Jane Doe #3 as his sex slave from about 1999 through 2002, when she managed to
escape to a foreign country and hide out from Epstein and his co-conspirators for years. From
1999 through 2002, Epstein frequently sexually abused Jane Doe #3, not only in West Palm
Beach, but also in New York, New Mexico, the U.S. Virgin Islands, in international airspace on
his Epstein’s private planes, and elsewhere.

Epstein also sexually trafficked the then-minor Jane Doe, making her available for sex to

politically-connected and financially-powerful people. Epstein’s purposes in “lending” Jane Doe

3
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(along with other young girls) to such powerful people were to ingratiate himself with them for
business, personal, political, and financial gain, as well as to obtain potential blackmail
information.

One such powerful individual that Epstein forced then-minor Jane Doe #3 to have sexual
relations with was former Harvard Law Professor Alan Dershowitz, a close friend of Epstein’s
and well-known criminal defense attorney. Epstein required Jane Doe #3 to have sexual
relations with Dershowitz on numerous occasions while she was a minor, not only in Florida but
also on private planes, in New York, New Mexico, and the U.S. Virgin Islands. In addition to
being a participant in the abuse of Jane Doe #3 and other minors, Deshowitz was an eye-witness
to the sexual abuse of many other minors by Epstein and several of Epstein’s co-conspirators.
Dershowitz would later play a significant role in negotiating the NPA on Epstein’s behalf.
Indeed, Dershowitz helped negotiate an agreement that provided immunity from federal
prosecution in the Southern District of Florida not only to Epstein, but also to “any potential co-
conspirators of Epstein.” NPA at 5. Thus, Dershowitz helped negotiate an agreement with a
provision that provided protection for himself against criminal prosecution in Florida for
sexually abusing Jane Doe #3. Because this broad immunity would have been controversial if
disclosed, Dershowitz (along with other members of Epstein’s defense team) and the
Government tried to keep the immunity provision secret from all of Epstein’s victims and the
general public, even though such secrecy violated the Crime Victims’ Rights Act.

Ghislaine Maxwell was another person in Epstein’s inner circle and a co-conspirator in
Epstein’s sexual abuse. She was someone who consequently also appreciated the immunity
granted by the NPA for the crimes she committed in Florida. In addition to participating in the
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sexual abuse of Jane Doe #3 and others, Maxwell also took numerous sexually explicit pictures
of underage girls involved in sexual activities, including Jane Doe #3. She shared these
photographs (which constituted child pornography under applicable federal laws) with Epstein.
The Government is apparently aware of, and in certain instances possesses some of these
photographs.

Perhaps even more important to her role in Epstein’s sexual abuse ring, Maxwell had
direct connections to other powerful individuals with whom she could connect Epstein. For
instance, one such powerful individual Epstein forced Jane Doe #3 to have sexual relations with
was a member of the British Royal Family, Prince Andrew (a/k/a Duke of York). Jane Doe #3
was forced to have sexual relations with this Prince when she was a minor in three separate
geographical locations: in London (at Ghislaine Maxwell’s apartment), in New York, and on
Epstein’s private island in the U.S. Virgin Islands (in an orgy with numerous other under-aged
girls). Epstein instructed Jane Doe #3 that she was to give the Prince whatever he demanded and
required Jane Doe #3 to report back to him on the details of the sexual abuse. Maxwell
facilitated Prince Andrew’s acts of sexual abuse by acting as a “madame” for Epstein, thereby
assisting in internationally trafficking Jane Doe #3 (and numerous other young girls) for sexual
purposes.

Another person in Epstein’s inner circle of friends (who becomes apparent with almost
no investigative effort) is Jean Luc Brunel. Epstein sexually trafficked Jane Doe #3 to Jean Luc
Brunel many times. Brunel was another of Epstein’s closest friends and a regular traveling
companion, who had many contacts with young girls throughout the world. Brunel has been a

model scout for various modeling agencies for many years and apparently was able to get U.S.
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passports for young girls to “work™ as models. He would bring young girls (ranging to ages as
young as twelve) to the United States for sexual purposes and farm them out to his friends,
especially Epstein. Brunel would offer the girls “modeling” jobs. Many of the girls came from
poor countries or impoverished backgrounds, and he lured them in with a promise of making
good money. Epstein forced Jane Doe #3 to observe him, Brunel and Maxwell engage in illegal
sexual acts with dozens of underage girls. Epstein also forced Jane Doe #3 to have sex with
Brunel on numerous occasions, at places including Epstein’s mansion in West Palm Beach, Little
St. James Island in the U.S. Virgin Islands (many including orgies that were comprised of other
underage girls), New York City, New Mexico, Paris, the south of France, and California.

Epstein also trafficked Jane Doe #3 for sexual purposes to many other powerful men,
including numerous prominent American politicians, powerful business executives, foreign
presidents, a well-known Prime Minister, and other world leaders. Epstein required Jane Doe #3
to describe the events that she had with these men so that he could potentially blackmail them.

The Government was well aware of Jane Doe #3 when it was negotiating the NPA, as it
listed her as a victim in the attachment to the NPA. Moreover, even a rudimentary investigation
of Jane Doe #3’s relationship to Epstein would have revealed the fact that she had been
trafficked throughout the United States and internationally for sexual purposes. Nonetheless, the
Government secretly negotiated a non-prosecution agreement with Epstein precluding any
Federal prosecution in the Southern District of Florida of Epstein and his co-conspirators. As
with Jane Doe #1, and Jane Doe #2, the Government concealed the non-prosecution agreement
from Jane Doe #3 — all in violation of her rights under the CVRA — to avoid Jane Doe #3 from

raising powerful objections to the NPA that would have shed tremendous public light on Epstein
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and other powerful individuals and that would likely have been prevented it from being
concluded in the secretive manner in which it was.

Jane Doe #4’s Circumstances

If permitted to join this action, Jane Doe #4 would allege, and could prove at trial, that
she has CVRA claims similar to those advanced by Jane Doe #1 and Jane Doe #2, based on the
following:

As with the other Jane Does, Jane Doe #4 was repeatedly sexually abused by Epstein. In
or around the summer of 2002, Jane Doe #4, an economically poor and vulnerable sixteen-year-
old child, was told by another one of Epstein’s underage minor sex abuse victims, that she could
make $300 cash by giving an old man a massage on Palm Beach. An acquaintance of Jane Doe
#4 (also a minor sexual abuse victim of Epstein) telephoned Epstein and scheduled Jane Doe #4
to go to Epstein’s house to give him a massage. During that call, Epstein himself got on the
phone (a means of interstate communication) with Jane Doe #4, asking her personally to come to
his mansion in Palm Beach.

Jane Doe #4 then went to Epstein’s mansion and was escorted upstairs to Epstein’s large
bathroom by one of Epstein’s assistants. Shortly thereafter Jeffrey Epstein emerged and lay face
down on the table and told Jane Doe #4 to start massaging him. Epstein asked Jane Doe #3 her
age and she told him she had recently turned sixteen. Epstein subsequently committed illegal
sexual acts against Jane Doe #4 on many occasions.

Epstein used a means of interstate communication (i.e., a cell phone) to arrange for these
sexual encounters. Epstein also frequently travelled in interstate commerce (i.e., on his personal
jet) for purposes of illegally sexually abusing Jane Doe #4.

7
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January. In the meantime, however, counsel for the victims believe that it is no longer
appropriate to delay filing this motion and accordingly file it at this time. Because the
Government is apparently opposing this motion, Jane Doe #3 and Jane Doe #4 have described
the circumstances surrounding their claims so that the Court has appropriate information to rule
on the motion.

CONCLUSION

Jane Doe #3 and Jane Doe #4 should be allowed to join this action, pursuant to Rule 21
of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Their joinder should be conditioned on the requirement
that they not re-litigate any issues previously litigated by Jane Doe #1 and Jane Doe #2. A
proposed order to that effect is attached to this pleading.

DATED: December 30, 2014

Respectfully Submitted,

/s/ Bradley J. Edwards

Bradley J. Edwards

FARMER, JAFFE, WEISSING,
EDWARDS, FISTOS & LEHRMAN, P.L.
425 North Andrews Avenue, Suite 2

Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301

Telephone (954) 524-2820

Facsimile (954) 524-2822

E-mail: brad@pathtojustice.com

And

Paul G. Cassell

Pro Hac Vice

S.J. Quinney College of Law at the
University of Utah

332 S. 1400 E.

Salt Lake City, UT 84112

Telephone: 801-585-5202
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Facsimile: 801-585-6833
E-Mail: cassellp@law.utah.edu

Attorneys for Jane Doe #1 and Jane Doe #2

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I certify that the foregoing document was served on December 30, 2014, on the following
using the Court’s CM/ECF system:

Dexter Lee

A. Marie Villafafia

500 S. Australian Ave., Suite 400

West Palm Beach, FL 33401

(561) 820-8711

Fax: (561) 820-8777

E-mail: Dexter.Lee@usdoj.gov

E-mail: ann.marie.c.villafana@usdoj.gov

Attorneys for the Government

/s/ Bradley J. Edwards
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Sigrid McCawley

From: Sigrid McCawley

Sent: Tuesday, May 17, 2016 3:53 PM

To: Laura Menninger; Meredith Schultz; Jeff Pagliuca

Cc: ‘brad@pathtojustice.com' (brad@pathtojustice.com); Paul Cassell
(cassellp@law.utah.edu)

Subject: RE: Notice of Subpoena

Attachments: May-June 2016 Deposition Calendar.pdf

Hello Laura — We are working on the calendar and | have it almost complete but | was awaiting confirmation on a date
from Mr. Rizzo’s counsel so | didn’t want to send it out prematurely and that was delaying me.

We were serving subpoenas on dates that we thought are grouped within the locations/date ranges we discussed during
the meet and confer and since we have been having an extraordinarily difficult time serving witnesses who appear to be
attempting to evade service we need to keep that process moving.

We do intend to work with you on dates as we discussed. Attached is the proposed calendar with the caveat that dates
may shift if witnesses make change requests but we are doing our best to group locations together where possible.

Again — this is not final as | noted | believe you had some dates you were gone but were checking with Jeff to determine
his availability.

Finally, we are writing to confer whether you will stipulate that we may exceed the 10 deposition limit to complete
discovery in this case or whether we need to file a motion with the Court on that issue.

Thank you,
Sigrid

Sigrid S. McCawley

Partner

BOIES, SCHILLER & FLEXNER LLP
401 East Las Olas Blvd., Suite 1200

Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301

Phone: 954-356-0011 ext. 4223

Fax: 954-356-0022
http://www.bsfllp.com

From: Laura Menninger [mailto:Imenninger@hmflaw.com]

Sent: Tuesday, May 17, 2016 3:19 PM

To: Meredith Schultz; Jeff Pagliuca

Cc: Sigrid McCawley; 'brad@pathtojustice.com' (brad@pathtojustice.com); Paul Cassell (cassellp@law.utah.edu)
Subject: Re: Notice of Subpoena

Sigrid and Brad -

We had a conferral last week in which you promised to provide for conferral purposes a proposed schedule for depositions we
both had requested in various locations. Rather than provide any such schedule, you have instead sent us notices for
approximately 7 depositions in NY and Florida, one for an individual who you did not mention deposing and who does not
appear among the extensive list of witnesses in your Rule 26 disclosures.

1
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If you do not intend to abide by the representations you made in our conferral, then please advise and we will once again be

forced to seek intervention of the Court. See Local Rule 26.4.

-Laura

From: Meredith Schultz <mschultz@BSFLLP.com>
Date: Tuesday, May 17, 2016 at 1:08 PM

To: Laura Menninger <Imenninger@hmflaw.com>, Jeff Pagliuca <jpagliuca@hmflaw.com>
Cc: Sigrid McCawley <smccawley @bsfllp.com>, Brad Edwards <brad@pathtojustice.com>, Paul Cassell

<cassellp@law.utah.edu>
Subject: Notice of Subpoena

Laura,

Please see the attached documents.
Thanks,

Meredith

Meredith L. Schultz

BOIES, SCHILLER & FLEXNER LLP
401 East Las Olas Blvd., Suite 1200
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301

Phone: 954-356-0011 ext. 4204

Fax: 954-356-0022
http://swww.bsfllp.com
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Virginia Giuffre v. Ghislaine Maxwell
Case no. 15-cv-07433-RWS

MAY 2016
Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday
1 2 3 4 5 6 7
8 9 10 11 12 13 14
15 16 17 18 19 20 21
Deposition of Deposition of Sky
Johanna Sjoberg Roberts
Ft. Lauderdale, FL. Oxford, FL.
(confirmed) (confirmed)
22 23 24 25 26 27 28
Deposition of Deposition of Dr.
Lynn Miller Steven Olson
Denver, CO Denver, CO
(confirmed (confirmed)
although location
may change per
Menninger)
29 30 31
Deposition of
Juan Alessi
Ft. Lauderdale, FL
(subpoena served)
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Virginia Giuffre v. Ghislaine Maxwell

Case no. 15-cv-07433-RWS

June 2016
Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday
1 2 3 4
Deposition of Deposition of James | Deposition of David Deposition of
Maria Alessi Michael Austrich Rodgers
Ft. Lauderdale, FL Ocala, FL Ft. Lauderdale, FL. Ft. Lauderdale,
(subpoena served) | (subpoena served but | (subpoena served) FL
and/or Maxwell’s counsel (served)
Jean Luc Brunel needs to confirm
date change with
witness)
5 6 7 8 9 10 11
Deposition of Jean Deposition of Deposition of
Luc Brunel _ Deposition of JoJo Rinaldo Rizzo
New York, NY New York/New Fontanella Armonk, NY
(possible date) Jersey New York, NY (confirmed)
12 13 14 15 16 17 18
Deposition of Deposition of Deposition of Nadia
Jeffrey Epstein Jared Weisfeld/ Marcinkova
New York, NY Sharon Churcher Armonk, NY
(or find additional
date if they will be
too long)
19 20 21 22 23 24 25
Deposition of Deposition of Deposition of
Detective Joe Sarah Kellen
Recarey Ft. Lauderdale, FL New York, NY

Ft. Lauderdale, FL




Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-4 Filed 01/04/24

Virginia Giuffre v. Ghislaine Maxwell
Case no. 15-cv-07433-RWS

Page 6 of 6

28
Deposition of
Emmy Taylor
California or
London
(possible date not
served with
subpoena yet)

29
(Other California
witnesses if
needed)

30
Deposition of Ross
Gow
(possible date)

***Week of June 20 — 24 may be bad for Maxwell’s counsel (please confirm)
****Week of June 27 — July 1st may be bad for Maxwell’s counsel (please confirm)
*k**+Need to confirm Maxwell will accept service for her agent Ross Gow.
There may be a few other witnesses that we may need to add if they can’t confirm attendance at trial.
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Sandra Perkins

s I

From: Meredith Schultz

Sent: Thursday, June 16, 2016 4:56 PM

To: Laura Menninger (Imenninger@hmflaw.com)

Cc: Sigrid McCawley; Paul Cassell (cassellp@law.utah.edu); 'brad@ pathtojustice.com’
(brad@pathtojustice.com)

Subject: Proof of Service - Second Email

Attachments: Proof of Services

Laura,

| am writing to follow up on my June 13, 2016, letter and my June 14, 2016 email (attached), where | requested that you
provide me with your proofs of service for the subpoenas you issued in this case. | requested that you provide them to
me yesterday, but you have not done so. You made the same request of us and we provided our proofs of service to
you earlier this week.

We are in the process of making travel arrangements for the depositions you noticed next week and scheduling around
other matters and want to confirm that those witnesses have all been served with subpoenas and are attending the
depositions set forth below:

Rebecca Boylan — Wednesday, June 22" 9:00 a.m. — Fort Lauderdale 401 E. Las Olas at Gray Robinson’s office — suite

1000.
Michael Austrich — Thursday June 23" 9:00 a.m. - Ocala Florida — Owens & Associates — 108 N. Magnolia Ave

Tony Figueroa — Friday June 24™ — 9:00 a.m. - 1 Florida Park Drive, U.S. , Suite 214, Palm Coast Florida
Accordingly, kindly provide me — today — your proofs of service for all of the subpoenas you have issued in this case.

Thank you,

Meredith

Meredith L. Schultz

BOIES, SCHILLER & FLEXNER LLP
401 East Las Olas Blvd.. Suite 1200
Fort Lauderdale, FL. 33301

Phone: 954-356-0011 ext. 4204

Fax: 954-356-0022
http://www.bsfllp.com
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Sandra Perkins

P ———— S e ——
From: Meredith Schultz
Sent: Tuesday, June 14, 2016 3:15 PM
To: Laura Menninger (Imenninger@hmflaw.com)
Cc: Sigrid McCawley; Sandra Perkins; Deborah Knowlton
Subject: Proof of Services
Attachments; PROQF OF SERVICES.PDF

Laura,

I’'m following up on my June 14, 2016, letter, wherein, | agreed, as a courtesy, to provide you with proofs of service. They
are attached. In the same letter, | requested that you do the same, and provide me with your proofs of service
associated with the subpoenas you have issued in this case. Having made the request of me and having received a
response, [ am sure you will agree to do so. Please send them to me by tomorrow.

Thanks,
Meredith

Meredith L. Schultz

BOIES, SCHILLER & FLEXNER LLP
401 East Las Olas Blvd.. Suite 1200
Fort Lauderdale, FL. 33301

Phone: 954-356-0011 ext. 4204

Fax: 954-356-0022
hitp://www.bsfllp.com
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B Ol E'S,; SECLHID U BRGNS R L E X INE R, LIL P

401 EAST LAS GLAS BOULEVYARD - SUITE 1200 FORT LAUDERDALE, FL 33301-2211+ PH, 254 356,00 | * FAX 954,356 OG22
Meredith L. Schultz, Esq.
Email: mschultz@bsfllp.com
June 13, 2016
Via CM/ECF

Laura A. Menninger, Esq.

Haddon, Morgan and Foreman, P.C,
150 East 10" Ave.

Denver, CO 80203

Re:  Giuffre v. Maxwell
Case no. 15-cv-07433-RWS — Regarding Certificates of Service

Dear Laura,

I have lawfully served the witnesses in this case, and have undertaken great effort to
serve Ms. Marcinkova and Ms. Kellen. An affidavit from the process server engaged in that
effort documenting such efforts was served upon you and filed with this Court. I'm familiar with
Rule 45, and there is no requirement that certificates of service be served upon opposing counsel.
Notice is all that is required under the Rules. You, yourself, have not served such certificates of
service in this case. I completely reject your arbitrary statement that “[f]ailure to provide them . .
. will be understood as an acknowledgement that you have not, in fact, undertaken the good faith
efforts.” We have said we did. I acknowledge no such thing, and such a statement is nonsense.

In recognition of your request, I am in the process of gathering the certificates of service.
I will serve them on you, merely as a courtesy, as [ collect them. Please likewise provide all
certificates of services for the witnesses you have noticed.

While we are on the topic of absences of responses, you did not responds to my June 8,
2016, letter requesting a meet and confer call. Therefore, [ write again to schedule a meet-and-
confer call regarding your grossly deficient production and improper objections in response to
Plaintiff’s Second Request for Production. [ am available for a meet and confer call on this
matter any time tomorrow and Wednesday, June 15, 2016, from 10:00 AM EST to 4:00 PM
EST. Please advise, by tomorrow, what time such a call works for your schedule.

Thanks,
Meredith Schultz

WWW, BSFLLP. COM

WWW.BSFLLF.COM



Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-7 Filed 01/04/24 Page 1 of 30

United States District Court
Southern District of New York

Virginia L. Giuffre,

Plaintiff, Case No.: 15-cv-07433-RWS
V.
Ghislaine Maxwell,

Defendant.

PLAINTIFE’S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR
DEFENDANT’S RULE 37(b) &(¢) SANCTIONS FOR FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH
COURT ORDER AND FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH RULE 26(a)
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INTRODUCTION

As more and more witnesses come forward testifying about Defendant’s involvement in
the sexual abuse of young girls, Defendant’s discovery arguments have become more removed
from the merits of this case and increasingly strident in their tone. The latest example of this
genre is the instant motion in which the Defendant boldly proclaims that Ms. Giuffre is “playing
a game of catch and release” by deliberately “withholding information” regarding her medical
care. Yet the basis for these strong charges turns out to be nothing more than the fact that, when
asked to produce a listing of medical care providers that Ms. Giuffre has seen in the last
seventeen years — during a period of time when she lived in Australia, then Florida, then
Colorado, finally returning to Australia — she was unable to recall all of the providers. Ms.
Giuffre and her attorneys have worked diligently to provide this listing to Defendant and, as new
information has become available, or as Ms. Giuffre has been able to recall another provider, the
information has been disclosed. Indeed, Ms. Giuffre signed every medical records release that
Defendant requested. There has been no deliberate “withholding” of information, much less
withholding of information that would warrant the extreme sanction of precluding Ms. Giuffre
from presenting her claims to a jury.

Moreover, this baseless motion for sanctions comes on the heels of disturbing testimony
corroborating what lies at the core of this case —Defendant was involved in facilitating the sexual
abuse of young girls with Jeffrey Epstein. One witness, Rinaldo Rizzo, was in tears as he
recounted Defendant bringing a 15-year-old girl to his employer’s home who, in utmost distress,

told him that Defendant stole the young girl’s passport and tried to make her have sex with



Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-7 Filed 01/04/24 Page 6 of 30

Epscin, and then thrcatencd her. A

_.Another witness, Joanna Sjoberg, testified that Defendant recruited her

from her school campus to have sex with Epstein with lies about being her personal assistant.”
Two other witnesses, one an underage victim _) and the other, the police detective
who ultimately ended up investigating Epstein (Detective Joseph Recarey, Retired), gave
testimony about how Epstein used other women to recruit minors to have sex with him.* Most
recently, a witness testified that Defendant would call him and ask him to bring over young girls
that she would provide to Epstein. See McCawley Decl. at Exhibit 9, ROUGH Deposition
Transcript of Tony Figueroa at 162:8-19. It is against this backdrop that Defendant has filed a
motion seeking sanctions. The motion is a transparent effort to deflect attention from the merits
of Ms. Giuffre’s claim by inventing “willful” discovery violations and should be rejected in its
entirety.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

L. MEDICAL PROVIDER IDENTITIES
As the Court is aware, Defendant has requested that Ms. Giuffre provide the names and
medical records of every medical provider she has ever had, for any type of treatment, since

1999. This would be no easy task for anyone, and Ms. Giuffre has had many medical providers

! See McCawley Decl. at Exhibit 1, Excerpts from the June 10, 2016 Deposition of Rinaldo
Rizzo.
Id.
3 See McCawley Decl. at Exhibit 2, Excerpts from the May 18, 2016 Deposition of Joanna
Sjoberg.
* See McCawley Decl. at Exhibits 3 and 4, Excerpts from the June 20, 2016 Deposition of

and Excerpts from the June 21, 2016 Deposition of Joseph Recarey.
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in multiple locations. So she and her legal counsel have worked diligently to track them down
through a search that has spanned nearly two decades and two continents.

Ms. Giuffre made her initial disclosures on this subject in an answer to an interrogatory
that she served on April 29, 2016. Ms. Giuffre listed 15 health care providers that she could
recall at the time. Four days later, on May 3, 2016, Defendant deposed Ms. Giuffre. During the
deposition, Ms. Giuffre’s memory was jogged and she was able to recall two additional
providers: Judith Lightfoot and Dr. Christopher Donahue.’

Defendant, however, seeks to magnify the innocent recollection of two additional
providers at Ms. Giuffre’ deposition by misleadingly claiming that “[i]t is only through
deposition testimony that Ms. Maxwell became aware of at least five - if not more - treating
health care physicians.” (Mtn. at 1). This claim, too, is inaccurate. Beyond Ms. Lightfoot and
Dr. Donahue, Defendant apparently adds to the list of “withheld” doctors by referring to treating
physicians who cared for Ms. Giuffre on a one-off basis in the Emergency Room. It is
unsurprising that a patient would have trouble remembering an emergency room physician’s
name. But the real point here is that, in any event, the information was disclosed through
documents produced, so there is absolutely no “failure to disclose” as Defendant wrongfully
alleges. See Centura Health Records (GIUFFRE005498-005569).

Defendant then states that, in her deposition, “Ms. Giuffre claims she was not treated by

any other physicians,” and then states that other records revealed “three additional health care

® Defendant’s argument that Ms. Giuffre was trying to “hide” these providers is illogical and
wholly contradicted by the fact that Ms. Giuffre disclosed these providers. Defendant never
explains how Ms. Giuffre can be “hiding” providers while testifying about them and producing
their records.
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professionals who treated Plaintiff, including Dr. Scott Robert Geiger, Dr. Joseph Heaney,® and

Donna Oliver P.A.” (Mtn. at 4, emphasis original). _

Defendant is trying to make it seem as if Ms. Giuffre deliberately hid the names of
treating physicians in the Emergency Room. As stated above, Ms. Giuffre produced these
records so she is clearly not hiding anything. Not learning, not knowing, or not remembering off
the top of one’s head the names of Emergency Room staff encountered during a medical

emergency is not only unsurprising and understandable, but is also not a discovery violation.

Here, Defendant attempts to make something out of nothing. This is particularly true as
Ms. Giuffre made these records available to Defendant. As evidenced by the details recounted
in Defendant’s brief, Ms. Giuffre produced these Emergency Room records to Defendant, and

therefore, she is wholly compliant in her discovery obligations.’

" Indeed, Ms. Giuffre did not merely sign releases for the release of these records, but Ms.
Giuffre’s counsel spent considerable time and effort in attempts to procure these records for
Defendant, as detailed in Ms. Giuffre’s counsel’s correspondence. See McCawley Decl. at
Composite Exhibit 5, May 2016 Emails from Meredith Schultz to Laura Menninger.

4
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Additionally, Defendant’s motion lists 15 providers® Ms. Giuffre gave to Defendants in
her interrogatories (Mtn. at 3), but then states that “Plaintiff failed therein to identify any
treatment providers prior to the alleged defamation, despite the Court’s order concerning 1999-
2015.” (Mtn. at 4). This statement, too, is wildly incorrect. Of the list of 15 providers, the
overwhelming majority of them are providers “prior to the alleged defamation.”® For example,
Ms. Giuffre produced records from N.Y. Presbyterian Hospital. (GIUFFRE003258-3290). Not
only do the dates on the records (e.g., July 9, 2001) demonstrate they are prior to the defamation,
but Defendant has independent knowledge that this provider pre-dates Defendant’s defamation.
Indeed, Defendant is the one who brought her to that hospital, while she was a minor.
Therefore, Defendant’s statement in her brief that “Plaintiff failed therein to identify any
treatment providers prior to the alleged defamation, despite the Court’s order concerning 1999-
2015” (Mtn. at 4) is inaccurate.

Defendant continues with another misleading statement: “As of today’s date . . . and 10
days before the end of fact discovery in this case, Ms. Maxwell has learned of at least five
additional doctors” (Mtn. at 5), and then, again, names Ms. Lightfoot, Dr. Geiger, Dr. Heaney,
Donna Oliver P.A., and Dr. Streeter. Defendant did not learn of these providers 10 days prior to

the close of discovery, but much earlier, as the previous page of Defendant’s brief recounts.

i (1) Dr. Steven Olson; (2) Dr. Chris Donahue; (3) Dr. John Harris; (4) Dr. Majaliyana; (5) Dr.
Wah Wah; (6) Dr. Sellathuri; (7) Royal Oaks Medical Center; (8) Dr. Carol Hayek; (9) NY
Presbyterian Hospital; (10) Campbelltown Hospital; (11) SydneyWest Hospital; (12) Westmead
Hospital; (13) Dr. Karen Kutikoff; (14) Wellington Imaging Associates; (15) Growing Together.

? Providers from that list that treated Ms. Giuffre prior to Defendant’s defamation include: (1)
Dr. John Harris; (2) Dr. Majaliyana; (3) Dr. Majaliyana; (4) Dr. Wah Wabh; (5) Dr. Sellathrui; (6)
Royal Oaks Medical Center; (7) Dr. Carol Hayek; (8) NY Presbyterian Hospital; (9) Sydney
West Hospital; (10) Westmead Hospital; (12) Wellington Imaging Associates; (13) Growing
Together.
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Defendant’s next statement is equally misleading “documents relating to these doctors
were not provided until after their identities became known through deposition or other
independent investigation by Ms. Maxwell.” (Mtn. at 5). Their identities became known to
Defendant because Ms. Giuffre disclosed the name of Ms. Lightfoot in her deposition, and
because Ms. Giuffre herself produced emergency room records to Defendant — documents
bearing the names of the other providers. Accordingly, these five additional names were
provided to Defendant by Ms. Giuffre herself, through (1) ker deposition testimony; and (2) her
document production.

Defendant is now asking this Court to enter extraordinary sanctions because those names
were not provided in response to an interrogatory, but, instead, were provided through Ms.
Giuffre’s testimony and Ms. Giuffre’s document production. This is an improper request. It is
unsurprising that Defendant cannot cite to a single case in which any type of sanctions were
awarded under even remotely similar circumstances. Indeed, the purpose of the various aspects
of discovery provided by Rule 26(a)(5), Fed. R. Civ. P., is to provide more fulsome information.
C.f. In re Dana Corp., 574 F.3d 129, 150 (2d Cir. 2009) (“the various discovery methods are
more complementary than fungible”). Here, Ms. Giuffre provided her medical information
through interrogatory response, through testimony, and through document production. Ms.
Giuffre has met her obligation under both this Court’s Order and Rule 26. There has been no
failure to disclose: Ms. Giuffre provided the names and testified about her treatment.
Accordingly, this motion should be denied in its entirety.

II. MEDICAL RECORDS
Defendant states that Plaintiff has failed to produce any records from (a) Dr. Donahue,

(b) Dr. Hayek, (c) Dr. Kutikoff, (d) Wellington Imaging Assocs., (¢) Growing Together, (f) post
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2011 records from Ms. Lightfoot, and (g) the remaining documents for treatment by Dr. Olson.

(Mtn. at 5). This is also incorrect. There has been no “failure,” as discussed, in turn, below.

Moreover, if records from any providers have not been produced, it is not Ms. Giuffre’s

“failure,” but rather, the failure of the providers, particularly as Ms. Giuffre has executed releases

for her records from all these providers. Ms. Giuffre and her counsel have been diligent in

compiling nearly two decades of medical records from various states and countries. The chart

below provides an overview the efforts undertaken by Ms. Giuffre and the production to

Defendant as a result.

MEDICAL HEALTHCARE ACTION
PROVIDER PROVIDED TAKEN RELATED GIUFFRE PRODUCTION
Giuffre 005342-005346 St. Thomas More
3/8/16 .
Dr. Olsen Primary Care Physician Letter Hospital Records (Dr. Olsen)
’ Iy Y Request Giuffre 005492-005496 St. Thomas More
d Hospital Records (Dr. Olsen)
523/16 Giuffre 005498 Centura Health Release
Centura T Form (All Medical Records)
Health Request Giuffre 005501-005569 Responsive
“ Records (Centura Health)
3/8/16 Ltr
Dr. Carol C Reque Giuffre and counsel contacted physician’s
Psychiatrist 4/28/16 g .
Hayek Lir office via telephone and email to follow up.
Request
Prichts ] MM LU | Giffre 006631-006635 (Dr. Donahue)
Donahue Request
Dr. Joh Giuffre 005315 005322 The Entrance
H;rri(; /]I)lr 4/5/16 Ltr | Medical Centre
Maili ana. Request (Dr. John Harris and Dr. Darshanee
yy Mahaliyana)
4/5/16 Ltr | Giuffre 005339 005341 Central Coast
D vl _ Request Family Medicine (Dr. Wah Wah)
Dr. Sellathuri - e Giuffre 005089 005091 (“Dr. M. Sella”)
Request
Royal Oaks Has no treatment records 4/5/16 Ltr | Giuffre 005347 005349 Royal Oaks
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MEDICAL HEALTHCARE ACTION
PROVIDER PROVIDED TAKEN RELATED GIUFFRE PRODUCTION
Medical Request Medical Center’s Response (No Records)
Center
NY :
. Giuffre 003258 003290 New York
Presbyterian Produced . .
: Presbyterian Hospital
Hospital
Campbelltown Giuffre 003193 003241 Camselltown
Hospital/ Produced Hospital/Camden Hospital (Dr. Elbeaini)
Sydney West Giuffre 003242 003257 Macarthur Health
Hospital Service (Dr. Elbeaini)
Sydney West
Hospital / Giuffre 003291-003298 Sydney
Westmead Ereduied West/Westmead Hospital
Hospital
Release
Dr. Karen f;rowded 04/29/16 Sent via e-mail signed release to
Kutikoff Defendant Menninger (obtain records directly).
’s Counsel
Release
Well{ngton ppited 04/29/16 Sent via e-mail signed release to
Imaging B Menninger (obtain records directly)
Associates Defendant ’
’s Counsel
Release
Growing f:)rowded 04/29/16 Sent via e-mail signed release to
Together Defendant Menninger (obtain records directly).
’s Counsel
Giuffre 005431-005438 Medical Release
Ms. Judith Psvehologist 5/4/16 Ltr | Form with documents (Ms. Lightfoot)
Lightfoot SYChOIOgISts Request Giuffre 006636 Correspondence stating no
further records available.
ER Giuffre 005498-005569 Centura Health
Dr. Scott ; dical Rel F
Robert GEigel Treat.lr%g Medical Release Form
Physician | (Requested Entire Medical Record)
ER Giuffre 005498-005569 Centura Health
Dr. Joseph : Medical Rel F
Heaney Treat.m.g edical Release Form
Physician | (Requested Entire Medical Record)
ER
. Treating Giuffre 005498-005569 Centura Health
Donna Oliver, .. .
PA Physician | Medical Release Form
Referral (Requested Entire Medical Record)
ENT
. ER Giuffre 005498-005569 Centura Health
Dr. Michele . dical Rel
Streeter Treat.m.g Medical Release Form
Physician | (Requested Entire Medical Record)

8
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Accordingly, as the Court can see with reference to the Bates labels in the above chart, Ms.
Giuffre has be compliant in producing her medical records. Indeed, she has signed releases for
all records requested by Defendant, and has produced all records released by the providers. In
addition to signing all releases for medical providers requested by Defendant, the work
associated with compiling the records and following up with providers (as shown by the above
chart) clearly demonstrates Ms. Giuffre’s good faith and persistence in her deliberate and
thorough pursuit of providing Defendant with her medical records. That is reason alone to deny
Defendant’s unsupported request for sanctions.

A. Dr. Donahue

Plaintiff dutifully signed a release for medical records and provided it to Dr. Donahue on
April 5, 2016, and sent a copy to the Defendant so counsel was on notice of the efforts being
taken to secure medical records. See McCawley Decl. at Composite Exhibit 6, Dr. Donahue
letter and Release Form. Ms. Giuffre’s counsel has received records from Dr. Donahue since the
Defendant filed the instant motion, and immediately provided those records to Defendant. See
chart above, GIUFFRE00006631-006635.

B. Dr. Hayek

Dr. Hayek treated Ms. Giuffre over seven years ago. Ms. Giuffre signed a release form
for Dr. Hayek’s records, sent the release form on March 8, 2016, and provided a copy of the
form to Defendant. Having not received any records, the undersigned sent a follow-up letter to
Dr. Hayek on April 28, 2016, to request the records. Upon information and belief, Dr. Hayek
does not keep patient’s medical records for longer than seven years, and, therefore, no longer has

any records pertaining to Ms. Giuffre. Ms. Giuffre and her counsel have made inquiries to Dr.
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Hayek’s office via telephone and email, but, to date, have not received any response. Again, Ms.
Giuffre has no input on Dr. Hayek’s document retention policies, and therefore, the lack of
production of records from Dr. Hayek cannot be attributed to Ms. Giuffre.

C. Dr. Kutikoff, Wellington Imaging Associates (“Wellington Imaging”) , and
Growing Together

Plaintiff provided Defendant’s counsel executed medical release forms for Dr. Kutikoff,
Wellington Imaging, and Growing Together on April 29, 2016. See McCawley Decl. at
Composite Exhibit 7. Accordingly, Ms. Giuffre has no direct knowledge as to what, if anything,
these three providers produced to Defendant’s counsel. Ms. Giuffre has done everything in her
power to make them available to Defendant, a fact that Defendant cannot dispute. Again, there
has been no “failure” by Ms. Giuffre here, as Ms. Giuffre has signed and sent the necessary
release forms for the records to be sent directly to Defendant."

D. Ms. Lightfoot

Defendant admits that Ms. Giuffre produced Ms. Lightfoot’s records in footnote 4 of her
brief on page 11, yet on page 16, Defendant wrongfully states Plaintiff has not produced Dr.
Lightfoot’s records. Despite the self-contradictory briefing, Ms. Lightfoot has produced records.
See chart above, Giuffre005431-005438, Medical Release Form with documents. As with the
other providers, Ms. Giuffre has executed and sent medical records release forms to Ms.
Lightfoot, and has thus met her discovery obligations. To follow up on Defendant’s wrongful
claims that Ms. Giuffre has somehow “withheld” more current records (despite executing a

release for all records); Ms. Giuffre followed up with Ms. Lightfoot, who provided to Ms.

' Upon information and belief, Ms. Lightfoot is not a medical doctor, but an Australian
“Consulting Psychologist.”

10
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Giuffre’s counsel correspondence stating that she has produced all of Ms. Giuffre’s records (see
chart above, Giuffre006636), thereby indicating that she does not keep more current records.

E. Dr. Olson

Defendant claims that Ms. Giuffre failed to produce “the remaining documents for
treatment by Dr. Olson,” but this is a wild inaccuracy. (And, Ms. Giuffre would refer the Court
to a short excerpt from Dr. Olson’s deposition in which Dr. Olson explains in his own words his
production. See McCawley Decl. at Exhibit 10, Dr. Olson Deposition Excerpt.) First, Ms. Giuffre
signed a release for all records that Dr. Olson had. See McCawley Decl. at Composite Exhibit 6,
March 8, 2016, Release for Dr. Olson records. Dr. Olson produced records Bates labeled
GIUFFRE005342-005346 and GIUFFRE005492-005496. Dr. Olson then testified in his
deposition that he kept a record on his laptop that was not a part of the medical records produced
by his hospital. /d. During the deposition, he printed that record and gave it to Defendant’s
counsel. /d. Now, Defendant’s counsel is claiming that this set of facts constitutes a discovery
violation that warrants sanctions. There is no failure to produce here. Ms. Giuffre executed a
medical release that provided for all of Ms. Giuffre’s medical records with regard to Dr. Olson,
and records were produced. It was Dr. Olson who failed to include his “laptop records” among
the records that were produced.

Ms. Giuffre knew nothing of the “laptop records” until Dr. Olson’s deposition, and Dr.
Olson provided them at that time, a fact Defendant admits in a footnote in her Motion to Reopen
Ms. Giuffre’s Deposition. In that brief, Defendant complains that they were not “produced” until
after Ms. Giuffre was deposed. That is a distortion. Defendant already had such documents from
Dr. Olson himself. Ms. Giuffre included those documents that both sides received in the

deposition as part of her next production, so that they would bear a Bates label for tracking

11
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purposes. It was a formality since both sides already had the record. Defendant states: “Despite
requests, legible copies have not been provided.” Defendant uses the passive voice here,
presumably to avoid making clear the fact that the requests for legible copies would need to be
made to Dr. Olson, who controls the records, not to Ms. Giuffre, who long ago authorized the
release of all records. The existence of a record that a witness failed to produce prior to a
deposition is not a discovery violation from Ms. Giuffre.

III. MS. GIUFFRE HAS PROVIDED DISCOVERY IN ACCORDANCE WITH HER
DISCOVERY OBLIGATIONS

The fact is that Ms. Giuffre has executed a release form for each and every medical care
provides that Defendant asked for. Defendant cannot contradict this statement. Ms. Giuffre
produced medical records she had in her possession (such as New York Presbyterian records),
early in discovery. From that point, other medical records were sought and obtained, with Ms.
Giuffre facilitating their production from the providers by executing and sending release forms
and paying all applicable fees for their release. Moreover, counsel for Ms. Giuffre has kept
Defendant fully apprised of such efforts, even giving Defendant copies of all releases that have
been issued, and providing updates on Ms. Giuffre’s continued efforts to obtain medical records
beyond signing releases. See McCawley Decl. at Composite Exhibits 5 and 6.

Executing and sending medical release forms to all of the medical providers satisfies Ms.
Giuffre’s discovery obligations with regard to her medical records, and Defendant cannot cite to
a case that states otherwise. See, e.g., Candelaria v. Erickson, 2006 WL 1636817, at *1
(S.D.N.Y. 2006) (requiring the execution of updated medical release forms to satisfy discovery
obligations). The fact that Defendant has presented this weak tea to the Court - concerning the
actions of third-parties Ms. Giuffre does not control - shows just how baseless the motion is.

IV. DEFENDANT CAN SHOW NO PREJUDICE

12
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Defendant claims to be prejudiced because a small fraction of the medical providers were
revealed at Ms. Giuffre’s deposition, four days after her interrogatory response. This argument
is moot. Ms. Giuffre has agreed to reopen her deposition for Defendant’s questions regarding
those medical providers. Second, Defendant intimates, but does not actually claim, that she
wants to depose Ms. Lightfoot, and states that there is not sufficient time: “arranging for and
taking the deposition of Ms. Lightfoot . . . is nearly impossible,” suggesting to the Court that
there is some prejudice to Defendant there. (Mtn. at 11). However, Defendant’s behavior (and a
close reading of Defendant’s brief) suggests that Defendant doesn’t actually want to depose Ms.
Lightfoot; instead, she just wants to appear to the Court as prejudiced by not taking her
deposition. First, Defendant never noticed her deposition despite knowing her identity for nearly
two months - since May 3, 2016. Second, Defendant is careful not to claim in her brief that she
actually wants to depose Ms. Lightfoot, all the while suggesting that she has suffered some
prejudice with respect to not taking Ms. Lightfoot’s deposition. Defendant’s lack of actual desire

to take her deposition stems from the 2011 records Ms. Lightfoot produced - records predating

Defendant's defamation by vars. | N

_This 1s the reason Defendant is careful not to claim in her brief that she

actually wanted to depose Ms. Lightfoot, and this is the reason why Defendant never noticed her

for deposiion. |

13
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Defendant’s claims concerning deposing Dr. Donahue are similarly specious. First,
despite knowing about Dr. Donahue since at least April 29, 2016 (a fact she admits in her brief
“Dr. Donahue may have been named” (Mtn. at 16)): Defendant has never issued a Notice of
Deposition for Dr. Donahue. Defendant cannot claim any prejudice with respect to Dr. Donahue.

Additionally, Defendant acts in bad faith when she claims that medical records from Dr.
Donahue were “purposefully hidden by Plaintiff” (Mtn. at 11) when Defendant knows that Ms.
Giuffre executed and sent a medical release for Dr. Donahue on April 5, 2016, for all of his
records. See McCawley Decl. at Composite Exhibit 6, Dr. Donahue Medical Release. As stated
above, this argument is moot because the records concerning Dr. Donahue (and other providers
at his practice) have been produced to Defendant.

Finally, though Ms. Giuffre does not control how quickly providers respond to her
releases (though her counsel has spent considerable time following-up with providers, urging
their speedy release, and paying all applicable fees), Ms. Giuffre has agreed to reopen her
deposition for questions concerning provider records that were produced subsequent to her
deposition. Therefore, Ms. Giuffre has eliminated any prejudice Defendant could claim to suffer
with respect to taking Ms. Giuffre’s deposition. See Giuffre006631-006635.

A factor relevant to the appropriateness of sanctions under Rule 37 for discovery
violations is the “prejudice suffered by the opposing party.” Design Strategy, Inc. v. Davis, 469
F.3d 284, 296 (2d Cir. 2006). Here, Defendant cannot claim any prejudice resulting from her

empty claims of “discovery violations.” Accordingly, sanctions are inappropriate.

V. MS. GIUFFRE HAS BEEN FULLY COMPLIANT IN DISCOVERY
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It is the Defendant in this case that has failed to comply with discovery at every turn.
Defendant has refused to produce any documents whatsoever without this Court entering an
Order directing her to do so. The only reason Plaintiff has documents from Defendant at all is
because of this Court’s denial of Defendant’s stay requests and the Court’s rulings on Ms.
Giuffre’s Motion to Compel for Improper Claim of Privilege (wherein Defendant was ordered to
turn over documents that did not even involve communications with counsel) and her Motion to
Compel for Improper Objections. Even then, Defendant’s counsel refused to even take the
routine step of looking at Defendant’s email and other electronic documents to find responsive
documents, but produced, instead, only what Defendant wanted to produce. Ms. Giuffre had to
bring a Motion for Forensic Examination and the Court had to order that Defendant’s counsel
actually produce documents from Defendant’s electronic documents, something that has not yet
been done to date. Indeed, Defendant did not make her initial disclosure until February 24, 2016
several months affer the deadline for these disclosures. Additionally, while Ms. Giuffre started
her efforts to take the Defendant’s deposition in February, 2016, Defendant did not actually sit
for her deposition until after being directed to do so by the Court, on April 22, 2016.

Furthermore, during the deposition, Defendant refused to answer a myriad of questions,
and therefore, this Court recently ordered Defendant to sit for her deposition again. See June 20,
2016, Order resolving eight discovery motions entered under seal and granting Plaintiff’s Motion
to Compel Defendant to Answer Deposition Questions (D.E. 143).

Ms. Giuffre has had to litigate, multiple times, for Defendant to make any document
production, and Ms. Giuffre has had to litigate, also multiple times, for Defendant to be deposed.
See Plaintiff’s Response in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Stay Discovery (DE 20);

Plaintiff’s February 26, 2016, Letter Motion to Compel Defendant to Sit for Her Deposition;

15
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Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel Documents Subject to Improper Claim of Privilege (DE 33);
Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel Documents Subject to Improper Objections (DE 35); Plaintiff’s
Response in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion for a Protective Order Regarding Defendant’s
Deposition (DE 70); Plaintiff’s Motion for Forensic Examination (DE 96); Plaintiff’s Motion to
Compel Defendant to Answer Deposition Questions (DE 143). Ms. Giuffre has had to expend
considerable time and resources simply to have Defendant meet her basic discovery obligations
in this case.

Now, having completely stonewalled on discovery, making every produced document
and even her own deposition the result of extensive and unnecessary litigation, taking positions
that are contrary to the Federal Rules and wholly contrary to prevailing case law, Defendant
claims that Ms. Giuffre has been “non-compliant since the outset of discovery.” (Mtn. at 11).
This statement is completely inaccurate.

Defendant makes a number of unsubstantiated claims regarding law enforcement
materials, photographs, and email accounts. Most of these issues have been resolved pursuant to
this Court’s orders. See June 20, 2016, Order entered under seal denying Defendant’s motion to
compel law enforcement materials; June 23, 2016, Minute Entry. Ms. Giuffre merely points out
that Defendant not only failed to review, search, or produce Defendant’s email, from any of her
multiple accounts, but also wholly failed to disclose her terramarproject.org email account or her
ellmax.com email account.

Regarding photographs, counsel for Ms. Giuffre has gone to considerable expense to
recover boxes that Ms. Giuffre thought may contain photographs, including paying
approximately $600.00 for shipping of the boxes to ensure production of any recent information.

Accordingly, Defendant articulates no legitimate complaint in this section of her brief.

16
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LEGAL ARGUMENT

I DEFENDANT CANNOT SHOW NON-COMPLIANCE, AND HAS PUT FORTH
NO COLORABLE LEGAL ARGUMENT FOR SANCTIONS

Sanctions are not appropriate in this case because Defendant cannot show non-
compliance. Through the normal course of discovery, Ms. Giuffre produced her medical
providers to Defendant, as Defendant admits in her moving brief. Defendant’s complaint boils
down to the fact that Ms. Giuffre remembered at deposition two providers (Ms. Lightfoot and Dr.
Donahue) that she did not recall when compiling her long list of providers in response to
Defendant’s interrogatory four days prior. That does not constitute non-compliance. That is not
sanctionable behavior. And, Defendant cannot cite any case in which a court found differently.
Additionally, though Defendant attempts to ascribe blame to Ms. Giuffre for any medical records
that have not been sent by providers (or medical records that may not exist), the uncontested fact
is that Ms. Giuffre has executed releases for all of the providers Defendant requested. Again,
Defendant can point to no case in which sanctions were awarded over medical records where the
party signed all applicable releases. Accordingly, Defendant’s motion should be denied."'

Even Defendant’s own cases cited in her brief are inapposite and do not suggest that
sanctions are appropriate in this case. For example, in Davidson v. Dean, the plaintiff “refused

to consent to the release of mental health records” for periods for which he was seeking damages

"' What does constitute sanctionable behavior is testimonial obduracy that includes “denying
memory of the events under inquiry,” a tactic Defendant took in response to a multitude of
questions at her deposition, as more fully briefed in Ms. Giuffre’s Motion to Compel Defendant
to Answer Deposition Questions (DE 143), granted by this Court on June 20, 2016. See In re
Weiss, 703 F.2d 653, 663 (S.D.N.Y. 1983) (holding that “the witness's . . . disclaimers of
knowledge or memory, has also been dealt with as contemptuous conduct, warranting sanctions
that were coercive, punitive, or both. It has long been the practice of courts viewing such
testimony as false and intentionally evasive, and as a sham or subterfuge that purposely avoids
giving responsive answers, to ignore the form of the response and treat the witness as having
refused to answer.”).
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and for which the Court ordered him to provide releases. 204 F.R.D. 251, 254 (S.D.N.Y. 2001).
By contrast, Ms. Giuffre has executed each and every release for medical records requested by
Defendant. In In re Payne, Rule 37 sanctions were not even at issue: an attorney was
reprimanded for “default[ing] on scheduling orders in fourteen cases, resulting in their dismissal
... fili[ing] stipulations to withdraw a number of appeals only after his briefing deadlines had
passed,” etc. 707 F.3d 195, 198-99 (2d Cir. 2013). Similarly, in Gurvey v. Cowan, Liebowitz &
Lathman, P.C., 2014 WL 715612, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. 2014), sanctions were awarded because, inter
alia, “my . . . Order explicitly limited discovery to plaintiff's malpractice and breach-of-fiduciary
duty claims . . . However . . . plaintiff has sought discovery of extraordinary breadth that is far
beyond the scope of the two claims . . . [and] disregarded my Order . . . by failing to explain in
writing how each of her discovery requests to CLL is relevant to the remaining claims.”
Accordingly, as stated above, Defendant has not put forth any colorable legal argument for
sanctions under Rule 37.

II. THERE WAS NO INFORMATION “WITHHELD,” AND THEREFORE, NO
PREJUDICE

Defendant cannot be taken seriously when she claims that “Plaintiff is obviously trying to

hide” her treatment related to domestic violence, _
N  Given that fact,

Defendant’s incendiary claim defies logic. All these things that Defendant claims were
deliberately “withheld” or “hidden” are things that Ms. Giuffre provided to Defendant in the

normal course of discovery, as described at length above. Defendant cannot claim any prejudice
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regarding the manner in which she received this information, and, indeed, does not. 12
Accordingly, sanctions are wholly inappropriate.

III. MS. GIUFFRE HAS FULFILLED HER REQUIREMENTS REGARDING HER
RULE 26 DISCLOSURES"*!*

Regarding Ms. Giuffre’s computation of damages, Ms. Giuffre has pled defamation per
se under New York law, where damages are presumed. Robertson v. Dowbenko, 443 F. App'x
659, 661 (2d Cir. 2011). Plaintiff provided amounts, damage calculations and supporting
evidence required under Rule 26. Plaintiff is retaining experts to support her Rule 26
Disclosures, and expert reports and disclosures are not due at this time. Defendant takes issues
with Ms. Giuffre’s computation of damages in her Rule 26 disclosures but fails to cite to a single
case that requires more from her, let alone more from a Plaintiff claiming defamation per se.
Indeed, the case law supports that Plaintiff has fully complied with her Rule 26 obligations. See
Naylor v. Rotech Healthcare, Inc., 679 F. Supp. 2d 505, 510 (D. Vt. 2009).

In good faith, Ms. Giuffre has produced a multitude of documents and information
regarding her damages. Defendant does not cite to a single case that even suggests she is
required to do more. What Defendant purports to lack is expert discovery and an expert report on

computation of damages. Rule 26(a)(1), governs “initial disclosures,” disclosures to be made at

12 This is particularly true regarding the timing of Ms. Giuffre’s deposition, as Ms. Giuffre has
agreed to reopen her deposition concerning any medical information that Defendant did not
receive in advance of her deposition.

1 Defendant references her Motion to Compel Rule 26(a) disclosures (DE 64) that she filed on
March 22, 2016, but failed to mention that, after a hearing, this Court denied that motion with
leave to refile (DE 106).

4 Defendant repeatedly attempts to conflate the required disclosures under Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 26(a) and the disclosures ordered by this Court on April 21, 2016, in an apparent
effort to ‘backdate’ those required disclosures.
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the beginning of litigation, prior to the completion of expert work. It does not entitle a party to
expert discovery at this stage in the case.

Ms. Giuffre has pleaded and will prove defamation per se, where damages are presumed.
Robertson v. Dowbenko, 443 F. App'x at 661 (“As the district court correctly determined,
Robertson was presumptively entitled to damages because he alleged defamation per se.”).
Under New York law, defamation per se, as alleged in this case, presumes damages, and special
damages do not need to be pled and proven. See Celle v. Filipino Reporter Enters. Inc., 209 F.3d
163, 179 (2d Cir.2000) (Second Circuit holding that “[i]f a statement is defamatory per se, injury
is assumed. In such a case ‘even where the plaintiff can show no actual damages at all, a
plaintiff who has otherwise shown defamation may recover at least nominal damages,’”” and
confirming an award of punitive damages) (Emphasis added).

Additionally, Ms. Giuffre has claimed punitive damages for the defamation per se.
“[Clourts have generally recognized that ... punitive damages are typically not amenable to the
type of disclosures contemplated by Rule 26(a)(1)(A)(iii), and have held that the failure to
disclosure a number or calculation for such damages was substantially justified.” See Murray v.
Miron, 2015 WL 4041340 (D. Conn., July 1, 2015). See also Scheel v. Harris, No. CIV.A. 3:11-
17-DCR, 2012 WL 3879279, at *7 (E.D. Ky. Sept. 6, 2012) (finding that a failure to provide a
precise number or calculation for their punitive damages claim is substantially justified pursuant
to Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(c)(1)).

Accordingly, Ms. Giuffre’s disclosures comply with Rule 26 for the computation of
damages. See Naylor v. Rotech Healthcare, Inc., 679 F. Supp. 2dat 510 (“The Court is skeptical
of the need for so much additional discovery, since the only open issue on the defamation claim

seems to be damages. Miles’s email itself provides evidence of the statement and publication to
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a third party. Damages will depend on [plaintiff] Naylor's testimony and perhaps evidence from
a few other sources, such as Naylor's family and friends, or Streeter [one of defendant’s
clients].”) Ms. Giuffre has provided the calculations evidencing how she arrived at her damage
figures and has provided a myriad of documents upon which she also will rely in proving
damages. This includes supporting documents showing average medical expenses computed by

139

her average life expectancy. “‘[N]on-economic damages based on pain and suffering ... are

generally not amenable to the type of disclosures contemplated by Rule 26(a)(1)(A)(iii).””
Scheel v. Harris, No. CIV.A. 3:11-17-DCR, 2012 WL 3879279, at *7 (E.D. Ky. Sept. 6, 2012)
(holding that plaintiff’s failure to disclose a number or calculation for such damages was

substantially justified).

IV.  THIS COURT SHOULD NOT STRIKE MS. GIUFFRE’S CLAIMS FOR
MEDICAL AND EMOTIONAL DISTRESS DAMAGES

Defendant cites four cases in support of her request for this Court to strike her claims for
medical and emotional distress damages, and each one of them militates against any such relief
being awarded in this case. In the first, Nittolo v. Brand, sanctions were awarded in a personal
injury action because, inter alia, the plaintiff went to his physician and took away his medical
records before defendant had a chance to use the court-ordered release to access them, and the
Court found the plaintiff lied under oath about taking away the records. 96 F.R.D. 672, 673
(S.D.N.Y.1983). By contrast, Ms. Giuffre has signed every medical release form requested by
Defendant and provided all medical records that they yielded.

Defendant’s second case is equally inapposite. In Skywark v. Isaacson, Court found that
the plaintiff “began his pattern of lying about at least three matters of extreme significance to his
claim for damages;” lied to his experts and lied under oath; and “never provided defendants with

the promised [medical release] authorizations.” 1999 WL 1489038 at *3, *5, *11 (S.D.N.Y. Oct.
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14, 1999). The facts could not be more dissimilar to the case at hand, where Ms. Giuffre has
provided truthful testimony regarding her medical history and has executed all medical releases.

Defendant’s third case continues in the same pattern. In In re Consol. RNC Cases, “all
Plaintiffs either expressly refused to provide mental health treatment records or simply failed to
provide such records during the course of discovery.” 2009 WL 130178, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 8§,
2009). Defendant’s fourth case is similarly inapposite by Defendant’s own description, turning
on failure to provide medical releases. (Mtn. at 19).

Importantly, Defendant represents to the Court that she seeks the “sanction of striking the
claim or precluding evidence only on the damages that relate to the withheld documents and
information.” (Mtn. at 19). This is confusing for two reasons. First, Ms. Giuffre has provided
information about the providers that she has knowledge of and has provided releases for their
medical records, so the sanction she seeks could not apply to any of the providers in Defendant’s
brief. Second, there are no “withheld documents.” Ms. Giuffre has not withheld any medical
records, and, indeed, has authorized the release of all records sought by Defendant. Accordingly,
there are no “withheld records” upon which sanctions could be applied. And, again, there has
been no violation of this Court’s Order.

CONCLUSION

Since filing the instant motion for sanctions, two other witnesses - witnesses subpoenaed
by Defendant herself in order to mount her defense - have given testimony to support Ms.

Giuffre. Most recently, Defendant’s witness, Tony Figueroa, testified he witnessed Defendant
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escort young girls he brought over to Epstein’s home to Epstein for sex acts, and testified that
Defendant called him on the phone, asking him to bring girls over to Epstein’s house. "’

Q And how long would you and one of these other girls sit there and have this small talk
with Ms. Maxwell?

A No more than 10 or 15 minutes.

Q What were you waiting for?

A Pretty much her to take them up stairs then I would leave. I would wait for them to be
like we're ready. And I would be all right. See you later and I would leave.

Q You were waiting for who to take who up stairs?

A T had seen Ms. Maxwell take a girl up there well not up there visibly but I watched her
leave had room with one.

Q Up stairs?

12 A Well, I didn't see the stairs. Like in the kitchen there's not like you have to go all
around and all that shit.

See McCawley Decl. at Exhibit 9, ROUGH Figueroa Tr. at 156:22-157:14.

Q Let me fix this. Gill when Gillian Maxwell would call you during the time that you

were living with Virginia she would ask you what specifically?

A Just if I had found any ear girls just to bring the Jeffrey.

Q Okay.

A Pretty much everytime a conversation with any of them it was either asking Virginia

where she was ask the asking her to get girls or asking me get girls.
See McCawley Decl. at Exhibit 9, ROUGH Figueroa Tr. at 162:8-19.

Accordingly, at this stage in discovery, it is not just the flight logs showing Defendant
flying with Epstein and Ms. Giuffre over twenty times when she was a minor; it is not just the
message pads from law enforcement’s trash pulls that show Defendant arranging to have an
underage girl come over to Epstein’s house for “training;” it is not just the police report; it is not
just the photographs of Defendant and other men with Ms. Giuffre when she was a minor.

Now, there is actual, live testimonial evidence that Defendant was a procurer of young

girls for sex with Jeffrey Epstein, with whom she shared a home and a life, thus validating Ms.

Giuffre’s claims. Therefore, this baseless motion for sanctions is more a reflection of the

15 See McCawley Decl. at Exhibit 9, Excerpts from the June 24, 2016 ROUGH Deposition
Transcript for the Deposition of Tony Figueroa.
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abundant testimonial evidence condemning Defendant than any type of imagined discovery
violation on behalf of Ms. Giuffre.

Ms. Giuffre respectfully requests that it be denied in its entirety.

Dated: June 28, 2016.
Respectfully Submitted,
BOIES, SCHILLER & FLEXNER LLP

By: /s/ Sigrid McCawley
Sigrid McCawley (Pro Hac Vice)
Meredith Schultz (Pro Hac Vice)
Boies Schiller & Flexner LLP
401 E. Las Olas Blvd., Suite 1200
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
(954) 356-0011

David Boies

Boies Schiller & Flexner LLP
333 Main Street

Armonk, NY 10504

Bradley J. Edwards (Pro Hac Vice)
FARMER, JAFFE, WEISSING,
EDWARDS, FISTOS & LEHRMAN, P.L.
425 North Andrews Avenue, Suite 2

Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301

(954) 524-2820

Paul G. Cassell (Pro Hac Vice)
S.J. Quinney College of Law
University of Utah

383 University St.

Salt Lake City, UT 84112
(801) 585-5202'°

' This daytime business address is provided for identification and correspondence purposes only
and is not intended to imply institutional endorsement by the University of Utah for this private
representation.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 28th day of June, 2016, I served the attached document
via Email to the following counsel of record.

Laura A. Menninger, Esq.

Jeffrey Pagliuca, Esq.

HADDON, MORGAN & FOREMAN, P.C.

150 East 10" Avenue

Denver, Colorado 80203

Tel: (303) 831-7364

Fax: (303) 832-2628

Email: Imenninger@hmflaw.com
jpagliuca@hmflaw.com

/s/ Sigrid S. McCawley
Sigrid S. McCawley
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United States District Court
Southern District of New York

Virginia L. Giuffre,

Plaintiff, Case No.: 15-cv-07433-RWS
V.
Ghislaine Maxwell,

Defendant.
/

DECLARATION OF SIGRID S. MCCAWLEY IN PLAINTIFE’S RESPONSE IN
OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR DEFENDANT’S RULE 37(b) &(¢)
SANCTIONS FOR FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH COURT ORDER AND FAILURE TO
COMPLY WITH RUILE 26(a)

I, Sigrid S. McCawley, declare that the below is true and correct to the best of my
knowledge as follows:

1. I am a Partner with the law firm of Boies, Schiller & Flexner LLP and duly
licensed to practice in Florida and before this Court pursuant to this Court’s Order granting my
Application to Appear Pro Hac Vice.

2. I respectfully submit this Declaration in response to Defendant’s Motion for
Defendant’s Rule 37(b) &(c) Sanctions for Failure to Comply with Court Order and Failure to
Comply with Rule 26(a).

3. Attached hereto as Sealed Exhibit 1 is a true and correct copy of Excerpts from

the May 18, 2016 Deposition of Rinaldo Rizzo.

4.  Attached hereto as Sealed Exhibit 2 is a true and correct copy of Excerpts from the
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June 10, 2016 Deposition of Johanna Sjoberg.

5. Attached hereto as Sealed Exhibit 3 is a true and correct copy of Excerpts from the
June 20, 2016 Deposition of _

6.  Attached hereto as Sealed Exhibit 4 is a true and correct copy of Excerpts from the
June 21, 2016 Deposition of Joseph Recarey.

7. Attached hereto as Sealed Composite Exhibit 5 is a true and correct copy of E-mail
Correspondences to Laura Menninger.

8. Attached hereto as Sealed Composite Exhibit 6 is a true and correct copy of
Medical Release Letter to Providers.

9. Attached hereto as Sealed Composite Exhibit 7 is a true and correct copy of April

29, 2016 Signed Medical Releases to Opposing Counsel.

10. Attached hereto as Sealed Exhibit 8 is a true and correct copy of Judith Lightfoot’s
Redacted Medical Release (Giuffre005431-005438).

11.  Attached hereto as Sealed Exhibit 9, is a true and correct copy of Excerpts from
the June 24, 2016 Deposition of Tony Figueroa.

12.  Attached hereto as Sealed Exhibit 10 is a true and correct copy of Excerpt from the

May 26, 2016 Confidential Deposition of Dr. Steven Olson.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

/s/ Sigrid McCawley
Sigrid McCawley
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Dated: June 28, 2016
Respectfully Submitted,
BOIES, SCHILLER & FLEXNER LLP

By: /s/ Sigrid McCawley
Sigrid McCawley (Pro Hac Vice)
Meredith Schultz (Pro Hac Vice)
Boies, Schiller & Flexner LLP
401 E. Las Olas Blvd., Suite 1200
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
Tel: (954) 356-0011
Email: smccawley@bsfllp.com

David Boies

Boies, Schiller & Flexner LLP
333 Main Street

Armonk, NY 10504

Paul G. Cassell (Pro Hac Vice)

Ronald N. Boyce Presidential Professor of
Criminal Law

S.J. Quinney College of Law at the
University of Utah

383 S. University St.

Salt Lake City, UT 84112-0730

(801) 585-5202 (phone)

(801) 585-2750 (fax)

Email: cassellp@law.utah.edu

Bradley Edwards (Pro Hac Vice)

Farmer, Jaffe, Weissing, Edwards,
Fistos & Lehrman, P.L.

425 North Andrews Avenue, Suite 2

Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301

Tel: (954) 524-2820

Fax: (954) 524-2822

Email: brad@pathtojustice.com
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on June 28, 2016, I electronically filed the foregoing
document with the Clerk of Court by using the CM/ECF system. I also certify that the foregoing
document is being served to all parties of record via transmission of the Electronic Court Filing

System generated by CM/ECF.

Laura A. Menninger, Esq.

Jeffrey Paliuca, Esq.

HADDON, MORGAN & FOREMAN, P.C.
150 East 10™ Avenue

Denver, Colorado 80203

Tel: (303) 831-7364

Fax: (303) 832-2628

Email: Imenninger@hmflaw.com

/s/ Sigrid S. McCawley
Sigrid S. McCawley, Esq.
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Page 1

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

CASE NO. 15-CV-07433-RWS

__________________________________________ %
VIRGINIA L. GIUFFRE,

Plaintiff,
V.
GHISLAINE MAXWELL,

Defendant.
___________________________________________ %

May 18, 2016
9:04 a.m.

CONFIDENTTIA AL
Deposition of JOHANNA SJOBERG, pursuant
to notice, taken by Plaintiff, at the
offices of Boies Schiller & Flexner, 401
Las Olas Boulevard, Fort Lauderdale, Florida,
before Kelli Ann Willis, a Registered
Professional Reporter, Certified Realtime
Reporter and Notary Public within and
for the State of Florida.

MAGNA®©

LEGAL SERVICES




Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-9 Filed 01/04/24 Page 3 of 10

Page 21

1 Jeffrey's home when you arrived?

2 A. Yes. When I first walked in the door, it
3 was just myself, and Ghislaine headed for the

4 staircase and said -- told me to come up to the

5 living room.

6 Q. And what happened at that point, when you
7 came up to the living room?

8 A. I came up and saw Virginia, Jeffrey,

9 Prince Andrew, Ghislaine in the room.
10 Q. And did you meet Prince Andrew at that
11 time?
12 A. Yes.
13 Q. And what happened next?
14 A. At one point, Ghislaine told me to come
15 upstairs, and we went into a closet and pulled out
16 the puppet, the caricature of Prince Andrew, and

17 brought it down. And there was a little tag on the

18 puppet that said "Prince Andrew" on it, and that's

19 when I knew who he was.

20 Q. And did -- what did the puppet look like?
21 A. It looked like him. And she brought it
22 down and presented it to him; and that was a great
23 joke, because apparently it was a production from a

24 show on BBC. And they decided to take a picture

25 with it, in which Virginia and Andrew sat on a

MAGNA®©
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13
14
15
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19
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Page 22

couch. They put the puppet on Virginia's lap, and I
sat on Andrew's lap, and they put the puppet's hand
on Virginia's breast, and Andrew put his hand on my

breast, and they took a photo.

Q. Do you remember who took the photo?

A. I don't recall.

Q. Did you ever see the photo after it was
taken?

A. I did not.

Q. And Ms. Maxwell was present during the --

was Ms. Maxwell present during that?

A. Yes.
Q. What happened next?
A. The next thing I remember is just being

shown to which room I was going to be staying in.
Q. When you exited the room that you were in
where the picture was taken, do you recall who

remained in that room?

A. I don't.

Q. Do you recall seeing Virginia exit that
room?

A. I don't.

Q. During this trip to New York, did you have

to perform any work when you were at the New York

house?

MAGNA®©
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Page 141
1 always covered himself with a towel.
2 Q. I believe I asked this, but I just want to
3 clarify to make sure that I did: Did Maxwell ever
4 ask you to bring other girls over to -- for Jeffrey?
5 A. Yes.
6 Q. Yes?
7 A. Yes.
8 Q. And what did you -- did you do anything in
9 response to that?

10 A. I did bring one girl named ||} QbQJNJ N --
11 no. | - it was some girl named |}

12 that I had worked with at a restaurant. And I

13 recall Ghislaine giving me money to bring her over;
14 however, they never called her to come.

15 Q. And then I believe you mentioned that one
16 of your physical fitness instructors, you brought a
17 physical fitness instructor; was that correct?

18 A. Correct.

19 0. And what did she do?

20 A. She gave him a -- like a training session,
21 twice.

22 0. Twice.

23 Did anything sexual in nature happen

24 during the session?

25 A. At one point he lifted up her shirt and

MAGNA®©
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1 exposed her bra, and she grabbed it and pulled it

2 down.
3 Q. Anything else?
4 A, That was the conversation that he had told

5 her that he had taken this girl's virginity, the

6 girl by the pool.

7 Q. Okay. Did Maxwell ever say to you that it
8 takes the pressure off of her to have other girls

9 around?
10 A. She implied that, yes.
11 Q. In what way?
12 A. Sexually.
13 Q. And earlier Laura asked you, I believe, if
14 Maxwell ever asked you to perform any sexual acts,
15 and I believe your testimony was no, but then you
16 also previously stated that during the camera

17 incident that Maxwell had talked to you about not

18 finishing the job.

19 Did you understand "not finishing the job"
20 meaning bringing Jeffrey to orgasm?

21 MS. MENNINGER: Objection, leading, form.

22 BY MS. McCAWLEY:

23 0. I'm sorry, Johanna, let me correct that
24 question.
25 What did you understand Maxwell to mean

MAGNA®©
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1 when she said you hadn't finished the job, with

2 respect to the camera?

3 MS. MENNINGER: Objection, leading, form.
4 THE WITNESS: She implied that I had not
5 brought him to orgasm.

6 BY MS. McCAWLEY:
7 Q. So is it fair to say that Maxwell expected
8 you to perform sexual acts when you were massaging

9 Jeffrey?

10 MS. MENNINGER: Objection, leading, form,
11 foundation.

12 THE WITNESS: I can answer?

13 Yes, I took that conversation to mean that
14 is what was expected of me.

15 BY MS. McCAWLEY:
16 Q. And then you mentioned, I believe, when
17 you were testifying earlier that Jeffrey told you a

18 story about sex on the plane. What was that about?

19 MS. MENNINGER: Objection, hearsay.

20 THE WITNESS: He told me one time Emmy was
21 sleeping on the plane, and they were getting

22 ready to land. And he went and woke her up,

23 and she thought that meant he wanted a blow

24 job, so she started to unzip his pants, and he
25 said, No, no, no, you just have to be awake for

MAGNA®©
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1 A. No.
2 Q. Was i1t in the context of anything?
3 A. About the camera that she had bought for
4 me.
5 Q. What did she say in relationship to the
6 camera that she bought for you and taking
7 photographs of you?
8 A. Just that Jeffrey would like to have some

9 photos of me, and she asked me to take photos of
10 myself.
11 Q. What did you say?
12 A. I don't remember saying no, but I never

13 ended up following through. I think I tried once.

14 Q. This was the pre-selfie era, correct?
15 A. Exactly.
16 Q. I want to go back to this: You testified

17 to two things just now with Sigrid that you said

18 were implied to you.

19 A. Okay.

20 Q. The first one was it would take pressure
21 off of Maxwell to have more girls around?

22 A. Right.

23 Q. What exactly did Maxwell say to you that
24 led you to believe that was her implication?

25 A. She said she doesn't have the time or
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desire to
why there
Q.

Page 151

please him as much as he needs, and that's
were other girls around.

And did she refer specifically to any

other girls?

> O » O ¥

Q.
that were
A.
Q.
correct?
A.
Q.

A.

No.

Did she talk about underaged girls?

No.

Was she talking about massage therapists?
Not specifically.

Okay. There were other girls in the house
not massage therapists, correct?

Yes.

Nadia is another person that was around,

Yes.
There were other people he traveled with?
Uh-huh.

MS. McCAWLEY: Objection.

BY MS. MENNINGER:

Q
A
Q.
A
Q
A

Correct?
Correct.
Other girls?
Yes.

Adults?

Yes.
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CERTIFICATE OF OATH
STATE OF FLORIDA )

COUNTY OF MIAMI-DADE )

I, the undersigned authority, certify
that JOHANNA SJOBERG personally appeared before me
and was duly sworn.

WITNESS my hand and official seal this
18th day of May, 2016.

KELLI ANN WILLTS, RPR, CRR
Notary Public, State of Florida
My Commission No. FF911443
Expires: 2/16/21
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

CASE NO. 15-CV-07433-RWS

__________________________________________ X
VIRGINIA L. GIUFFRE,

Plaintiff,
V.
GHISLAINE MAXWELL,

Defendant.
___________________________________________ X

June 20, 2016
9:12 a.m.

CONFIDENTTAL
Deposition of ||} pursuant
to notice, taken by Plaintiff, at the
offices of Podhurst Orseck, 25 West
Flagler Street, Suite 800, Miami, Florida,
before Kelli Ann Willis, a Registered
Professional Reporter, Certified Realtime
Reporter and Notary Public within and

for the State of Florida.
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2 know the extent of their relationship. But she

3 would schedule his appointments and handle clerical
4 things for him as far as I can see.

5 0. All right.

6 And when you first went to his house,

7 where did -- where were you taken within the house?
8 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

9 foundation.
10 THE WITNESS: Kitchen, up to the room, up
11 to his master suite.

12 BY MR. EDWARDS:

13 Q. And which stairwell did you go up to his
14 suite?

15 A. I do not remember.

16 0. Was it the stairs off by the kitchen?

17 A. I do not recall.

18 0. And when you went into his bedroom, were

19 you under the belief that it was going to be you

20 providing some sort of a massage-?

21 A. It certainly didn't involve any sexual
22 activity. That's what I was under the assumption.
23 I don't recall exactly how I was propositioned to

24 get there. I just was there, and all of a sudden

25 something horrible happened to me.
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1 e
2 Q. Did you, at 16 years old or 17 years old,
3 have any massage training or experience?

4 A. No.

5 Q. pid GGG :2ve any massage

6 experience?

7 A. I do not -——- I can't speak to her

8 experience. I do not know. She was not really a
9 friend of mine. Barely an acquaintance. We maybe

10 spoke three times in our entire going to school

11 together and everything.

12 0. Did you ever learn what her incentive was

13 to bring you to Jeffrey Epstein's house?

14 A. Later I found out that they would get

15 kickbacks for bringing people over.

16 Q. Do you remember seeing Jeffrey Epstein

17 give her money that day?

18 A. I don't recall, no.

19 Q. If you said that in your statement, that

20 you remember [jff getting money for bringing you

21 here that day, would that be a true statement?

22 A. Yes, absolutely. Everything in there is
23 the truth. I do not remember from years ago at this
24 point.

25 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
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1 e

2 into?

3 A. I worked very, very hard to not recall

4 anything specific about my sexual encounters with

5 this person as one of his victims. I cannot answer

6 your question. Things -- it wasn't supposed to be

7 sexual, but it was. That's as specific as I can

8 get.

9 Q. Fair to say that when Jeffrey Epstein or
10 his assistants used the term "massage," someone is
11 going to come give a massage, that that's always a
12 sexual encounter?

13 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

14 foundation.

15 THE WITNESS: "Always" 1is a strong word to
16 use. I'm not making that assumption, but

17 oftentimes that's exactly what it meant.

18 BY MR. EDWARDS:

19 Q. When Jeffrey Epstein was paying high

20 school girls for these alleged massages, he was

21 paying to turn it into a sexual encounter, fair?

22 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

23 foundation.

24 THE WITNESS: I would say yes, that is the
25 motivation. I'm not a mind-reader. I don't
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2 know what he was thinking. It's fair to

3 assume.

4 BY MR. EDWARDS:

5 0. All right.

6 Did you know how ||} jdqj ) Il <t

7 Jeffrey Epstein?

8 A. No.

9 Q. Do you know someone named Hayley Robson?
10 A. No.
11 Q. Did you know Tony Figueroa?
12 A. No. It sounds like a familiar name, but I
13 do not know him.
14 Q. Did you know Ashley Davis?
15 A. I may have gone to high school with an
16 Ashley Davis, but that seems like a very common
17 name.
18 Q. Were you asked by Jeffrey Epstein to bring

19 other girls to him?

20 A. Yes.

21 Q. And for what purpose?

22 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
23 foundation.

24 BY MR. EDWARDS:

25 Q. What is his stated purpose?
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A. I was never present when he interacted
with those women. I don't know exactly what
happened.

Did you bring other girls to him?

A. Yes. I brought friends over.

Q. And were they also of similar age to you?

A. Yes. They were my peers.

Q. High school girls?

A. Correct.

Q. Did any of them have massage experience?

A. I do not know.

MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form.

BY MR. EDWARDS:

Q.
therapist,
to him?

A.

Q.

Were you going out to look for a massage

a professional massage therapist to bring

No.

What he wanted at his house was young high

school girls under the pretense of some massage?

MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

foundation.

BY MR. EDWARDS

Q.

Is that fair?

MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

25
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foundation.

THE WITNESS: Yes, that's fair. I mean, I
have to think. Sometimes I would go over and I
would just swim and I would get paid, or I
would take a nap and I'd get paid, or I would
just hang out and I'd get paid. So that should
be in my statement as well.

It wasn't my assumption that they were
coming over to do anything. I did not know,
once the door was closed or once they went to
another area of the home. I often just went
over and did my own thing while they were doing
whatever they were doing. It was none of my
business.

BY MR. EDWARDS:

Q. When you would say you would just hang out
at the pool, who would you be with?

A. I don't remember anyone. None of those
girls were any friends. We were all there just
through that mutual connection.

Q. I just have a list of girls, and I want
you to tell me whether you know who they are or you
don't.

Do you know Felicia Esposito?
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1 1

2 BY MR. EDWARDS:

3 Q. When you got to his house, you were
4 requested to give a massage?

5 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to foundation and
6 form.

7 THE WITNESS: I don't exactly remember.

8 don't remember if I was asked in the kitchen.
9 I don't remember if -- I don't remember.

10 BY MR. EDWARDS:

11 Q. Massage was part of the game, though?
12 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

13 foundation.

14 THE WITNESS: I don't remember. I'm
15 SOrry.

16 BY MR. EDWARDS:

17 Q. But even during this deposition today, we
18 have described at times you giving him a massage?

19 A. Yes. You're asking about my first

20 encounter, though.

21 Q. Sorry, I'm just trying to sum up the whole
22 thing.

23 A. Okay.

24 Q. Was massage part of the lure to get you

25 specifically to his house?
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A. Yes.
MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
foundation.
BY MR. EDWARDS:
Q. And at the time, you are 15, 16 or 17
years old?
MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
foundation.
THE WITNESS: Yes.
BY MR. EDWARDS:
Q. No massage experience?
A. No.
Q. You were told to bring other girls to his
house?
MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
foundation.
THE WITNESS: After a while, yes.
BY MR. EDWARDS:
Q. These massages were turned sexual by
Jeffrey, as opposed to by anyone else?
A. Jeffrey took my clothes off without my

consent the first time I met him.
Q. The massages were scheduled by people

working for Jeffrey?

55
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2 A. I don't recall.
3 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
4 foundation.
5 BY MR. EDWARDS:
6 Q. Jeffrey Epstein, during these massages,
7 would use sex toys or have sex toys used?
8 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
9 foundation.
10 THE WITNESS: Well, at that point, it's no
11 longer a massage. Something else is going on.
12 But, yes, he would take out adult toys and
13 different things.
14 BY MR. EDWARDS:
15 Q. While you were a teenager, Jeffrey Epstein
16 asked you to live with him?
17 A. Yes. He wanted me to be emancipated.
18 Q. Jeffrey Epstein encouraged girl-on-girl
19 sex?
20 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
21 foundation.
22 THE WITNESS: Yes.
23 BY MR. EDWARDS:
24 Q. And after you cooperated with the police,

25 you were intimidated by people working for Jeffrey
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2 Epstein?

3 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

4 foundation.

5 THE WITNESS: Yes.

6 MR. EDWARDS: All right. I don't have

7 anything further for you. I apologize that we
8 even had to go through this, all right?

9 THE WITNESS: Okay.

10 EXAMINATTION

11 BY MR. PAGLIUCA:

12 Q. B oy neve is Jeff Pagluica. T

13 live in Denver, Colorado. And, like you, I don't

14 want to be here today either, okay? I would rather

15 be in Denver.

16 I just want to -- as I understand it, and
17 I'm not trying to get into any of your treatment

18 over the last, let's say, 10 years, because I don't
19 know how long it's been, but as I understand what

20 you and your lawyer have said here today, you have
21 been involved in some number of years of therapy, in
22 which the purpose -- part of the purpose of the

23 therapy has been to forget all of these events that
24 Mr. Edwards was asking you questions about; is that

25 correct?
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CERTIFICATE OF OATH
STATE OF FLORIDA )
COUNTY OF MIAMI-DADE )

I, the undersigned authority, certify that
I oc:sonally appeared before me and
was duly sworn.

WITNESS my hand and official seal this
23rd day of June, 2016.

Kelli Ann Willis, RPR, CRR
Notary Public, State of Florida
Commission FF928291, Expires 2-16-20
+ + + ++ 4+ + 4+ + 4+ + 4+ 4+ + 4+ + 4+ +
CERTIFICATE
STATE OF FLORIDA )
COUNTY OF MIAMI-DADE )

I, Kelli Ann Willis, Registered
Professional Reporter and Certified Realtime
Reporter do hereby certify that I was
authorized to and did stenographically report the
foregoing deposition of |} }d qd2 3 JNEEEE that 2
review of the transcript was not requested; and
that the transcript is a true record of my
stenographic notes.

I FURTHER CERTIFY that I am not a
relative, employee, attorney, or counsel of any
of the parties, nor am I a relative or employee of
any of the parties' attorney or counsel connected
with the action, nor am I financially interested
in the action.

Dated this 23rd day of June, 2016.

KELLI ANN WILLIS, RPR, CRR
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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JOSEPH RECAREY - CONFIDENTIAL
Ghislane Maxwell?
A. I wanted to speak with everyone related to

this home, including Ms. Maxwell. My contact was
through Gus, Attorney Gus Fronstin, at the time, who
initially had told me that he would make everyone
available for an interview. And subsequent
conversations later, no one was available for
interview and everybody had an attorney, and I was
not going to be able to speak with them.

Q. Okay. During your investigation, what did
you learn in terms of Ghislane Maxwell's
involvement, if any?

MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
foundation.

THE WITNESS: Ms. Maxwell, during her
research, was found to be Epstein's long-time
friend. During the interviews, Ms. Maxwell was
involved in seeking girls to perform massages
and work at Epstein's home.

MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
foundation.

BY MR. EDWARDS:
Q. Did you interview -- how many girls did

you interview that were sought to give or that
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1 JOSEPH RECAREY - CONFIDENTIAL

2 actually gave massages at Epstein's home?

3 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

4 foundation.

5 BY MR. EDWARDS:

6 Q. Approximately.

7 MR. PAGLIUCA: Same objection.

8 THE WITNESS: I would say approximately
9 30; 30, 33.

10 BY MR. EDWARDS:

11 Q. And of the 30, 33 or so girls, how many
12 had massage experience?

13 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

14 foundation.

15 THE WITNESS: I believe two of them may
16 have been -- two of them.

17 BY MR. EDWARDS:

18 Q. Okay. And as we go through this report,
19 you may remember the names?
20 A. Correct. Let me correct myself. I
21 believe only one had.
22 0. And was that -- was that one of similar

23 age to the other girls?
24 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

25 foundation.
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1 JOSEPH RECAREY - CONFIDENTIAL

2 THE WITNESS: No.

3 BY MR. EDWARDS:

4 Q. Okay. The one with massage experience was
5 older?

6 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

7 foundation.

8 THE WITNESS: Correct.

9 BY MR. EDWARDS:

10 Q. The remainder of the 30 girls that went to
11 this house for the purposes of massage or recruited
12 for massage, is it my understanding that they had no
13 massage experience?

14 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

15 foundation.

16 THE WITNESS: That's correct.

17 BY MR. EDWARDS:

18 Q. And were the majority of those girls that
19 you interviewed over or under the age of 187
20 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
21 foundation.
22 THE WITNESS: The majority were under.
23 BY MR. EDWARDS:
24 Q. And how was it that Mr. Epstein gained

25 access to that number of underaged girls?
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1 JOSEPH RECAREY - CONFIDENTIAL

2 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

3 foundation.

4 THE WITNESS: Each of the victims that
5 went to the home were asked to bring their

6 friends to the home. Some complied and some
7 didn't.

8 BY MR. EDWARDS:
9 Q. Okay. So the victim would come to the
10 home and could give a massage and get paid for it;

11 is that right?

12 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
13 foundation.
14 THE WITNESS: Correct.

15 BY MR. EDWARDS:
16 0. And at the end of that massage, if that

17 victim brought other friends, she would get paid for

18 the recruitment of those friends?

19 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
20 foundation.

21 THE WITNESS: Correct.

22 BY MR. EDWARDS:
23 Q. Additionally, did your investigation
24 reveal that the assistants of Jeffrey Epstein would

25 call and set up for these girls to come over to the
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JOSEPH RECAREY - CONFIDENTIAL
house for the massages?
MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
foundation.
THE WITNESS: Correct.
BY MR. EDWARDS:
Q. And, as well, certain people that were

friends or girlfriends or assistants of Jeffrey
Epstein would recruit girls under the pretense of
giving a massage-?
MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
foundation.
THE WITNESS: Correct.
BY MR. EDWARDS:

Q. Is that what your investigation revealed
in terms of the system of getting these girls over
to the house?

MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
foundation.
THE WITNESS: Yes.
BY MR. EDWARDS:

Q. Okay. Talking about the massages, when --
when these -- the various girls that you interviewed
described the massages, was there a pattern of what

occurred during these massages?
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JOSEPH RECAREY - CONFIDENTIAL
MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
foundation.
THE WITNESS: Yes, there was.
BY MR. EDWARDS:
Q. Okay. Describe for us what the pattern

was that was told to you by the 30 or so girls that
you interviewed?

MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
foundation.

THE WITNESS: Initially, when the -- when
the victims would come into the home and were
brought upstairs to provide the massage,
Epstein would lay on his massage table, where
they would start to rub his back and the back
of his legs.

Epstein would either attempt to fondle the
girls or touch the girls inappropriately, and
at which point he would masturbate. And when
he was done, he would get up and go wash off
while the girls would get dressed and go back
downstairs and get paid.

BY MR. EDWARDS:
Q. Okay. So did you determine that "massage"

was actually a code word for something else?
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2 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
3 foundation.
4 THE WITNESS: When they went to perform a
5 massage, it was for sexual gratification.
6 BY MR. EDWARDS:
7 Q. And when the assistants would call and ask
8 these girls to work, did you learn what the term
9 "work" meant with respect to these girls coming to

10 the house?

11 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

12 foundation.

13 THE WITNESS: "Work" meant to come and
14 provide Epstein a massage.

15 BY MR. EDWARDS:

16 0. And massage —-- how often would these

17 massages, based upon your investigation, turn into
18 something sexual?

19 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

20 foundation.

21 THE WITNESS: During the investigation, it
22 was determined that he would have multiple

23 massages during the day. He would have some in
24 the morning and some in the afternoon,

25 sometimes into the evening. So he would
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JOSEPH RECAREY - CONFIDENTIAL
BY MR. EDWARDS:

0. All right.

And so when you went to speak with the
victims, what did these victims say about their
experience with Jeffrey Epstein?

MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

foundation.

THE WITNESS: Once they were recruited,
they were brought to the home. They were to
provide a massage.

Some of the victims did not want to be
touched; some of the victims did not want to
partake in that. So it was -- I believe for --
for a couple of them it was only a one-shot
deal, but others continued to come.

BY MR. EDWARDS:

Q. Okay. And as you interviewed some of
those victims, did you learn that some of those
victims also brought additional girls?

MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
foundation.

THE WITNESS: That's correct.

BY MR. EDWARDS:

Q. So as you were investigating this case, as

MAGNA®

LEGAL SERVICES




Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-11 Filed 01/04/24 Page 11 of 18

Page 51

1 JOSEPH RECAREY - CONFIDENTIAL

2 part of your investigation, you're learning

3 information from these victims and then going to

4 talk to the next person down the line, if you will?

MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

foundation.

~ o O

THE WITNESS: Correct.

8 BY MR. EDWARDS:

9 Q. And what is the purpose of that?

10 A. To identify further victims and acquire
11 additional information.

12 Q. And in doing that, were you able to

13 corroborate the accuracy of what the first victim

14 told you?

15 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
16 foundation.
17 THE WITNESS: Correct.

18 BY MR. EDWARDS:

19 Q. Okay. And did you learn of Sarah Kellen's
20 involvement with respect to the various girls?

21 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

22 foundation.

23 THE WITNESS: Yes.

24 BY MR. EDWARDS:

25 0. What was her role?
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JOSEPH RECAREY - CONFIDENTIAL
MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
foundation.
THE WITNESS: That is correct.
BY MR. EDWARDS:
0. And did you turn all of your files over to
either the State Attorney's Office or the FBI?
A. That is correct.
Q. And through the State Attorney's Office,

was the information contained within the probable
cause affidavit and the incident reports a publicly
available document?
MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
foundation.
THE WITNESS: Yes.
BY MR. EDWARDS:
0. And around the time of your
investigation -- around the time you ended your
investigation and thereafter, were various newspaper

articles written about the substance of some of your

investigation?
A. Yes.
Q. Did it become well known to the public

that Jeffrey Epstein had recruited high school girls

to his house for the purpose of some sexually
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1 JOSEPH RECAREY - CONFIDENTIAL

2 involved massage?

3 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

4 foundation.

5 THE WITNESS: That is correct.

6 BY MR. EDWARDS:

7 Q. And, in fact, haven't you read many of

8 these newspaper articles?

9 A. That is correct.

10 0. That was not a hidden secret from the

11 public beginning in 2006, right?

12 A. No.

13 Q. And from your overall investigation, kind
14 of just a big picture, what was the criminal

15 activity, as specific as you can, that you learned
16 that Jeffrey Epstein and others were involved in?
17 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

18 foundation.

19 THE WITNESS: It was sexual battery and
20 lewd and lascivious conduct for under the age
21 of 16.

22 BY MR. EDWARDS:
23 Q. And what was the specific system of
24 engaging in this type of activity?

25 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
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foundation.
THE WITNESS: As to --
BY MR. EDWARDS:
Q. From the recruitment to the: How did you

get them, what did you do, how did you keep it

going?
A. Once the --
MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
foundation. Sorry.

THE WITNESS: No, no.

As it became known to us that the victim
was recruited, brought to the home, provided
the massage, was paid, whether there was
inappropriate touching, whether there was
sexual activity, whether there was actually
intercourse, all of that was documented and was
asked whether they brought anyone to the home,
whether they had any formal training in massage
therapy, and once -- once additional victims
were identified, we continued the same -- the
same method of investigation.

BY MR. EDWARDS:
Q. Okay. And one of the earliest victims, in

terms of the chronology of this pyramid of girls,

MAGNA®

LEGAL SERVICES




Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-11 Filed 01/04/24 Page 15 of 18

Sw N

~ o O

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 93
JOSEPH RECAREY - CONFIDENTIAL
for lack a better word -- you understand what I mean
by that, right?

MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
foundation.

THE WITNESS: Yes.

BY MR. EDWARDS:

0. That there's —-- there's -- one of the
earliest victims that you interviewed was Haley
Robson; is that right?

MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
foundation.

THE WITNESS: It was actually SG, I think
was the first one that was interviewed, and
then HR was the one I interviewed.

BY MR. EDWARDS:

Q. Okay. My question was bad.

I know that the first person interviewed
that kind of kicked off the investigation was SG,
but -- and just to create a picture of what we have
here, this is, and tell me if I characterized it
wrong, a scheme that Jeffrey Epstein engaged in by
using assistants to recruit girls, right?

A. Correct.

0. Under the --
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2 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

3 foundation.

4 BY MR. EDWARDS:

5 Q. Under the pretense of giving a massage?

6 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

7 foundation.

8 THE WITNESS: Correct. Either a message
9 and/or become a model for Victoria's Secrets
10 and/or connections.

11 BY MR. EDWARDS:

12 Q. And when he was able to get these girls to
13 his home, he would then offer them money to also

14 become recruiters for him?

15 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

16 foundation.

17 THE WITNESS: Correct.

18 BY MR. EDWARDS:

19 Q. And that created this -- if you've mapped
20 it out, kind of a spider web or a pyramid of girls

21 bringing girls to Jeffrey Epstein's house?
22 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
23 foundation.

24 BY MR. EDWARDS:

25 Q. Right?

MAGNA®
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2 A. Correct.

3 0. All right.

4 So when I say one of the first, I mean on

5 the top of the pyramid one of the earliest people
6 that you interviewed that brought girls to Jeffrey
7 Fpstein's house was HR?

8 A. Correct.

9 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
10 foundation.

11 BY MR. EDWARDS:
12 Q. And I think that you testified that Molly
13 and Tony drove HR to Jeffrey Epstein's house the

14 first time, right?

15 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and
16 foundation.
17 THE WITNESS: Correct.

18 BY MR. EDWARDS:
19 Q. Did you ever trace all the way up to the

20 highest level to determine who was it that started

21 this particular chain of Palm Beach girls coming

22 over to Jeffrey Epstein's home?

23 MR. PAGLIUCA: Object to form and

24 foundation.

25 THE WITNESS: I did not. Basically, when
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Page 363
2 AFFIDAVIT
3 STATE OF FLORIDA )
COUNTY OF )
4
5
I, , being first
6 duly sworn, do hereby acknowledge that I did
read a true and certified copy of my deposition
7 which was taken in the case of GIUFFRE V.
MAXWELL, taken on the 24th day of September,
8 2016, and the corrections I desire to make are
as indicated on the attached Errata Sheet.
9
10 CERTIFICATE
11
12 STATE OF FLORIDA )
COUNTY OF )
13
14
Before me personally appeared
15 ’
to me well known / known to me to be the
16 person described in and who executed the
foregoing instrument and acknowledged to and
17 before me that he executed the said instrument
in the capacity and for the purpose therein
18 expressed.
19
20 Witness my hand and official seal, this
day of ’
21
22
23
(Notary Public)
24

25 My Commission Expires:
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

Civil Action No. 15-cv-07433-RWS

CONFIDENTIAL DEPOSITION OF DR. STEVEN W. OLSON
May 26, 2016

VIRGINIA L. GIUFFRE,
Plaintiff,

7,

GHISLAINE MAXWELL,

Defendant.

APPEARANCES :

S.J. QUINNEY COLLEGE OF LAW, UNIVERSITY OF UTAH
By Paul G. Cassell, Esqg.
383 S. University Street
Salt Lake City, UT 84112
Phone: 801.585.5202
Cassellp@law.utah.edu
Appearing on behalf of the
Plaintiff

HADDON, MORGAN AND FORMAN, P.C.
By Laura A. Menninger, Esq.

150 East 10th Avenue
Denver, CO 80203
Phone: 303.831.7364
lmenninger@hmflaw.com
Appearing on behalf of the
Defendant
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Pursuant to Subpoena, Notice and the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the DEPOSITION OF
DR. STEVEN W. OLSON, called by Defendant, was taken
on Thursday, May 26, 2016, commencing at 8:54 a.m.,
at 150 East 10th Avenue, Denver, Colorado, before
Kelly A. Mackereth, Certified Shorthand Reporter,
Registered Professional Reporter, Certified Realtime

Reporter and Notary Public within Colorado.
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Q All right. Do you know how you came to be
the doctor for Virginia Giuffre?
A No. I -- she would have filled out a new

patient packet and showed up for a new patient

appointment for a particular reason. I reviewed it.
Q Do you know where that new patient packet
18 now?
A It's going to be scanned in the computer.

If you don't have it, I brought my computer. I can
probably scan it and print it out or just print it
out.

Q Is that among the documents that you have
next to you?

A The new patient packet isn't here, but I
have it -- I should have it on my computer. I could
probably log in and print it, to be honest. It
wouldn't be that hard. I assumed that the hospital
is taking care of all the documentation that was

requested. So I didn't actually bring it.

@) I understand.

A I actually have it, happen to have it with
me.

Q All right. Why don't we -- we can

STEVEN W OLSON 5/26/2016
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probably do that when we take a break in just a few
minutes, and I can tell you how to get on the
Internet and we'll see if that works.

A Um-hum.

Q Do you know how many times that you saw
Virginia Giuffre?

A Onge .

Q Do you know whether she was referred to

you by another doctor?

A No.
Q Do you mean no, you don't know or --
A I have no idea. I have no idea. I don't

know why she would have been referred. Most the time

people are referring out.

Q Right.

A They don't refer back to a general
practitioner.

Q No one ever refers anyone to you?

A It generally goes the other direction.

Well, other patients might refer people to me, and
that happens, but --

0 Okay. Do you know if you treat
Ms. Giuffre's children in your practice?

A Not that I'm aware of.

Q Do you know a woman by the name of Lynn

STEVEN W OLSON 5/26/2016
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Miller?

A I know several Millers.

Q Who works at Saint Thomas More Hospital?

A I think so, yeah. That sounds familiar,
yeah.

Q Do you know her professionally?

A Not really.

0 Okay.

A I mean, her name sounds familiar.

Q Do you know of any connection between Lynn

Miller and Virginia Giuffre?
A None. I have met Virginia once. I only
saw her once, a year ago. That's the extent of my --
Q Have you ever read any media reports about

Ms. Giuffre?

A No. No, I haven't. I don't know anything
about it.

Q Okay. Do you know how long --

A She -- I believe she mentioned that it was
some kind of -- mentioned something about being a

famous sexual abuse something.

Q You haven't read any of the reports?
A I have no idea.
Q Okay. I'm just trying to establish your

sources information.

STEVEN W OLSON 5/26/2016
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A Yeah.
Q So if you had information about

Ms. Giuffre, other than your visit --

A Yeah.

Q -- do you know another source?

A No.

Q From family members?

A No.

Q From community members, anything?

A Nothing.

o) Do you know how long your visit with her
lasted?

A It -- sometimes I document time spent, but
not always. I mean, it's not important. They're

half-hour visits typically. It would have been a
half hour or less, I would expect.

Q All right. Before looking at your
records, 1s there anything about Ms. Giuffre that you
recall just from the top of your head?

I understand you see many, many patients
and this was a year ago. So you tell me.

A Nothing. I saw her once. And when I went
back and read the note, I went, Oh, yeah, I remember
someone mentioning about being in a sexual abuse
trial or something, some kind of sexual abuse thing.

STEVEN W OLSON 5/26/2016
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Q That's the only unusual part that stuck
out?
A Yeah, and I don't really remember anything

about her at all, actually, I don't.

@) Do you know what she looks like?

A No, I don't remember. It was one time a
year ago. I don't remember.

Q I understand. Okay. If it's okay with

you, I would like to take a break and see if we can
pull up the other records because I don't want to go

through my questions and then go back and look at

those records. 1I'd rather do it one time.
A Okay.
@) Is that all right?
A Yeah, I'm fine with that.

MS. MENNINGER: All right. Let's go off
the record.

(Recess taken from 9:41 a.m. to
10:07 a.m.)

(Exhibit 4 marked.)

Q (BY MS. MENNINGER) So we're back on the

record. All right.

I'm going to give you a document marked as
Exhibit 4. And I'm going to make a small record
about what just took place off the record, which is

STEVEN W OLSON 5/26/2016
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that you, as I understand it, and tell me if I'm
wrong, have access to medical records from your
office on your laptop, correct?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And you were able to get on your
laptop and print out records related to Ms. Giuffre
that you had on that laptop, correct?

A fey.

Q And we printed that out and made copies
for everyone here, and that's what you see in front
of you as Exhibit 4, correct?

A Yes.

Q We made those printouts on a portable

printer. So they're not the best quality, correct?

A Correct.

Q And some portions are not printing out as
well?

A 1es.

Q And you, I think, would be okay with

sending us a more complete set later?
A res,
Q All right. 1I'm going to take just a
minute to review it.
Can you tell us what the records that you
just printed out in Exhibit 4 represent?

STEVEN W OLSON 5/26/2016
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A Generally it's demographics information
and then a list of medications, a list of surgeries,
a list of family medical history, and then a list of
physical complaints that there's some -- it's called
review of systems, things someone has been feeling
and self-reported in the last two weeks.

0 Okay. So is this typically -- is this
patient information document typically in the

patient's handwriting?

A Yesg.

Q And I presume you don't know Ms. Giuffre's
handwriting?

A No.

Q But it's a practice to ask the patient to

fill these forms out?

A Yes, and then have it there before their
appointment.
Q All right. So if I see the date reflected

on the top of the first page as May 21st, 2015 --

A Um-hum.

Q -- do you believe that to be the date that

you actually saw Ms. Giuffre?

A Probably, yes.
Q Okay.
A Sometimes people will bring it in early,

STEVEN W OLSON 5/26/2016
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but yeah.

Q Okay. Why don't we go ahead and mark
Exhibit 5, which will be helpful as we're going
through this.

(Exhibit 5 marked.)

Q (BY MS. MENNINGER) And I'm going to ask
you to keep 4 and 5 kind of close by, and we'll talk
about them.

Do you recognize Exhibit 57?
A Yes. That's the visit note.
0 And the visit note of Ms. Giuffre's visit

with you?

A Yes.

Q In your office?

A Yes.

0 And after looking at Exhibit 5, can you

tell what date it is that you actually saw
Ms. Giuffre?
A 5/21/2015.
Q Okay. 1Is that also the same date as the

patient intake form --

A ¥es.

@) -- in Exhibit 47

A res.,

Q All right. Do you recall whether you

STEVEN W OLSON 5/26/2016
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STATE OF COLORADO)
) ss. REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE
COUNTY OF DENVER )

I, Kelly A. Mackereth, do hereby certify
that I am a Registered Professional Reporter and
Notary Public within the State of Colorado; that
previous to the commencement of the examination, the
deponent was duly sworn to testify to the truth.

I further certify that this deposition was
taken in shorthand by me at the time and place herein
set forth, that it was thereafter reduced to
typewritten form, and that the foregoing constitutes
a true and correct transcript.

I further certify that I am not related to,
employed by, nor of counsel for any of the parties or
attorneys herein, nor otherwise interested in the
result of the within action.

In witness whereof, I have affixed my
signature this 31st day of May, 2016.

My commission expires April 21, 2019.

Kelly A. Mackereth, CRR, RPR, CSR
216 - 1l6th Street, Suite 600
Denver, Colorado 80202
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AGREN BLANDO COURT REPORTING & VIDEO, INC.
216 - 16th Street, Suite 600

Denver, Colorado 80202

4450 Arapahoe Avenue, Suite 100

Boulder, Colorado 80303

DR. STEVEN W. OLSON
May 26, 2016
Giuffre v. Maxwell
Case No. 15-¢cv-07433-RWS

The original deposition was filed with
Laura Menninger, Esqg., on approximately the
31st day of May, 2016.

XXX Signature waived.

Unsigned; signed signature page and
amendment sheets, if any, to be filed at
trial.

Reading and signing not requested pursuant
to C.R.C.P. Rule 30(e).

Unsigned; amendment sheets and/or signature
pages should be forwarded to Agren Blando to

be filed in the envelope attached to the
sealed original.

Thank you.
AGREN BLANDO COURT REPORTING & VIDEO, INC.

cc: All Counsel
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Meredith Schultz

From: Bernadette Martin <bernadette@mbe-accounting.com.au>
Sent: Monday, June 27, 2016 10:33 PM

To: Meredith Schultz

Subject: Virginia Giuffre

Dear Sir/Madam
Ms Judith A Lightfoot has requested | forward this to you:

This will serve to advise all records of a psychological nature have been presented.
Judith A Lightfoot

Consulting Psychologist

28 June 2016

Kind Regards
Bernadette Martin
Ph: 02 43533630

Fax: 02 43533629
Bernadette @mbe-accounting.com.au

Suite 1g

154-156 Pacific Highway
TUGGERAH 2259

PO Box 3435, TUGGERAH 2259

This email message and any accompanying attachments may contain information this is confidential and is subject to
legal privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, do not read, use, disseminate, distribute or copy this message or
attachments. If you have received this message in error, please notify the sender immediately and delete this message
together with any attachments.

GIUFFRE006636
CONFIDENTIAL
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United States District Court
Southern District of New York

Virginia L. Giuffre,

Plaintiff, Case No.: 15-cv-07433-RWS
V.
Ghislaine Maxwell,

Defendant.

PLAINTIFF’S CORRECTED' RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S
MOTION FOR DEFENDANT’S RULE 37(b) &(¢) SANCTIONS FOR FAILURE TO
COMPLY WITH COURT ORDER AND FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH RULE 26(a)

" Due to inadvertence, one of the medical providers Ms. Giuffre disclosed to Defendant, and
from whom she diligently sought medical records as far back as March of this year, Dr. Mona
Devanesan, was left off of Ms. Giuffre’s medical provider chart. It has been added in this version
of the brief for increased accuracy. There are no other changes.
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INTRODUCTION

As more and more witnesses come forward testifying about Defendant’s involvement in
the sexual abuse of young girls, Defendant’s discovery arguments have become more removed
from the merits of this case and increasingly strident in their tone. The latest example of this
genre is the instant motion in which the Defendant boldly proclaims that Ms. Giuffre is “playing
a game of catch and release” by deliberately “withholding information” regarding her medical
care. Yet the basis for these strong charges turns out to be nothing more than the fact that, when
asked to produce a listing of medical care providers that Ms. Giuffre has seen in the last
seventeen years — during a period of time when she lived in Australia, then Florida, then
Colorado, finally returning to Australia — she was unable to recall all of the providers. Ms.
Giuffre and her attorneys have worked diligently to provide this listing to Defendant and, as new
information has become available, or as Ms. Giuffre has been able to recall another provider, the
information has been disclosed. Indeed, Ms. Giuffre signed every medical records release that
Defendant requested. There has been no deliberate “withholding” of information, much less
withholding of information that would warrant the extreme sanction of precluding Ms. Giuffre
from presenting her claims to a jury.

Moreover, this baseless motion for sanctions comes on the heels of disturbing testimony
corroborating what lies at the core of this case —Defendant was involved in facilitating the sexual
abuse of young girls with Jeffrey Epstein. One witness, Rinaldo Rizzo, was in tears as he
recounted Defendant bringing a 15-year-old girl to his employer’s home who, in utmost distress,

told him that Defendant stole the young girl’s passport and tried to make her have sex with
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Epstein, and then threatened her.” Mr. Rizzo also testified that he watched Maxwell direct a
room full of underage girls to kiss, dance, and touch one another in a sexual way for Defendant
and Epstein to watch.” Another witness, Joanna Sjoberg, testified that Defendant recruited her
from her school campus to have sex with Epstein with lies about being her personal assistant.*
Two other witnesses, one an underage victim (] and the other, the police detective
who ultimately ended up investigating Epstein (Detective Joseph Recarey, Retired), gave
testimony about how Epstein used other women to recruit minors to have sex with him.> Most
recently, a witness testified that Defendant would call him and ask him to bring over young girls
that she would provide to Epstein. See McCawley Decl. at Exhibit 9, ROUGH Deposition
Transcript of Tony Figueroa at 162:8-19. It is against this backdrop that Defendant has filed a
motion seeking sanctions. The motion is a transparent effort to deflect attention from the merits
of Ms. Giuffre’s claim by inventing “willful” discovery violations and should be rejected in its
entirety.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

I MEDICAL PROVIDER IDENTITIES
As the Court is aware, Defendant has requested that Ms. Giuffre provide the names and
medical records of every medical provider she has ever had, for any type of treatment, since

1999. This would be no easy task for anyone, and Ms. Giuffre has had many medical providers

? See McCawley Decl. at Exhibit 1, Excerpts from the June 10, 2016 Deposition of Rinaldo
Rizzo.

> Id.

* See McCawley Decl. at Exhibit 2, Excerpts from the May 18, 2016 Deposition of Joanna
Sjoberg.

> See McCawley Decl. at Exhibits 3 and 4, Excerpts from the June 20, 2016 Deposition of
I 2nd Excerpts from the June 21, 2016 Deposition of Joseph Recarey.

2
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in multiple locations. So she and her legal counsel have worked diligently to track them down
through a search that has spanned nearly two decades and two continents.

Ms. Giuffre made her initial disclosures on this subject in an answer to an interrogatory
that she served on April 29, 2016. Ms. Giuffre listed 15 health care providers that she could
recall at the time. Four days later, on May 3, 2016, Defendant deposed Ms. Giuffre. During the
deposition, Ms. Giuffre’s memory was jogged and she was able to recall two additional
providers: Judith Lightfoot and Dr. Christopher Donahue.

Defendant, however, seeks to magnify the innocent recollection of two additional
providers at Ms. Giuffre’ deposition by misleadingly claiming that “[i]t is only through
deposition testimony that Ms. Maxwell became aware of at least five - if not more - treating
health care physicians.” (Mtn. at 1). This claim, too, is inaccurate. Beyond Ms. Lightfoot and
Dr. Donahue, Defendant apparently adds to the list of “withheld” doctors by referring to treating
physicians who cared for Ms. Giuffre on a one-off basis in the Emergency Room. It is
unsurprising that a patient would have trouble remembering an emergency room physician’s
name. But the real point here is that, in any event, the information was disclosed through
documents produced, so there is absolutely no “failure to disclose” as Defendant wrongfully
alleges. See Centura Health Records (GIUFFRE005498-005569).

Defendant then states that, in her deposition, “Ms. Giuffre claims she was not treated by

any other physicians,” and then states that other records revealed “three additional health care

® Defendant’s argument that Ms. Giuffre was trying to “hide” these providers is illogical and
wholly contradicted by the fact that Ms. Giuffre disclosed these providers. Defendant never
explains how Ms. Giuffre can be “hiding” providers while testifying about them and producing
their records.
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professionals who treated Plaintiff, including Dr. Scott Robert Geiger, Dr. Joseph Heaney,” and

Donna Oliver P.A.” (Mtn. at 4, emphasis original). | NN

Defendant is trying to make it seem as if Ms. Giuffre deliberately hid the names of
treating physicians in the Emergency Room. As stated above, Ms. Giuffre produced these
records so she is clearly not hiding anything. Not learning, not knowing, or not remembering off
the top of one’s head the names of Emergency Room staff encountered during a medical

emergency is not only unsurprising and understandable, but is also not a discovery violation.

Here, Defendant attempts to make something out of nothing. This is particularly true as
Ms. Giuffre made these records available to Defendant. As evidenced by the details recounted
in Defendant’s brief, Ms. Giuffre produced these Emergency Room records to Defendant, and

therefore, she is wholly compliant in her discovery obligations.®

¥ Indeed, Ms. Giuffre did not merely sign releases for the release of these records, but Ms.
Giuffre’s counsel spent considerable time and effort in attempts to procure these records for
Defendant, as detailed in Ms. Giuffre’s counsel’s correspondence. See McCawley Decl. at
Composite Exhibit 5, May 2016 Emails from Meredith Schultz to Laura Menninger.

4
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Additionally, Defendant’s motion lists 15 providers’ Ms. Giuffre gave to Defendants in
her interrogatories (Mtn. at 3), but then states that “Plaintiff failed therein to identify any
treatment providers prior to the alleged defamation, despite the Court’s order concerning 1999-
2015.” (Mtn. at 4). This statement, too, is wildly incorrect. Of the list of 15 providers, the
overwhelming majority of them are providers “prior to the alleged defamation.”'® For example,
Ms. Giuffre produced records from N.Y. Presbyterian Hospital. (GIUFFRE003258-3290). Not
only do the dates on the records (e.g., July 9, 2001) demonstrate they are prior to the defamation,
but Defendant has independent knowledge that this provider pre-dates Defendant’s defamation.
Indeed, Defendant is the one who brought her to that hospital, while she was a minor.
Therefore, Defendant’s statement in her brief that “Plaintiff failed therein to identify any
treatment providers prior to the alleged defamation, despite the Court’s order concerning 1999-
2015” (Mtn. at 4) is inaccurate.

Defendant continues with another misleading statement: “As of today’s date . . . and 10
days before the end of fact discovery in this case, Ms. Maxwell has learned of at least five
additional doctors” (Mtn. at 5), and then, again, names Ms. Lightfoot, Dr. Geiger, Dr. Heaney,
Donna Oliver P.A., and Dr. Streeter. Defendant did not learn of these providers 10 days prior to

the close of discovery, but much earlier, as the previous page of Defendant’s brief recounts.

? (1) Dr. Steven Olson; (2) Dr. Chris Donahue; (3) Dr. John Harris; (4) Dr. Majaliyana; (5) Dr.
Wah Wah; (6) Dr. Sellathuri; (7) Royal Oaks Medical Center; (8) Dr. Carol Hayek; (9) NY
Presbyterian Hospital; (10) Campbelltown Hospital; (11) SydneyWest Hospital; (12) Westmead
Hospital; (13) Dr. Karen Kutikoff; (14) Wellington Imaging Associates; (15) Growing Together.

' Providers from that list that treated Ms. Giuffre prior to Defendant’s defamation include: (1)
Dr. John Harris; (2) Dr. Majaliyana; (3) Dr. Majaliyana; (4) Dr. Wah Wabh; (5) Dr. Sellathrui; (6)
Royal Oaks Medical Center; (7) Dr. Carol Hayek; (8) NY Presbyterian Hospital; (9) Sydney
West Hospital; (10) Westmead Hospital; (12) Wellington Imaging Associates; (13) Growing
Together.
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Defendant’s next statement is equally misleading “documents relating to these doctors
were not provided until after their identities became known through deposition or other
independent investigation by Ms. Maxwell.” (Mtn. at 5). Their identities became known to
Defendant because Ms. Giuffre disclosed the name of Ms. Lightfoot in her deposition, and
because Ms. Giuffre herself produced emergency room records to Defendant — documents
bearing the names of the other providers. Accordingly, these five additional names were
provided to Defendant by Ms. Giuffre herself, through (1) ker deposition testimony; and (2) her
document production.

Defendant is now asking this Court to enter extraordinary sanctions because those names
were not provided in response to an interrogatory, but, instead, were provided through Ms.
Giuffre’s testimony and Ms. Giuffire’s document production. This is an improper request. It is
unsurprising that Defendant cannot cite to a single case in which any type of sanctions were
awarded under even remotely similar circumstances. Indeed, the purpose of the various aspects
of discovery provided by Rule 26(a)(5), Fed. R. Civ. P., is to provide more fulsome information.
C.f. In re Dana Corp., 574 F.3d 129, 150 (2d Cir. 2009) (“the various discovery methods are
more complementary than fungible). Here, Ms. Giuffre provided her medical information
through interrogatory response, through testimony, and through document production. Ms.
Giuffre has met her obligation under both this Court’s Order and Rule 26. There has been no
failure to disclose: Ms. Giuffre provided the names and testified about her treatment.
Accordingly, this motion should be denied in its entirety.

II. MEDICAL RECORDS
Defendant states that Plaintiff has failed to produce any records from (a) Dr. Donahue,

(b) Dr. Hayek, (c) Dr. Kutikoff, (d) Wellington Imaging Assocs., (€) Growing Together, (f) post
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2011 records from Ms. Lightfoot, and (g) the remaining documents for treatment by Dr. Olson.

(Mtn. at 5). This is also incorrect. There has been no “failure,” as discussed, in turn, below.

Moreover, if records from any providers have not been produced, it is not Ms. Giuffre’s

“failure,” but rather, the failure of the providers, particularly as Ms. Giuffre has executed releases

for her records from all these providers. Ms. Giuffre and her counsel have been diligent in

compiling nearly two decades of medical records from various states and countries. The chart

below provides an overview the efforts undertaken by Ms. Giuffre and the production to

Defendant as a result.

MEDICAL HEALTHCARE ACTION
PROVIDER PROVIDED TAKEN REESEIGTUREREL RO UG O
Giuffre 005342-005346 St. Thomas More
Dr. Olsen Primarv Care Phvsician i/e%[{[if Hospital Records (Dr. Olsen)
FOse aryate Hysicla Roauos | Giuffre 005492005496 St. Thomas More
d Hospital Records (Dr. Olsen)
5/23/16 Giuffre 005498 Centura Health Release
Centura ] - Form (All Medical Records)
Health ] Request Giuffre 005501-005569 Responsive
q Records (Centura Health)
3/8/16 Ltr
Dr. Carol S Request Giuffre and counsel contacted physician’s
Psychiatrist 4/28/16 . .
Hayek Lir office via telephone and email to follow up.
Request
prChry I HSMO LI | i thve 006631-006635 (Dr. Donahue)
Donahue Request
I
I
— I Giuffre 005315 005322 The Entrance
Hz‘rri(; /]r)1r I 4/5/16 Ltr | Medical Centre
Maili ana; I Request (Dr. John Harris and Dr. Darshanee
Iy I Mahaliyana)
.
I
[
4/5/16 Ltr | Giuffre 005339 005341 Central Coast
Dr. Wah Wah | - Request Family Medicine (Dr. Wah Wah)
Dr. Sellathuri | IEGEG— ‘1‘{/5/ 0Lt | 4 five 005089 005091 (“Dr. M. Sella”)
— equest
Royal Oaks Has no treatment records 4/5/16 Ltr | Giuffre 005347 005349 Royal Oaks
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MEDICAL HEALTHCARE ACTION
PROVIDER PROVIDED TAKEN RELATED GIUFFRE PRODUCTION
Medical Request Medical Center’s Response (No Records)
Center
NY — .
. Giuffre 003258 003290 New York
Presbyterian | | Produced Presbvterian Hosital
Hospital I - P
Campbelltown | N Giuffre 003193 003241 Camselltown
Hospital/ I Produced Hospital/Camden Hospital (Dr. Elbeaini)
Sydney West | I Giuffre 003242 003257 Macarthur Health
Hospital [ ] Service (Dr. Elbeaini)
Sydney West
Hospital / I Giuffre 003291-003298 Sydney
Westmead [ ] Eroduced West/Westmead Hospital
Hospital
Release
Dr. Karen forowded 04/29/16 Sent via e-mail signed release to
Kutikoff Defendant Menninger (obtain records directly).
’s Counsel
Release
Welh.ngton Ronded 04/29/16 Sent via e-mail signed release to
Imaging g Menninger (obtain records directly)
Associates Defendant ¥)-
’s Counsel
Release
: Provided : —
Growing to 04/29/16 Sent via e-mail signed release to
Together Defendant Menninger (obtain records directly).
’s Counsel
Giuffre 005431-005438 Medical Release
Ms. Judith Psvchologists 5/4/16 Ltr | Form with documents (Ms. Lightfoot)
Lightfoot Y g Request Giuffre 006636 Correspondence stating no
further records available.
3/28/16 Evidence of efforts to obtain records and of
Devanesan Ltr Dr. Devanesan’s retirement were produced
v L Request | as GIUFFRE005335-5338.
ER Giuffre 005498-005569 Centura Health
Dr. Scott I - cal Rel
e i) Treat.lr{g Medical Release Form
| Physician | (Requested Entire Medical Record)
ER Giuffre 005498-005569 Centura Health
Dr. Joseph I - Medical Release F
Heaney Treat'm.g edical Release Form
. Physician | (Requested Entire Medical Record)
ER
. Treating Giuffre 005498-005569 Centura Health
Donna Oliver, | | - -
PA Physician | Medical Release Form
______________ Referral (Requested Entire Medical Record)
ENT

8
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MEDICAL HEALTHCARE ACTION
PROVIDER PROVIDED TAKEN RELATED GIUFFRE PRODUCTION
. ER Giuffre 005498-005569 Centura Health
Dr. Michele | - -
Strester Treat'lr%g Medical Release Form
| Physician | (Requested Entire Medical Record)

Accordingly, as the Court can see with reference to the Bates labels in the above chart, Ms.
Giuffre has be compliant in producing her medical records. Indeed, she has signed releases for
all records requested by Defendant, and has produced all records released by the providers. In
addition to signing all releases for medical providers requested by Defendant, the work
associated with compiling the records and following up with providers (as shown by the above
chart) clearly demonstrates Ms. Giuffre’s good faith and persistence in her deliberate and
thorough pursuit of providing Defendant with her medical records. That is reason alone to deny
Defendant’s unsupported request for sanctions.

A. Dr. Donahue

Plaintiff dutifully signed a release for medical records and provided it to Dr. Donahue on
April 5, 2016, and sent a copy to the Defendant so counsel was on notice of the efforts being
taken to secure medical records. See McCawley Decl. at Composite Exhibit 6, Dr. Donahue
letter and Release Form. Ms. Giuffre’s counsel has received records from Dr. Donahue since the
Defendant filed the instant motion, and immediately provided those records to Defendant. See
chart above, GIUFFRE00006631-006635.

B. Dr. Hayek

Dr. Hayek treated Ms. Giuffre over seven years ago. Ms. Giuffre signed a release form
for Dr. Hayek’s records, sent the release form on March 8, 2016, and provided a copy of the

form to Defendant. Having not received any records, the undersigned sent a follow-up letter to
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Dr. Hayek on April 28, 2016, to request the records. Upon information and belief, Dr. Hayek
does not keep patient’s medical records for longer than seven years, and, therefore, no longer has
any records pertaining to Ms. Giuffre. Ms. Giuffre and her counsel have made inquiries to Dr.
Hayek’s office via telephone and email, but, to date, have not received any response. Again, Ms.
Giuffre has no input on Dr. Hayek’s document retention policies, and therefore, the lack of
production of records from Dr. Hayek cannot be attributed to Ms. Giuffre.

C. Dr. Kutikoff, Wellington Imaging Associates (‘“Wellington Imaging”) , and
Growing Together

Plaintiff provided Defendant’s counsel executed medical release forms for Dr. Kutikoff,
Wellington Imaging, and Growing Together on April 29, 2016. See McCawley Decl. at
Composite Exhibit 7. Accordingly, Ms. Giuffre has no direct knowledge as to what, if anything,
these three providers produced to Defendant’s counsel. Ms. Giuffre has done everything in her
power to make them available to Defendant, a fact that Defendant cannot dispute. Again, there
has been no “failure” by Ms. Giuffre here, as Ms. Giuffre has signed and sent the necessary
release forms for the records o be sent directly to Defendant."'

D. Ms. Lightfoot

Defendant admits that Ms. Giuffre produced Ms. Lightfoot’s records in footnote 4 of her
brief on page 11, yet on page 16, Defendant wrongfully states Plaintiff has not produced Dr.
Lightfoot’s records. Despite the self-contradictory briefing, Ms. Lightfoot has produced records.
See chart above, Giuffre005431-005438, Medical Release Form with documents. As with the
other providers, Ms. Giuffre has executed and sent medical records release forms to Ms.

Lightfoot, and has thus met her discovery obligations. To follow up on Defendant’s wrongful

"' Upon information and belief, Ms. Lightfoot is not a medical doctor, but an Australian
“Consulting Psychologist.”

10



Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-14 Filed 01/04/24 Page 15 of 30

claims that Ms. Giuffre has somehow “withheld” more current records (despite executing a
release for all records); Ms. Giuffre followed up with Ms. Lightfoot, who provided to Ms.
Giuffre’s counsel correspondence stating that she has produced all of Ms. Giuffre’s records (see
chart above, Giuffre006636), thereby indicating that she does not keep more current records.

E. Dr. Olson

Defendant claims that Ms. Giuffre failed to produce “the remaining documents for
treatment by Dr. Olson,” but this is a wild inaccuracy. (And, Ms. Giuffre would refer the Court
to a short excerpt from Dr. Olson’s deposition in which Dr. Olson explains in his own words his
production. See McCawley Decl. at Exhibit 10, Dr. Olson Deposition Excerpt.) First, Ms. Giuffre
signed a release for all records that Dr. Olson had. See McCawley Decl. at Composite Exhibit 6,
March 8, 2016, Release for Dr. Olson records. Dr. Olson produced records Bates labeled
GIUFFRE005342-005346 and GIUFFRE005492-005496. Dr. Olson then testified in his
deposition that he kept a record on his laptop that was not a part of the medical records produced
by his hospital. /d. During the deposition, he printed that record and gave it to Defendant’s
counsel. /d. Now, Defendant’s counsel is claiming that this set of facts constitutes a discovery
violation that warrants sanctions. There is no failure to produce here. Ms. Giuffre executed a
medical release that provided for all of Ms. Giuffre’s medical records with regard to Dr. Olson,
and records were produced. It was Dr. Olson who failed to include his “laptop records” among
the records that were produced.

Ms. Giuffre knew nothing of the “laptop records” until Dr. Olson’s deposition, and Dr.
Olson provided them at that time, a fact Defendant admits in a footnote in her Motion to Reopen
Ms. Giuffre’s Deposition. In that brief, Defendant complains that they were not “produced” until

after Ms. Giuffre was deposed. That is a distortion. Defendant already had such documents from

11
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Dr. Olson himself. Ms. Giuffre included those documents that both sides received in the
deposition as part of her next production, so that they would bear a Bates label for tracking
purposes. It was a formality since both sides already had the record. Defendant states: “Despite
requests, legible copies have not been provided.” Defendant uses the passive voice here,
presumably to avoid making clear the fact that the requests for legible copies would need to be
made to Dr. Olson, who controls the records, not to Ms. Giuffre, who long ago authorized the
release of all records. The existence of a record that a witness failed to produce prior to a
deposition is not a discovery violation from Ms. Giuffre.

III.  MS. GIUFFRE HAS PROVIDED DISCOVERY IN ACCORDANCE WITH HER
DISCOVERY OBLIGATIONS

The fact is that Ms. Giuffre has executed a release form for each and every medical care
provides that Defendant asked for. Defendant cannot contradict this statement. Ms. Giuffre
produced medical records she had in her possession (such as New York Presbyterian records),
early in discovery. From that point, other medical records were sought and obtained, with Ms.
Giuffre facilitating their production from the providers by executing and sending release forms
and paying all applicable fees for their release. Moreover, counsel for Ms. Giuffre has kept
Defendant fully apprised of such efforts, even giving Defendant copies of all releases that have
been issued, and providing updates on Ms. Giuffre’s continued efforts to obtain medical records
beyond signing releases. See McCawley Decl. at Composite Exhibits 5 and 6.

Executing and sending medical release forms to all of the medical providers satisfies Ms.
Giuffre’s discovery obligations with regard to her medical records, and Defendant cannot cite to
a case that states otherwise. See, e.g., Candelaria v. Erickson, 2006 WL 1636817, at *1

(S.D.N.Y. 2006) (requiring the execution of updated medical release forms to satisfy discovery

12
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obligations). The fact that Defendant has presented this weak tea to the Court - concerning the
actions of third-parties Ms. Giuffre does not control - shows just how baseless the motion is.
IV.  DEFENDANT CAN SHOW NO PREJUDICE

Defendant claims to be prejudiced because a small fraction of the medical providers were
revealed at Ms. Giuffre’s deposition, four days after her interrogatory response. This argument
is moot. Ms. Giuffre has agreed to reopen her deposition for Defendant’s questions regarding
those medical providers. Second, Defendant intimates, but does not actually claim, that she
wants to depose Ms. Lightfoot, and states that there is not sufficient time: “arranging for and
taking the deposition of Ms. Lightfoot . . . is nearly impossible,” suggesting to the Court that
there is some prejudice to Defendant there. (Mtn. at 11). However, Defendant’s behavior (and a
close reading of Defendant’s brief) suggests that Defendant doesn’t actually want to depose Ms.
Lightfoot; instead, she just wants to appear to the Court as prejudiced by not taking her
deposition. First, Defendant never noticed her deposition despite knowing her identity for nearly
two months - since May 3, 2016. Second, Defendant is careful not to claim in her brief that she
actually wants to depose Ms. Lightfoot, all the while suggesting that she has suffered some
prejudice with respect to not taking Ms. Lightfoot’s deposition. Defendant’s lack of actual desire

to take her deposition stems from the 2011 records Ms. Lightfoot produced - records predating

Defendant’s defamation by years.
[

I [ his is the reason Defendant is careful not to claim in her brief that she
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actually wanted to depos -G
|
|
|

Defendant’s claims concerning deposing Dr. Donahue are similarly specious. First,
despite knowing about Dr. Donahue since at least April 29, 2016 (a fact she admits in her brief
“Dr. Donahue may have been named” (Mtn. at 16)): Defendant has never issued a Notice of
Deposition for Dr. Donahue. Defendant cannot claim any prejudice with respect to Dr. Donahue.

Additionally, Defendant acts in bad faith when she claims that medical records from Dr.
Donahue were “purposefully hidden by Plaintiff” (Mtn. at 11) when Defendant knows that Ms.
Giuffre executed and sent a medical release for Dr. Donahue on April 5, 2016, for all of his
records. See McCawley Decl. at Composite Exhibit 6, Dr. Donahue Medical Release. As stated
above, this argument is moot because the records concerning Dr. Donahue (and other providers
at his practice) have been produced to Defendant.

Finally, though Ms. Giuffre does not control how quickly providers respond to her
releases (though her counsel has spent considerable time following-up with providers, urging
their speedy release, and paying all applicable fees), Ms. Giuffre has agreed to reopen her
deposition for questions concerning provider records that were produced subsequent to her
deposition. Therefore, Ms. Giuffre has eliminated any prejudice Defendant could claim to suffer
with respect to taking Ms. Giuffre’s deposition. See Giuffre006631-006635.

A factor relevant to the appropriateness of sanctions under Rule 37 for discovery

violations is the “prejudice suffered by the opposing party.” Design Strategy, Inc. v. Davis, 469

14
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F.3d 284, 296 (2d Cir. 2006). Here, Defendant cannot claim any prejudice resulting from her
empty claims of “discovery violations.” Accordingly, sanctions are inappropriate.
V. MS. GIUFFRE HAS BEEN FULLY COMPLIANT IN DISCOVERY

It is the Defendant in this case that has failed to comply with discovery at every turn.
Defendant has refused to produce any documents whatsoever without this Court entering an
Order directing her to do so. The only reason Plaintiff has documents from Defendant at all is
because of this Court’s denial of Defendant’s stay requests and the Court’s rulings on Ms.
Giuftre’s Motion to Compel for Improper Claim of Privilege (wherein Defendant was ordered to
turn over documents that did not even involve communications with counsel) and her Motion to
Compel for Improper Objections. Even then, Defendant’s counsel refused to even take the
routine step of looking at Defendant’s email and other electronic documents to find responsive
documents, but produced, instead, only what Defendant wanted to produce. Ms. Giuffre had to
bring a Motion for Forensic Examination and the Court had to order that Defendant’s counsel
actually produce documents from Defendant’s electronic documents, something that has not yet
been done to date. Indeed, Defendant did not make her initial disclosure until February 24, 2016
several months after the deadline for these disclosures. Additionally, while Ms. Giuffre started
her efforts to take the Defendant’s deposition in February, 2016, Defendant did not actually sit
for her deposition until after being directed to do so by the Court, on April 22, 2016.

Furthermore, during the deposition, Defendant refused to answer a myriad of questions,
and therefore, this Court recently ordered Defendant to sit for her deposition again. See June 20,
2016, Order resolving eight discovery motions entered under seal and granting Plaintiff’s Motion

to Compel Defendant to Answer Deposition Questions (D.E. 143).

15
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Ms. Giuffre has had to litigate, multiple times, for Defendant to make any document
production, and Ms. Giuffre has had to litigate, also multiple times, for Defendant to be deposed.
See Plaintiff’s Response in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Stay Discovery (DE 20);
Plaintiff’s February 26, 2016, Letter Motion to Compel Defendant to Sit for Her Deposition;
Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel Documents Subject to Improper Claim of Privilege (DE 33);
Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel Documents Subject to Improper Objections (DE 35); Plaintiff’s
Response in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion for a Protective Order Regarding Defendant’s
Deposition (DE 70); Plaintiff’s Motion for Forensic Examination (DE 96); Plaintiff’s Motion to
Compel Defendant to Answer Deposition Questions (DE 143). Ms. Giuffre has had to expend
considerable time and resources simply to have Defendant meet her basic discovery obligations
in this case.

Now, having completely stonewalled on discovery, making every produced document
and even her own deposition the result of extensive and unnecessary litigation, taking positions
that are contrary to the Federal Rules and wholly contrary to prevailing case law, Defendant
claims that Ms. Giuffre has been “non-compliant since the outset of discovery.” (Mtn. at 11).
This statement is completely inaccurate.

Defendant makes a number of unsubstantiated claims regarding law enforcement
materials, photographs, and email accounts. Most of these issues have been resolved pursuant to
this Court’s orders. See June 20, 2016, Order entered under seal denying Defendant’s motion to
compel law enforcement materials; June 23, 2016, Minute Entry. Ms. Giuffre merely points out
that Defendant not only failed to review, search, or produce Defendant’s email, from any of her
multiple accounts, but also wholly failed to disclose her terramarproject.org email account or her

ellmax.com email account.
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Regarding photographs, counsel for Ms. Giuffre has gone to considerable expense to
recover boxes that Ms. Giuffre thought may contain photographs, including paying
approximately $600.00 for shipping of the boxes to ensure production of any recent information.
Accordingly, Defendant articulates no legitimate complaint in this section of her brief.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. DEFENDANT CANNOT SHOW NON-COMPLIANCE, AND HAS PUT FORTH
NO COLORABLE LEGAL ARGUMENT FOR SANCTIONS

Sanctions are not appropriate in this case because Defendant cannot show non-
compliance. Through the normal course of discovery, Ms. Giuffre produced her medical
providers to Defendant, as Defendant admits in her moving brief. Defendant’s complaint boils
down to the fact that Ms. Giuffre remembered at deposition two providers (Ms. Lightfoot and Dr.
Donahue) that she did not recall when compiling her long list of providers in response to
Defendant’s interrogatory four days prior. That does not constitute non-compliance. That is not
sanctionable behavior. And, Defendant cannot cite any case in which a court found differently.
Additionally, though Defendant attempts to ascribe blame to Ms. Giuffre for any medical records
that have not been sent by providers (or medical records that may not exist), the uncontested fact
is that Ms. Giuffre has executed releases for all of the providers Defendant requested. Again,
Defendant can point to no case in which sanctions were awarded over medical records where the

party signed all applicable releases. Accordingly, Defendant’s motion should be denied."

'2 What does constitute sanctionable behavior is testimonial obduracy that includes “denying
memory of the events under inquiry,” a tactic Defendant took in response to a multitude of
questions at her deposition, as more fully briefed in Ms. Giuffre’s Motion to Compel Defendant
to Answer Deposition Questions (DE 143), granted by this Court on June 20, 2016. See In re
Weiss, 703 F.2d 653, 663 (S.D.N.Y. 1983) (holding that “the witness's . . . disclaimers of
knowledge or memory, has also been dealt with as contemptuous conduct, warranting sanctions
that were coercive, punitive, or both. It has long been the practice of courts viewing such
testimony as false and intentionally evasive, and as a sham or subterfuge that purposely avoids
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Even Defendant’s own cases cited in her brief are inapposite and do not suggest that
sanctions are appropriate in this case. For example, in Davidson v. Dean, the plaintiff “refused
to consent to the release of mental health records” for periods for which he was seeking damages
and for which the Court ordered him to provide releases. 204 F.R.D. 251, 254 (S.D.N.Y. 2001).
By contrast, Ms. Giuffre has executed each and every release for medical records requested by
Defendant. In In re Payne, Rule 37 sanctions were not even at issue: an attorney was
reprimanded for “default[ing] on scheduling orders in fourteen cases, resulting in their dismissal
... fili[ing] stipulations to withdraw a number of appeals only after his briefing deadlines had
passed,” etc. 707 F.3d 195, 198-99 (2d Cir. 2013). Similarly, in Gurvey v. Cowan, Liebowitz &
Lathman, P.C., 2014 WL 715612, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. 2014), sanctions were awarded because, inter
alia, “my . . . Order explicitly limited discovery to plaintiff's malpractice and breach-of-fiduciary
duty claims . . . However . . . plaintiff has sought discovery of extraordinary breadth that is far
beyond the scope of the two claims . . . [and] disregarded my Order . . . by failing to explain in
writing how each of her discovery requests to CLL is relevant to the remaining claims.”
Accordingly, as stated above, Defendant has not put forth any colorable legal argument for
sanctions under Rule 37.

II. THERE WAS NO INFORMATION “WITHHELD,” AND THEREFORE, NO
PREJUDICE

Defendant cannot be taken seriously when she claims that “Plaintiff is obviously trying to
hide” her treatment related to domestic violence, || NN
I  Given that fact,

Defendant’s incendiary claim defies logic. All these things that Defendant claims were

giving responsive answers, to ignore the form of the response and treat the witness as having
refused to answer.”).
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deliberately “withheld” or “hidden” are things that Ms. Giuffre provided to Defendant in the
normal course of discovery, as described at length above. Defendant cannot claim any prejudice
regarding the manner in which she received this information, and, indeed, does not."
Accordingly, sanctions are wholly inappropriate.

III. MS. GIUFFRE HAS FULFILLED HER REQUIREMENTS REGARDING HER
RULE 26 DISCLOSURES'*!

Regarding Ms. Giuffre’s computation of damages, Ms. Giuffre has pled defamation per
se under New York law, where damages are presumed. Robertson v. Dowbenko, 443 F. App'x
659, 661 (2d Cir. 2011). Plaintiff provided amounts, damage calculations and supporting
evidence required under Rule 26. Plaintiff is retaining experts to support her Rule 26
Disclosures, and expert reports and disclosures are not due at this time. Defendant takes issues
with Ms. Giuffre’s computation of damages in her Rule 26 disclosures but fails to cite to a single
case that requires more from her, let alone more from a Plaintiff claiming defamation per se.
Indeed, the case law supports that Plaintiff has fully complied with her Rule 26 obligations. See
Naylor v. Rotech Healthcare, Inc., 679 F. Supp. 2d 505, 510 (D. Vt. 2009).

In good faith, Ms. Giuffre has produced a multitude of documents and information
regarding her damages. Defendant does not cite to a single case that even suggests she is

required to do more. What Defendant purports to lack is expert discovery and an expert report on

" This is particularly true regarding the timing of Ms. Giuffre’s deposition, as Ms. Giuffre has
agreed to reopen her deposition concerning any medical information that Defendant did not
receive in advance of her deposition.

' Defendant references her Motion to Compel Rule 26(a) disclosures (DE 64) that she filed on
March 22, 2016, but failed to mention that, after a hearing, this Court denied that motion with
leave to refile (DE 106).

' Defendant repeatedly attempts to conflate the required disclosures under Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 26(a) and the disclosures ordered by this Court on April 21, 2016, in an apparent
effort to ‘backdate’ those required disclosures.
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computation of damages. Rule 26(a)(1), governs “initial disclosures,” disclosures to be made at
the beginning of litigation, prior to the completion of expert work. It does not entitle a party to
expert discovery at this stage in the case.

Ms. Giuffre has pleaded and will prove defamation per se, where damages are presumed.
Robertson v. Dowbenko, 443 F. App'x at 661 (“As the district court correctly determined,
Robertson was presumptively entitled to damages because he alleged defamation per se.”).
Under New York law, defamation per se, as alleged in this case, presumes damages, and special
damages do not need to be pled and proven. See Celle v. Filipino Reporter Enters. Inc., 209 F.3d
163, 179 (2d Cir.2000) (Second Circuit holding that “[i]f a statement is defamatory per se, injury
is assumed. In such a case ‘even where the plaintiff can show no actual damages at all, a
plaintiff who has otherwise shown defamation may recover at least nominal damages,’” and
confirming an award of punitive damages) (Emphasis added).

Additionally, Ms. Giuffre has claimed punitive damages for the defamation per se.
“[C]lourts have generally recognized that ... punitive damages are typically not amenable to the
type of disclosures contemplated by Rule 26(a)(1)(A)(iii), and have held that the failure to
disclosure a number or calculation for such damages was substantially justified.” See Murray v.
Miron, 2015 WL 4041340 (D. Conn., July 1, 2015). See also Scheel v. Harris, No. CIV.A. 3:11-
17-DCR, 2012 WL 3879279, at *7 (E.D. Ky. Sept. 6, 2012) (finding that a failure to provide a
precise number or calculation for their punitive damages claim is substantially justified pursuant
to Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(c)(1)).

Accordingly, Ms. Giuffre’s disclosures comply with Rule 26 for the computation of
damages. See Naylor v. Rotech Healthcare, Inc., 679 F. Supp. 2dat 510 (“The Court is skeptical

of the need for so much additional discovery, since the only open issue on the defamation claim
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seems to be damages. Miles’s email itself provides evidence of the statement and publication to
a third party. Damages will depend on [plaintiff] Naylor's testimony and perhaps evidence from
a few other sources, such as Naylor's family and friends, or Streeter [one of defendant’s
clients].”) Ms. Giuffre has provided the calculations evidencing how she arrived at her damage
figures and has provided a myriad of documents upon which she also will rely in proving
damages. This includes supporting documents showing average medical expenses computed by

133

her average life expectancy. “‘[N]on-economic damages based on pain and suffering ... are

generally not amenable to the type of disclosures contemplated by Rule 26(a)(1)(A)(iii).””
Scheel v. Harris, No. CIV.A. 3:11-17-DCR, 2012 WL 3879279, at *7 (E.D. Ky. Sept. 6, 2012)
(holding that plaintiff’s failure to disclose a number or calculation for such damages was

substantially justified).

IV.  THIS COURT SHOULD NOT STRIKE MS. GIUFFRE’S CLAIMS FOR
MEDICAL AND EMOTIONAL DISTRESS DAMAGES

Defendant cites four cases in support of her request for this Court to strike her claims for
medical and emotional distress damages, and each one of them militates against any such relief
being awarded in this case. In the first, Nittolo v. Brand, sanctions were awarded in a personal
injury action because, inter alia, the plaintiff went to his physician and took away his medical
records before defendant had a chance to use the court-ordered release to access them, and the
Court found the plaintiff lied under oath about taking away the records. 96 F.R.D. 672, 673
(S.D.N.Y.1983). By contrast, Ms. Giuffre has signed every medical release form requested by
Defendant and provided all medical records that they yielded.

Defendant’s second case is equally inapposite. In Skywark v. Isaacson, Court found that
the plaintiff “began his pattern of lying about at least three matters of extreme significance to his

claim for damages;” lied to his experts and lied under oath; and “never provided defendants with
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the promised [medical release] authorizations.” 1999 WL 1489038 at *3, *5, *11 (S.D.N.Y. Oct.
14, 1999). The facts could not be more dissimilar to the case at hand, where Ms. Giuffre has
provided truthful testimony regarding her medical history and has executed all medical releases.

Defendant’s third case continues in the same pattern. In /n re Consol. RNC Cases, “all
Plaintiffs either expressly refused to provide mental health treatment records or simply failed to
provide such records during the course of discovery.” 2009 WL 130178, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. §,
2009). Defendant’s fourth case is similarly inapposite by Defendant’s own description, turning
on failure to provide medical releases. (Mtn. at 19).

Importantly, Defendant represents to the Court that she seeks the “sanction of striking the
claim or precluding evidence only on the damages that relate to the withheld documents and
information.” (Mtn. at 19). This is confusing for two reasons. First, Ms. Giuffre has provided
information about the providers that she has knowledge of and has provided releases for their
medical records, so the sanction she seeks could not apply to any of the providers in Defendant’s
brief. Second, there are no “withheld documents.” Ms. Giuffre has not withheld any medical
records, and, indeed, has authorized the release of all records sought by Defendant. Accordingly,
there are no “withheld records” upon which sanctions could be applied. And, again, there has
been no violation of this Court’s Order.

CONCLUSION

Since filing the instant motion for sanctions, two other witnesses - witnesses subpoenaed
by Defendant herself in order to mount her defense - have given testimony to support Ms.

Giuffre. Most recently, Defendant’s witness, Tony Figueroa, testified he witnessed Defendant

22



Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-14 Filed 01/04/24 Page 27 of 30

escort young girls he brought over to Epstein’s home to Epstein for sex acts, and testified that
Defendant called him on the phone, asking him to bring girls over to Epstein’s house.'®

Q And how long would you and one of these other girls sit there and have this small talk
with Ms. Maxwell?

A No more than 10 or 15 minutes.

Q What were you waiting for?

A Pretty much her to take them up stairs then I would leave. I would wait for them to be
like we're ready. And I would be all right. See you later and I would leave.

Q You were waiting for who to take who up stairs?

A T'had seen Ms. Maxwell take a girl up there well not up there visibly but I watched her
leave had room with one.

Q Up stairs?

12 A Well, I didn't see the stairs. Like in the kitchen there's not like you have to go all
around and all that shit.

See McCawley Decl. at Exhibit 9, ROUGH Figueroa Tr. at 156:22-157:14.

Q Let me fix this. Gill when Gillian Maxwell would call you during the time that you

were living with Virginia she would ask you what specifically?

A Just if I had found any ear girls just to bring the Jeffrey.

Q Okay.

A Pretty much everytime a conversation with any of them it was either asking Virginia

where she was ask the asking her to get girls or asking me get girls.
See McCawley Decl. at Exhibit 9, ROUGH Figueroa Tr. at 162:8-19.

Accordingly, at this stage in discovery, it is not just the flight logs showing Defendant
flying with Epstein and Ms. Giuffre over twenty times when she was a minor; it is not just the
message pads from law enforcement’s trash pulls that show Defendant arranging to have an
underage girl come over to Epstein’s house for “training;” it is not just the police report; it is not
just the photographs of Defendant and other men with Ms. Giuffre when she was a minor.

Now, there is actual, live testimonial evidence that Defendant was a procurer of young

girls for sex with Jeffrey Epstein, with whom she shared a home and a life, thus validating Ms.

Giuffre’s claims. Therefore, this baseless motion for sanctions is more a reflection of the

16 See McCawley Decl. at Exhibit 9, Excerpts from the June 24, 2016 ROUGH Deposition
Transcript for the Deposition of Tony Figueroa.
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abundant testimonial evidence condemning Defendant than any type of imagined discovery
violation on behalf of Ms. Giuffre.

Ms. Giuffre respectfully requests that it be denied in its entirety.

Dated: June 28, 2016.
Respectfully Submitted,
BOIES, SCHILLER & FLEXNER LLP

By: /s/ Sigrid McCawley
Sigrid McCawley (Pro Hac Vice)
Meredith Schultz (Pro Hac Vice)
Boies Schiller & Flexner LLP
401 E. Las Olas Blvd., Suite 1200
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
(954) 356-0011

David Boies

Boies Schiller & Flexner LLP
333 Main Street

Armonk, NY 10504

Bradley J. Edwards (Pro Hac Vice)
FARMER, JAFFE, WEISSING,
EDWARDS, FISTOS & LEHRMAN, P.L.
425 North Andrews Avenue, Suite 2

Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301

(954) 524-2820

Paul G. Cassell (Pro Hac Vice)
S.J. Quinney College of Law
University of Utah

383 University St.

Salt Lake City, UT 84112
(801) 585-5202"

'7 This daytime business address is provided for identification and correspondence purposes only
and is not intended to imply institutional endorsement by the University of Utah for this private
representation.
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Defendant Ghislaine Maxwell submits this Reply to Plaintiff’s Opposition (“Response”)
to Motion to Reopen Deposition of Plaintiff (“Motion”), and as grounds therefore states as
follows:

INTRODUCTION!

Plaintiff concedes the reopening of her deposition based on (a) the late production of
records concerning Plaintiff’s medical and mental health treatment, (b) her unjustifiable refusal
to answer questions related to statements the media “got wrong,” (c) material edits to her
deposition testimony through her errata sheet. Plaintiff did not address her newly disclosed
employment records and thus it should be deemed admitted. Apparently, she still contests

questions regarding other items not disclosed until after her deposition, including (a) iCloud and

Hotmail emails, (b) school records from Forest Hills High School, Wellington High School and
Survivors Charter school, and (c) witnesses newly identified in her Third and Fourth Revised
Rule 26 disclosures. There is no legally principled reason to exclude these topics during
Plaintiff’s reopened deposition and Ms. Maxwell should be permitted to examine Plaintiff based
on this information produced affer her deposition although requested before.

The other limitations proposed by Plaintiff are not appropriate. Due to the quantity of
documents and the number of topics, two hours will be insufficient to appropriately inquire.
Moreover, Plaintiff’s deposition should be in person; she chose to move to Australia from
Colorado during the pendency of this case and has been in the US for weeks attending witness
depositions and other litigation matters by her own choosing. Deposition by videoconference

will be extremely cumbersome to accomplish given the hundreds of pages of documents to be

' Defendant conferred with counsel for Plaintiff regarding this Motion prior to its filing. By email of May 8, 2016,
Mr. Pagliuca requested conferral regarding Plaintiff’s refusal to answer questions at her deposition. That conferral
was held on May 9 and May 10. Mr. Edwards offered, for example, to consider whether a verified representation by
Plaintiff all of the statements that the media “got wrong” would suffice instead of a re-opened deposition.

1
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covered and which were necessitated by Plaintiff’s late disclosures and refusal to answer
questions at her first deposition.

ARGUMENT

I PLAINTIFF’S PRODUCTION OF KEY DOCUMENTS AFTER HER
DEPOSITION NECESSITATES ADDITIONAL EXAMINATION

A. Plaintiff failed to identify her health care providers and produce their
records prior to her deposition, despite this Court’s order

Plaintiff concedes that numerous medical records were not produced until after her May

3" deposition, to wit:
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Furthermore, there remain numerous doctors from the relevant time frame for whom no
records have been provided. In addition to all of the treatment providers from 1999-2002, no

records have been provided by Plaintiff for:

Menninger Decl., Ex. O.

Plaintiff, while not opposing the reopening of the deposition for documents produced
after that date, writes to refute supposed “baseless suggestions of impropriety.” Yet, her
Response contains additional impropriety. Plaintiff repeatedly asserts that she 4as produced and
disclosed documents but her chart and her arguments neglect to mention that those documents
were only sought and produced after the deposition, indeed up to and including the very same
day she filed her Response on June 28. Her claim that she could not “remember” Dr. Donohue
or Judith Lightfoot until her deposition is hard to believe given she had consulted with them in
the days and weeks just before her Interrogatory Responses. Id.; Ex. D at 334-35. Further, all of

the 2015-2016 medical records from Colorado were only produced because the defense, not

? Defendant’s Interrogatories sought the identities and locations of Plaintiff’s health care providers, the dates of

treatment, the nature of the treatment, medical expenses to date, and releases for each. Inexplicably, despite this
Court’s Order to answer the interrogatory, Plaintiff still has not provided the dates of treatment, the nature of
treatment or any information concerning expenses for any of her providers.

3
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Plaintiff, sent a subpoena to Dr. Olson and his hospital for records and then learned that Plaintiff
had been seen by other doctors there and secured a release which the defense sent to Plaintiff.
As detailed more fulsomely in the Reply in Support of Sanctions filed contemporaneously, the
late disclosures were not due to Ms. Giuffre and her attorneys going to “great lengths” to track

down records; they have only responded to requests for doctor’s records when the defense has

brought to their attention missing doctors and records. |GG
e

e
|
I

Given Plaintiff’s agreement to submit to questioning based on the late-disclosed records,
it is hardly worth the Court or counsel’s time to again correct the record as to each of Plaintiff’s
misstatements. In lieu, Ms. Maxwell hereby incorporates by reference her Reply in Support of
Motion for Sanctions which addresses many of Plaintiff’s misstatements concerning production

of her health care providers’ identities and their records.

B. Plaintiff failed to produce emails from her iCloud and Hotmail accounts

Plaintiff objects to further questioning regarding emails from her iCloud and Hotmail
accounts and submits that Ms. Maxwell’s claims regarding these missing emails “are simply
false” because she “produced every relevant document from her iCloud account.” Resp. at 8.

Plaintiff ignores the most important fact: she produced them after the deposition and only after

Ms. Maxwell issued a subpoena to the email providers. The emails were produced on June 10,
more than one month after Plaintiff’s deposition. See Menninger Decl., Ex. K.
Similarly, following Ms. Maxwell’s subpoena to Hotmail, that company has now

confirmed that Plaintiff has an active account with them and that the account has been used by

4
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Plaintiff since the beginning of this case. Plaintiff concededly did not search that account for
responsive documents but has represented to this Court that she will sign the release provided by
Microsoft, obtain the records and search the account. Thus, any responsive emails from that
account likewise will not have been available at the time of Plaintiff’s deposition.

Plaintiff does not argue the responsive emails are not relevant, nor can she. Thus, Ms.
Maxwell should be entitled to reopen Plaintiff’s deposition to inquire regarding those emails as
well as any that are produced from the Hotmail account.

C. Plaintiff failed to address issue of her employment records

In her Response, Plaintiff did not address Ms. Maxwell’s request to reopen Plaintiff’s
deposition regarding late-disclosed employment records. Accordingly, the issue should be
deemed admitted and inquiry into Plaintiff’s employment based on the new records permitted.

D. Newly obtained education records and other witness testimony contradict
Plaintiff’s deposition

Plaintiff testified at her deposition that she began working at Mar-a-Lago during a break
from her GED classes, that she believed it was a summer job, and that while she cannot pinpoint
the exact date, it was to the best of her recollection in or about June 2000 when she was still 16
years old. Menninger Decl., Ex. D at 57. This Court ordered Plaintiff to produce her education
records and, mere days before her deposition, Plaintiff signed releases for some of the
institutions she attended in Florida. Defendant obtained records pursuant to those releases after
the deposition (despite having sought them by discovery request in February). The transcripts
from Royal Palm Beach and Forest Hills High School directly contradict Plaintiff’s story. In
fact, they are highly relevant because they show that Plaintiff was in school during the summer
of 2000, finishing on August 15, 2000, when she was 17 years old. Appropriate areas of inquiry

at a reopened deposition of Plaintiff would be matching her story up to the records and
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demonstrating that she did not start working at Mar-a-Lago until she was 17 years old --- despite
her well-publicized claims that she was a “sex slave” for Jeffrey Epstein from the age of 15 years
old beginning in 1998.

Furthermore, testimony from other witnesses in this case, including Plaintiff’s former
boyfriend Tony Figueroa, materially contradict Plaintiff’s claims. Mr. Figueroa testified on June
24 that he and Plaintiff were enrolled in an all-day high school and that they attended school
together every day and that Plaintiff was not working for Epstein. Menninger Decl., Ex. P.
Based on these newly discovered records, Mr. Figueroa confirmed that time period as October
2001 — March 2002, directly contradicting Plaintiff’s deposition testimony that she was a “sex
slave” for 4 years from 1998-2002 and that she was with Epstein constantly during that four year
period.

Based on the newly discovered education records and other witness testimony concerning
those records, Ms. Maxwell should be entitled to question Plaintiff at her continued deposition
about those records. Ms. Maxwell lacked those records at the time of Plaintiff’s deposition
because Plaintiff refused to produce her education records, Ms. Maxwell had to file a Motion to
Compel and obtain a Court Order before Plaintiff would sign a release for the records.

Therefore, there is no basis for Plaintiff to object to a continued deposition regarding the newly
obtained records and witness testimony.

E. Plaintiff identified new witnesses in her Rule 26 disclosures after her
deposition

Plaintiff does not address the fact that she added 28 new witnesses to her Rule 26

disclosures after her deposition.” The new witnesses added by Ms. Maxwell to her Rule 26 list

* The only mention Plaintiff makes is asking the Court to deny Ms. Maxwell’s motion to strike the new witnesses.
Ms. Maxwell stated that her motion to strike would be by separate motion (Mot. at 10), thus there is no motion to
strike.
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are almost entirely ones that were taken off Plaintiff’s list. Presumably, they have information

relevant to this case and Ms. Maxwell is entitled to question Plaintiff on these disclosures to

determine what, if any, relevant information these newly disclosed witnesses might have.

II.

PLAINTIFF’S COUNSEL INSTRUCTED PLAINTIFF NOT TO ANSWER
RELEVANT, NON-PRIVILEGED QUESTIONS IN HER FIRST DEPOSITION

Plaintiff’s counsel glosses over their instruction to Plaintiff not to answer questions at her

deposition regarding non-privileged issues.

During her deposition, the following exchange occurred:

Q: You did not read the articles published by Sharon Churcher about your stories
to Sharon Churcher?

A: Thave read some articles about what Sharon Churcher wrote. And a lot of the stuff
that she writes she takes things from my own mouth and changes them into her own
words as journalists do. And I never came back to her and told her to correct anything.
What was done was done. There was nothing else I can do.

Q: So even if she printed something that were untrue you didn't ask her to correct
it, correct?

A: There was things that she printed that really pissed me off, but there was nothing I
could do about it. It's already out there.

Q: She printed things that were untrue, correct?
A: I wouldn't say that they were untrue. I would just say that she printed them as
journalists take your words and turn them into something else.

Q: She got it wrong?
A: In some ways, yes.

Q: Did she print things in her articles that you did not say to her?

MR. EDWARDS: I object and ask that the witness be given the opportunity to see the
document so that she can review it and answer that question accurately. Otherwise she's
unable to answer the question. I'm not going to allow her to answer.

Q: Did Sharon Churcher print things that you did not say?

MR. EDWARDS: I'm going to instruct my client not to answer unless you give her what
it is that you're talking about that was printed. And she will tell you the answer, the
accurate answer to your question. Just without the document to refresh her recollection
and see it, she's not going to answer the question.

Q: Did Sharon Churcher print things that you did not say?
MR. EDWARDS: Same objection. Same instruction not to answer.

7
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Q: Did Sharon Churcher print things that you felt were inaccurate?
MR. EDWARDS: Same objection. Same instruction. If she sees the document, she's
going to answer every one of these questions.

Q: Did any other reporter print statements that you believe are inaccurate?
MR. EDWARDS: Same objection. Same instruction.

Q: Did any reporter print statements about Ghislaine Maxwell that were

inaccurate?

MR. EDWARDS: Same objection. Same instruction.

Menninger Decl., Ex. D at 220-23.

At no time did Plaintiff say she “could not remember” what Churcher “got wrong.” Mr.
Edwards refused to allow her to answer the question unless her recollection was “refreshed,”
even though she never said she lacked a recollection. This is a patently improper instruction not
to answer, as well as improper suggestion to his client that she needed to have a “refreshed”
memory by looking at articles from Ms. Churcher. The instruction not to answer was improper
and Plaintiff should be required to answer all questions regarding inaccuracies in the media
reports of this case. Indeed, it is hard to conceive of an area more directly relevant to this single-
count defamation case in which Ms. Maxwell has said that Plaintiff’s statements to the press
were lies, and now even Plaintiff is saying that the press “got it wrong”.

Plaintiff’s counsel similarly would not allow Plaintiff to answer questions regarding her
communications with law enforcement, specifically regarding Ms. Maxwell. Ms. Maxwell
respectfully disagrees that this area should be off limits. Efforts by a Plaintiff to have another
party charged with a crime, including any statement made during the course of those efforts, are

clearly relevant, reflect bias and motive, and may be used for impeachment. There is no

privilege which attaches to a civil litigant’s prior statements to law enforcement and to the extent



Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-15 Filed 01/04/24 Page 11 of 14

any such statements exist, Ms. Maxwell should be permitted to inquire regarding the statements
and the circumstances of surrounding their issuance, during Plaintiff’s reopened deposition.

Ms. Maxwell disagrees with Plaintiff’s contention regarding the identity of her expert but
agrees not to inquire into that topic during the reopened deposition in light of the upcoming
expert disclosure deadlines.

In light of the clearly improper instructions not to answer non-privileged relevant
questions, Plaintiff’s deposition must be reopened.

III. PLAINTIFF CONCEDES THAT HER ERRATA SHEET IS PROPERLY THE
SUBJECT FOR RE-OPENED DEPOSITION

Because Plaintiff concedes, as she must, that changes to her deposition testimony as
reflected on her errata sheet are proper areas of inquiry, Ms. Maxwell perceives no need for
additional argument regarding the materiality of Plaintiff’s changes although they were not based
on “misspellings and the like” as Plaintiff avers.

IV.  RESTRICTIONS TO TWO HOURS AND VIA VIDEOTAPE UNJUSTIFIED

Ms. Maxwell has identified a significant number of areas of inquiry for reopened
deposition and two hours is insufficient to accomplish that goal. Ms. Maxwell seeks leave to

reopen Plaintiff’s deposition regarding belatedly disclosed records from:

le Doe

e Email records from iCloud and Hotmail regarding interactions with the FBI
e School records regarding the time period of 1999-2002

e 18 newly listed witnesses

e Any published news stories that Plaintiff concedes were inaccurate

e Plaintiff’s interactions with law enforcement regarding Ms. Maxwell.
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All of these are properly the subject of additional inquiry at a deposition and to address
them will require more than two hours. While Ms. Maxwell does not believe that seven hours
will be necessary, she did not use all of the first seven hours based on Plaintiff’s refusal to
answer relevant non-privileged questions and believes that she will be able to finish her
examination on these topics within a reasonable period of time, most likely between 4-5 hours.

Further, such deposition should be done live and in person, not via videotape from
Australia. Video conference depositions are exceedingly difficult and cumbersome when
handling the number of records at issue here — medical records, school records, employment
records and emails, as well as press statements, errata sheets and the like. Counsel will not have
the ability to hand over documents to the witness as needed.

Plaintiff argues that her childcare needs require her to be in Australia. Notably, Plaintiff
has spent several weeks in the U.S. attending in person the depositions of her former fiancé and
boyfriend in Florida (and calling them in advance of their testimony) and, upon information and
belief, attending to other litigation and personal matters. Plaintiff lived in Colorado at the time
she filed this litigation and made a decision to return to Australia after doing so. She and her
counsel failed to disclose relevant doctors and medical records, emails, employment and school
records in advance of her deposition, and she was instructed not to answer relevant, non-
privileged questions. She chose to change her deposition testimony after the fact.

WHEREFORE, Ms. Maxwell respectfully requests a reopened deposition of Plaintiff to
include the topics of:

1. Any documents disclosed after May 3 regarding:
a. Plaintiff’s medical and mental care
b. Plaintiff’s employment

c. Plaintiff’s education
d. Plaintiff’s emails from her iCloud and Hotmail accounts

10
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2. Any question she was instructed not to answer regarding:
a. Inaccurate statements attributed to her in the press;
b. Her communications with law enforcement about Ms. Maxwell;
3. Any changes to her deposition testimony as reflected on her errata sheet.
Ms. Maxwell asks the Court to deny Plaintiff’s request that the reopened deposition be
limited to two hours or occur via remote means. Finally, Ms. Maxwell requests costs incurred in
bringing this Motion based on counsel’s improper instructions not to answer relevant and non-

privileged questions.

Dated: July 8, 2016

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Laura A. Menninger

Laura A. Menninger (LM-1374)
Jeffrey S. Pagliuca (pro hac vice)
HADDON, MORGAN AND FOREMAN, P.C.
150 East 10™ Avenue

Denver, CO 80203

Phone: 303.831.7364

Fax: 303.832.2628
Imenninger@hmflaw.com

Attorneys for Ghislaine Maxwell

11
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that on July 8, 2016, I electronically served this REPLY IN SUPPORT OF
DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO REOPEN DEPOSITION OF PLAINTIFF VIRGINIA GIUFFRE

via ECF on the following:

Sigrid S. McCawley

Meredith Schultz

BOIES, SCHILLER & FLEXNER, LLP

401 East Las Olas Boulevard, Ste. 1200
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
smccawley@bsfllp.com
mschultz@bstllp.com

Bradley J. Edwards

FARMER, JAFFE, WEISSING, EDWARDS,
FISTOS & LEHRMAN, P.L.

425 North Andrews Ave., Ste. 2

Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
brad@pathtojustice.com

Paul G. Cassell

383 S. University Street
Salt Lake City, UT 84112
cassellp@law.utah.edu

J. Stanley Pottinger
49 Twin Lakes Rd.
South Salem, NY 10590
StanPottinger@aol.com

/s/ Nicole Simmons

Nicole Simmons
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

--- X
VIRGINIA L. GIUFFRE,
Plaintiff, :
V. 15-cv-07433-RWS
GHISLAINE MAXWELL, :
Defendant.
X

Declaration Of Laura A. Menninger In Support Of
Reply to Plaintiff’s Opposition to Defendant’s Motion To Reopen
Plaintiff’s Deposition

I, Laura A. Menninger, declare as follows:

l. I am an attorney at law duly licensed in the State of New York and admitted to
practice in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. [ am a
member of the law firm Haddon, Morgan & Foreman, P.C., counsel of record for Defendant
Ghislaine Maxwell (“Maxwell”) in this action. I respectfully submit this declaration in support of
Reply to Plaintiff’s Opposition to Defendant’s Motion To Reopen Plaintiff’s Deposition.

2. Attached as Exhibit O (filed under seal) are true and correct copies of select pages
of Plaintiff’s medical records bates labeled GIUFFRE 5089, 5316-18, 6631, designated as
Confidential under the Protective Order.

3. Attached as Exhibit P (filed under seal) are true and correct copies of excerpts

from the deposition of Anthony Figuera, designated as Confidential under the Protective Order.
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Dated: July 8, 2016

By: /s/ Laura A. Menninger

Laura A. Menninger

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that on July 8, 2016, I electronically served this Declaration Of Laura A.

Menninger In Support Of Reply to Plaintiff’s Opposition to Defendant’s Motion To Reopen

Plaintiff’s Deposition via ECF on the following:

Sigrid S. McCawley

Meredith Schultz

BOIES, SCHILLER & FLEXNER, LLP

401 East Las Olas Boulevard, Ste. 1200
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
smccawley@bsfllp.com
mschultz@bsfllp.com

Bradley J. Edwards

FARMER, JAFFE, WEISSING, EDWARDS,
FISTOS & LEHRMAN, P.L.

425 North Andrews Ave., Ste. 2

Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
brad@pathtojustice.com

Paul G. Cassell

383 S. University Street
Salt Lake City, UT 84112
cassellp@law.utah.edu

J. Stanley Pottinger
49 Twin Lakes Rd.
South Salem, NY 10590
StanPottinger@aol.com

/s/ Nicole Simmons

Nicole Simmons
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

CASE: 15-cv-07433-RWS
VIRGINIA GIUFFRE,
Plaintiff,
V.
GHISLAINE MAXWELL,

Defendant.

VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF TONY FIGUEROA
Volume 1 of 2

Pages 1 - 157

Taken at the Instance of the Defendant

DATE: Friday, June 24, 2016

TIME: Commenced: 8:59 a.m.
Concluded: 1:22 p.m.

PLACE: Southern Reporting Company
B. Paul Katz Professional Center
(SunTrust Building)
One Florida Park Drive South
Suite 214
Palm Coast, Florida 32137

REPORTED BY: LEANNE W. FITZGERALD, FPR
Florida Professional Reporter
Court Reporter and Notary Public

Southern Reporting Company (386)257-3663
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APPEARANCE OF COUNSEL

ON BEHALF OF THE PLAINTIFF:

BRADLEY J. EDWARDS, Esquire

Farmer, Jaffe, Weissing, Edwards, Fistos & Lehrman, P.L.
425 North Andrews Avenue

Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301

954-524-2820

Brad@pathtojustice.com

ON BEHALF OF THE DEFENDANT:

LAURA A. MENNINGER, Esquire

Haddon, Morgan and Foreman, P.C.

150 East 10th Avenue

Denver, Colorado 80203

303-831-7364

Lmenninger@hmflaw.com; Nsimmons@hmflaw.com

Also appearing: Jenny Martin, Videographer from Abel
Virginia Giuffre, Plaintiff

Southern Reporting Company (386)257-3663
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BY MS. MENNINGER:

Q And where did you go after Royal Palm
Beach?
A I believe it was South Area. I'm pretty

sure it was South Area.

Q Did you go to another school after that?
A Yeah. I went to Gold Coast after that.
Q Is that also in Royal Palm Beach?

A No. That's -- South Area was in Lake

Worth. Gold Coast is in West Palm. They were both
alternative schools.

Q Did you ever go to a Survivors Charter
School?

A Yes. I went there, too.

Q When did you go there?

A I'm not exactly sure of the date. But it
was somewhere after either -- I'm pretty sure it
was -- maybe -- I can't remember if it was Gold
Coast first or Survivor. But one of the -- I'm
trying to remember. I honestly don't remember which
one came first.

Q That's all right.

Can you describe for me Survivors Charter
School? What is it like, or was it like?

A I mean, like I said, it was an alternative

Southern Reporting Company (386)257-3663
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school. It was just pretty much a bunch of bad
kids, you know, who have gotten kicked out. And it
was pretty much like a last chance kind of school,
you know what I mean?

o) Does it look like a school?

A Kind of. I mean, it had, like, a
cafeteria, and then it had a whole bunch of, like,
portables and stuff around there. And it was
under -- it was, like, right near the Lake Worth. I
remember there was, like, a bridge that went over
the interstate right by it. But, I mean, it was

just a little, you know, little crappy school.

Q Was it during the day or at night?

A It was during the day.

Q So regular school hours?

A Yeah. Well, it was actually a little bit
shorter hours. I can't remember exactly. But I

know it was not like the full days. Because, I
mean, at the alternative schools, it's obviously not
up to regular high school standards. I mean, they
just do pretty much stuff to get people to get out
of school, you know, so...

Q Get the credits that you need?

A Yeah. So that way they can finish high

school and not drop out and whatnot, so...

Southern Reporting Company (386)257-3663
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Q You actually go there in the morning,

though, and take classes?

A Yeah.

Q And get checked in at attendance?

A Yeah.

Q And then you may leave a little earlier

than a regular school day?

A Uh-huh (affirmative) .

Q All right. 1It's not a online program?

A No, it was not online.

0 When you were at Survivors Charter School,

did you ever see Ms. Roberts there?

A Was it Survivors? I don't remember if it
was Survivors. Or was it -- because I'm pretty sure
we were both -- was it -- I know we both went to one
of the schools. I'm pretty sure it was Survivors,
maybe.

o) Did you see her there?

A Now, when we went to the school, like, we

were together afterwards. But I don't remember
exactly which one it was. I know it was one of
those alternative schools that we went to, though.

Q Okay. Did you -- was Wellington an
alternative school?

A No. Wellington is a -- is a real high

Southern Reporting Company (386)257-3663
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school, like a regular high school.

0 Do you know if Wellington has an adult
program?
A They might. I mean, I really don't know.

I'm not sure.

Q Did you ever take night classes there?
A No.
Q So you believe when you reunited with

Ms. Roberts in or around 2001, she had also gone to
one of those alternative schools?

A When I reunited with her, no. We ended
up, like, trying to go finish school.

0 Tell me about that.

A I mean, we just ended up going to one of
those alternative schools and didn't even finish
that.

Q So you two had both left school, but went

back together --

A Yeah.

Q -- to one of the alternative schools?

A Yeah.

Q And that may have been Survivors Charter
School?

A Yeah. I'm pretty sure it probably was.

I'm pretty sure.

Southern Reporting Company (386)257-3663
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1 Q You both wanted to get your GEDs?
2 A Yeah.
3 Q Get better jobs?
4 A Uh-huh (affirmative) .
5 0 Things like -- that was the plan?
6 A Yeah.
7 Q But it did not work out?
8 A Yeah.
9 Q Do you know how long the two of you went
10 to Survivors Charter School?
11 A I honestly don't remember.
12 Q Okay. You do have a recollection of going
13 with her, though?
14 A Yeah.
15 Q Seeing her there?
16 A Uh-huh (affirmative) .
17 o) I'm trying to get a little bit of a time
18 frame on the time that you reunited with
19 Ms. Roberts. I know you said you lived -- you
20 remember being in an apartment with her in September
21 of 2000 -- 9/11/2001; right?
22 A Yeah.
23 Q Do you think you had been together with
24 her for a while at that point?
25 A It was probably, I'd say, like a month or

Southern Reporting Company (386)257-3663
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BY MS. MENNINGER:
Q Mr. Figueroa, you mentioned that you and
Ms. Roberts attempted to go to back to school while

you were together --

A Yes.

Q -- to get your GED?

A Yeah. Yes.

Q And you believe that you went to the

Survivors Charter School?
A Yes.
MS. MENNINGER: Okay. I'm going to mark
Defendant's Exhibit 6.
(Defendant's Exhibit 6 was marked for
identification.)
BY MS. MENNINGER:
Q This is a school record for Ms. Roberts
that lists the names of various schools. And --
A So it was Survivors, obviously. That's
the only one on that list that isn't -- or that's

there that's on mine, as well.

Q Okay.
A Other than the other ones, but...
o) All right. So you recognize Survivors

Charter School on Ms. Roberts' school records?

A Yeah. That's what I'm saying. Since that

Southern Reporting Company (386)257-3663
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1 is the one on here, that's -- that's completely
2 clear. I could not remember if it was that one or
3 Gold Coast.
4 Q Okay. There is an entry date for
5 Ms. Roberts at Survivors Charter School of
6 10/12/2001, and a withdrawal on 3/7 of '02. Do you
7 see that?
8 A I mean, it's this; right? I mean, that's
9 the top.
10 0 The entry date of 10/12/01, withdrawal
11 3/7/02 at Survivors?
12 A Okay. I did not know what those
13 numbers -- I did not realize that that was a date.
14 Q I understand. And I know you did not make
15 this record.
16 So I'm just wanting to know if that's
17 consistent with your recollection, that you guys
18 went to school in the fall of 2001 until the --
19 A Yeah, that sounds about right.
20 0 -- March of 2002. It sounds right?
21 A Yeah.
22 Q And you both went to school together?
23 A Uh-huh (affirmative).
24 Q In the mornings?
25 A Yeah.

Southern Reporting Company (386)257-3663
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1 o) And got out of school at some earlier time
2 than a regular school day?
3 A Yeah.
4 Q Do you recall Ms. Roberts going to Royal
5 Palm Beach High? Again, this is in the 2001 time
6 frame.
7 A I -- I don't recall. I really don't.
8 Q Do you recall her, during the time you
9 were with her, taking any night classes at
10 Wellington High School?
11 A I don't recall.
12 Q Is it possible?
13 A It's a possibility.
14 MR. EDWARDS: Object to the form.
15 BY MS. MENNINGER:
16 Q Do you know whether Wellington has a night
17 school program?
18 A Like I said before, I don't know. They
19 could.
20 o) You went there in ninth grade?
21 A Yeah. It was during the day, though. I
22 have no clue about night school.
23 0 Got it.
24 But you do have a memory about Survivors
25 Charter School?

Southern Reporting Company (386)257-3663
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

______________________________ x
VIRGINIA L. GIUFFRE,
Plaintiff,
V.
GHISLAINE MAXWELL,
Defendant.
______________________________ %

Before:

HON. ROBERT W.

Filed 01/04/24 Page 2 of 23

15 CV 7433

New York, N.Y.
January 14,
12:00 p.m.

SWEET,

District Judge

APPEARANCES

BOIES, SCHILLER & FLEXNER
Attorneys for Plaintiff
BY: SIGRID McCAWLEY

HADDON, MORGAN & FOREMAN
Attorneys for Defendant
BY: LAURA MENNINGER

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.
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(In open court)

THE COURT: I will hear from the movant.

MS. MENNINGER: Thank you, your Honor, Laura Menninger
on behalf of the defendant Maxwell. We are the movant for the
purposes of today's hearing. I filed both a motion to dismiss
the complaint, which is based on one claim of defamation, as
well as a motion to stay discovery during the pendency of our
motion to dismiss the complaint.

At the heart of this case, your Honor, defamation is
about words, specifically false and defamatory words, about the
plaintiff published to another by the defendant with a certain
level of culpability and resulting injury. Depending on the
context of the words, the content of the statement, the
relationship of the speaker and the listener, depending on the
time, place and manner of the statement, the Court may find the
words to be actionable or not, privileged or not, defamatory in
meaning or not.

The central problem with this particular complaint,
your Honor, is that all of the key elements of defamation are
conspicuously absent. Cutting through the hyperbole and the
rhetoric contained in the complaint, one is still left
wondering what words are actually at issue. Is it the three
sentence fragments contained in paragraph 30 against Ghislaine
Maxwell are untrue, shown to be untrue, claimed or obvious
lies, or does it include some additional or extra false

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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statements that are referenced but never explained in
paragraphs 31 and 34? In what context were any of these
sentence fragments published? What, if anything, were they in
response to?

Your Honor has found in previous cases, such as
Hawkins v. City of New York, that the failure to identify the
individuals to whom the statement allegedly was made and the
content of that statement is fatally defective to an attempt to
state a libel or slander cause of action.

In this case, in this complaint, plaintiff has barely
even attributed a few sentence fragments to my client,
Ms. Maxwell. She stripped them of any context. She hasn't
provided the entire statement in which those sentence fragments
were contained, nor the articles in which any of those
sentences might have appeared. She has not pled facts, which,
as this Court knows, post-Twombly, must be included, not just
legal conclusions. She has not pled facts demonstrating actual
malice, nor any special damages or facts that would support
defamation per se. Because of the many pleading failures, your
Honor, I do not believe this complaint should stand.

The Second Circuit made quite clear that your Honor
has an important gatekeeping function in a defamation case.
The Court must ascertain whether the statement, when judged in
context, has a defamatory meaning, and also whether it is
privileged.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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As your Honor also found in Cruz v. Marchetto, you

cannot rely, as the plaintiff tries to do here, on the less
stringent pleading requirements that predated Twombly and
Igbal, and furthermore, that the plaintiff must plead facts
which support either defamation per se or special damages.

Here, your Honor, while there are statement fragments
contained in the complaint at paragraph 31, there's not even a
complete sentence attributed to my client, Ms. Maxwell. That,
your Honor, has been found on numerous occasions to be
insufficient to state a cause of action for defamation.

Furthermore, the complaint does not state to whom any
such statements were made. There is a general allegation that
the statements were made, quote, to the media and public, but
no media is identified, no publications are identified. While
the complaint states at one point that it was published and
disseminated around the world, not a single publication is
mentioned or attached to the complaint.

And furthermore, the complaint fails to state where in
fact the statements were made. Although it does state the
statements were made in the Southern Diétrict of New York, it
attributes those sentence fragments to a press agent who is
admittedly located in London.

Finally, your Honor, there is a lot of confusion
contained in the paperwork with regard to the standard of
malice that must be pled. Again your Honor has found, and

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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numerous other Southern District Courts have found likewise,
that malice in this context is malice in the sense of spite or
111 will. Looking to the complaint, your Honor, there's not a
single conclusory or factually-supported allegation that would
give rise to a finding of malice. And that, your Honor,
likewise is fatal to the complaint.

Finally, in terms of pleading deficiencies, plaintiff
in this case has tried to allege defamation per se by claiming
her profession is as a professional victim. In other words,
ten days before she claims my client made statements about her,
plaintiff founded a nonprofit through her organization, through
her attorneys in Florida, called Victims Refuse Silence, and
thereby states that any attempt to impugn anything she says is
defamation per se.

There is no support in the case law for a profession
of being a wvictim, your Honor. And likewise, there's no
factual support to suggest, and the cases require, that the
statements attributed to my client, Ms. Maxwell, have anything
to do with her nonprofit organization, nor that my client was
even aware of an organization founded a mere ten days earlier
and which doesn't appear to have any actual business conduct
related to it.

So your Honor, I think for all those reasons, the
complaint is insufficiently pled and should be dismissed.

Our papers go on a little bit further, your Honor, to

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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also argue that to the extent any of these sentence fragments
can be pieced together, the statements, at most, are a general
denial. In other words, plaintiff admits in the complaint that
she started a media campaign against my client, she issued some
very salacious allegations against my client in the British
press and in some pleadings that she filed in Florida. And
after having done that, my client, she says, issued a statement
that the allegations are quote, unguote, untrue.

Repeatedly, cases both in New York State and federal
courts have found general denials are not actionable, that
individuals have a right, when they have been accused of
misdeeds in the press, to respond, so long as they don't abuse
that privilege. And by abuse of privilege, that means
including numerous defamatory extraneous statements about the
person to whom they are responding and/or excessively
publicizing their response.

In this case, your Honor, the statement the
allegations are untrue is about as plain vanilla as one can
find. There's no better way to issue a general denial than to
just say that the allegations are untrue, without more.

There's not a single reference to plaintiff herself.

Although, in opposition, plaintiff claims to have been
called a liar, complains that she was called dishonest, she
doesn't actually point to any statement which contains those
words, nor any statement which actually refers to her as a

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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person, simply to the allegations which her client had issued,
and frankly, allegations which had been circulated in the
presgs.

So saying the allegations are untrue is tantamount to
a general denial, and that is one additional reason, your
Honor, that I think the complaint should be dismissed.

Thank you.

MS. McCAWLEY: Good morning, your Honor. May I
approach with a bench book?

THE COURT: Sure.

MS. McCAWLEY: Thank you.

THE COURT: I think in duplicate. Do you have another
copy?

MS. McCAWLEY: Sure, of course.

Good morning, your Honor, my name 1is Sigrid McCawley,
I'm with the law firm of Boies, Schiller & Flexner representing
the plaintiff in the case, Virginia Giuffre.

With all due respect to my colleague, I think she read
a different complaint than the one submitted in this case. She
left out significant factual details from the complaint that
plead actual defamation.

This is an old story. A woman comes forth and finally
gets the courage to tell about the sexual abuse she endured,
and her abusers come public and call her a liar and say her
claims are, quote, obvious lies. That quote is in our

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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complaint.

Your Honor, this is an actionable defamation case.
Fortunately for women who have been abused in this manner, the
law of defamation stands by their side. It does not allow
someone to publically proclaim they're a liar and issue
character assaults on them without rémifications.

After those statements were made, we filed this
defamation lawsuit. Virginia Giuffre was only 15 years old
when she was recruited by Maxwell to be sexually abused by both
Maxwell and Jeffrey Epstein, who is a convicted pedophile and
billionaire. She was harmed for many years before she finally
found her way to Thailand and escaped clear to Australia where
she hid out for ten years before the FBI interviewed her and
she made her statement public.

Your Honor, this is a very serious case of abuse. My
client never sued Ms. Maxwell until she came out and called her
a liar publically for claiming her allegations of sexual abuse
were false. That's actionable defamation. We have seen that
in cases recently, and I will walk you through those.

Now while this story may sound hard to believe, it
happened, and there were over 30 female childhood victims in
Florida alone that came forward and gave statements to law
enforcement about this same type of abuse.

Unfortunately, due to Epstein's wvast wealth and power,
he was able to get off with a very light sentence. And his

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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co-conspirators were also part of that plea agreement, that
non-prosecution agreement, and were not prosecuted. That
agreement is being challenged by two other victims in Florida
in a case in front of Judge Marra case called the Crime
Victims' Rights Act case.

I want to mention that while my colleague didn't
mention it in her opening, she does mention it in her papers, I
contend that the order she referenced in her papers by Judge
Marra, which we included a copy of for you, has been
misrepresented. That order did allow my client -- on page 6 it
says, quote, Jané Doe 3 is free to assert factual allegations
through proper evidentiary proof should she identify a basis
for believing such details are pertinent to the matter.

So while the paper suggested she was deemed to have
impossible allegations or that those allegations were untrue,
that's absolutely not what the court said in Florida, so I want
to correct that for the record before we begin.

What we have here is a defamation case. As the Court
well knows, defamation -- this is a libel per se case where the
words were published in writing. And as you know, libel per se
is when a word tends to expose another to public hatred, shame,
contempt or ridicule. I see no other allegation that could be
worse than calling a sex abuse victim a liar. To lie about
sexual abuse has to be one of the most scornful things
available, and that is subject to defamation.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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Now in the papers -- and I will just touch on this
briefly because my colleague did not touch on it significantly
here and I don't want to waste the Court's time, but she
alleged a number of privileges that she believes Ms. Maxwell
should be able to hide behind in order to preserve these
defamatory statements.

I impart on your Honor that a determination as to
whether any of those privileges apply would be premature at

this stage. That's your case, which is Block wv. First Blood,

691 F.Supp. 685. In that case you dealt with one of the
privileges she is asserting here, the prelitigation privilege,
and you found that it would be premature, even at the summary
judgment stage, to be analyzing whether or not that was
applicable.

So what we have here is qualified privileges being
asserted as to defamatory statements. The two qualified
privileges she asserts are the self-defense privilege and the
prelitigation privilege. So in other words, if the defamatory
statements survive, she says, nevertheless the privileges
preclude the case from going forward.

The self-defense privilege has been addressed by the
highest court of New York just as recent as this year, and

that's in the case of Davis v. Boeheim. And that was case

where the Syracuse basketball coach was accused by two victims

that were childhood victims who later as adults came forward

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300




10

A

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

23

22

23

24

25

Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-18 Filed 01/04/24 Page 12 of 23

G1lETGIUA

and set forth their allegations against him. One of his
colleagues came forth and called those victims liars publicly,
same thing that happened in this case. And the court there
said that the case cannot be dismissed, it has to proceed
forward, and they are entitled to prove those allegations were
false, that the victims were not liars, and indeed they were
subject to the abuse they were subject to.

Another case that is recent which I supplemented with
your Honor is the Cosby case. 1It's recent out of
Massachusetts, and very similarly there -- in fact, the
statements weren't even as strong as Ms. Maxwell's statements
here. In our complaint, Ms. Maxwell calls our client's
allegations of sexual abuse, quote, obvious lies, issued by
press release nationally and internationally to the media. And
we do cite to the media that it is sent to. That's in
paragraph 30, 36 and 37, international media, national media
and the New York Daily Post, who interviewed Ms. Maxwell on a
New York street. So that is alleged in detail in our
complaint.

But in Cosby the court said, quote, suggestions that a
plaintiff intentionally lied about being sexually assaulted
could expose that plaintiff to scorn and ridicule, and
therefore, Bill Cosby's statements could be found to have a
defamatory meaning, and the court allowed the case to proceed
past the motion to dismiss stage.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300




10

11

12

13

14

18

16

L

18

19

20

20,

22

Z3

24

25

Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-18 Filed 01/04/24 Page 13 of 23 -

GlETGIUA

We also have the McNamee v. Clemens case which you may

be familiar with. It's another New York case involving Roger
Clemens where he had been alleged to have engaged in steroid
use. His trainer stated that publicly. He came forward and
called his trainer a liar publicly, and the court found that
that statement that he is a liar was actionable defamation that
survived the motion to dismiss, because publicly proclaiming
someone a liar is actionable defamation. It is not mere
denial, it is actionable defamation.

So those are the cases I would like to direct the
Court's attention to. Again, on page 10 of our opposition we
have a litany of cases that deal with the issue of calling
someone a liar and that being actionable defamation.

She also asserts the prelitigation privilege, and that

is a privilege addressed in your Block v. First Blood case.

That privilege is intended to protect communications between
parties, typically attorneys, in advance of litigation in order
for them to narrow the scope of the litigation or to negotiate
a resolution in advance of litigation. That prelitigation
privilege does not cover public statements by Ms. Maxwell's
hired press agent that are given to the national and
international media for the purposes of defaming my client,
calling her allegations of sexual abuse untruths and calling
them, quote, obvious lies. So that prelitigation privilege
does not apply.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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The Khalil case, which is cited in the defendant's
brief, actually has a great passage in there that describes if
the allegation is made for an improper purpose, in other words,
if it is made for a wrongful purpose or to harass or seek to
press or intimidate the victim, then it is not something that
the defendant can avail themselves to as a privilege.

Now, just briefly, the opposition also stated that our
complaint is deficient in other manners; for example, that we
haven't properly alleged the to whom, as I referenced. You can
look at paragraphs 30, 36 and 37 to see that. That is a
technical pleading deficiency that she is raising there. We do
meet the standards of Twombly. We have pled detailed facts
that our client was sexually abused as a minor child. We pled
other facts about that abuse. And Ms. Maxwell intentionally
and maliciously came out and called her a liar in order to
protect her own self.

So that is what we have put in our complaint. The

Hawkins case that she references and the Cruz case that she

references are vastly different. In Cruz there wasn't even an
~allegation of defamation, and the court was reading into the
complaint whether or not there could have been defamation.
Here we stated specifically who made the statement, when she
made the statement, where she made the statement, why she made
the statement. That is all we need to do. It's more than
sufficient to plead a case of defamation in this instance.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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With respect to the allegations that we haven't pled
properly libel per se, I want to be clear we pled that in two
ways. And the case law is a case cited in the defendant's
brief, and it's Jewell, and it does a very good job of parsing
out the difference between slander and libel, and there is a
difference in the case law, as your Honor knows.

In the instance of libel, the written words, Cardozo
has said, it stings, it stings longer, so therefore, in
pleading libel per se, you don't have to plead special damages
in the way that you do for slander.

The Matherson case, which is out of New York, also
articulates that. The difference, it says, quote, on the other
hand, a plaintiff suing on libel need not plead or prove
special damages if the defamatory statement tends to expose the
plaintiff to public contempt, ridicule, aversion, or disgrace.
And that is exactly what we have pled in this case, that the
statements that our client lied about the sexual abuse she
endured as a minor were statements that exposed her to that
public contempt and ridicule.

She has also pled libel per se with respect to her
profession. While my colleague may make light of the fact that
she is involved in helping victims that -- people who are
victims of sexual trafficking, that is what she has dedicated
her life to doing. And to come out and publicly proclaim her a
liar about sexual abuse harms the nonprofit and harms the work

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPCORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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she has been doing. She has been harmed personally by saying
her claims are, guote, obvious lies, and she has been hurt
professionally in that manner, and we allege both things in our
complaint.

Your Honor, Virginia has been beaten down many times
in her life, but the law of defamation stands at her side. I
pray upon you that you will consider the complaint and not
dismiss it, because her claims should be able to be proven in
this Court. Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you very much.

Anything further?

MS. MENNINGER: If I may, your Honor.

Again, plaintiff comes before you claiming she has
been called a liar. There is no statement attributed to my
client, in the complaint or elsewhere, in which my client has
called plaintiff a liar. There are three sentence fragments
contained in the complaint, the allegations against Ms. Maxwell
are untrue, and that her claims are obvious lies.

Your Honor, it is a meaningful distinction. I can
explain a little bit of the background here. Plaintiff came
forward and gave an interview in the press in 2011 claiming
that my client was somehow involved with Mr. Epstein's sexual
abuse of her. She gave an exclusive interview to a British
newspaper in which she made that allegation, plaintiff did, and
was paid for it.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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My client issued a general denial in 2011 saying that
the allegations were untrue. At that time, plaintiff said
that, although she had been in contact with the likes of Prince
Andrew in London and Bill Clinton and other famous people,
there was no suggestion that those people had engaged in any
kind of improper sexual contact with her.

Fast forward a few years. Some other women who
claimed they were victims of Mr. Epstein's abuse filed a
lawsuit in Florida and they asked the court to undo a plea
agreement that had been entered into by the U.S. attorney's
office down in Florida or that the U.S. attorney's office
somehow worked with the state authorities in crafting, and
those two other women, not plaintiff, litigated for I think
gseven years now whether or not they should have been informed
earlier about whatever plea agreement was going to go on with
Mr. Epstein.

Well, December 30 of 2015, plaintiff filed a motion to
join that Victims' Rights Act litigation, and in her motion to
join the Victims' Rights Act litigation she filed a
declaration, in which, as I understand it thirdhand based on
the judge down there's order, she claimed to have been involved
in sexual relations with Prince Andrew, with world leaders, a
former prime minister of some country or other, Mr. Alan
Dershowitz. She made a number of spurious allegations, and one
of them involved my client, Ms. Maxwell.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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Well, within minutes of filing that motion to join
that action, lo and behold, her story hits the British press.
Whether or not that was at her lawyer's instigation, I don't
know, but they have been courting the press in a number of
ways, so I wouldn't be surprised.

The press comes calling and asked my client and
Mr. Dershowitz and Prince Andrew and everyone else whether any
of the allegations contained in this legal pleading are true.
Buckingham Palace issued a statement flatly denying the claims
made by plaintiff here. Mr. Dershowitz came out even stronger
and not only flatly denied it but did in fact call her a liar
and said, among other things, if she lied about me, she
probably lied about all these other world leaders that she
claims she was involved with at the age of 17 and 18, and that
the story dates back to '99 when she claims these activities
occurred. And so he came out and actually called her a liar.

Buckingham Palace said her claims were absolutely
untrue. At the end of one article, in which the two comments
about plaintiff were contained, is a statement attributed to my
client, Ms. Maxwell, and her statement reads, the claims
against Ghislaine Maxwell are untrue. She has now made
additional statements about world leaders, and those claims are
obvious lies. So that part about obvious lies come after the
part about claims against world leaders and famous politicians
and the like.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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Well, I tried to go to the Florida action to find
where these allegations were that apparently plaintiff believes
my client's statement was in relation to. And guess what?
Judge Marra down in the Southern District of Florida has
stricken the declaration from public access. He has stricken
the actual paragraphs making all of these allegations, and has
restricted from public access the documents that contained the
allegations. B2And he issued an order, and I attached that
order, because I believe the Court can consider it taking
judicial notice, to my declaration here on the motion to
dismiss.

In the order, just so we're all clear, I'm not
misrepresenting what happened, as I was just accused doing,
Judge Marra held, after describing what he called lurid
allegations, he found they were impertinent and immaterial to
the motion to join the Victims' Rights Act filed by plaintiff.
He said that they concerned non-parties, including my client,
who was not there and able to defend herself within the
litigation, and he denied her request to join that action
finding that she waited a long time. While she may be a
witness to things that are concerned down there, she does not
need to join the action in order to assert rights that the
other plaintiffs down there are already asserting.

Then he goes on in the order to remind her counsel of
their Rule 11 obligations to only include pertinent materials.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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And he was not denying they would ever be able to, but seems to
seriously question whether or not admissible non-cumulative
evidence of the things that were claimed would ever be heard in
his court.

So I don't actually have a copy of whatever it is that
was claimed down there because it's not publicly available, and
it certainly was not mentioned in the complaint, wasn't
attached to the complaint, it's just somewhere out there that
the press has picked up on and published.

In the meantime, Mr. Dershowitz is now involved in
ongoing battles with plaintiff's lawyers down in Florida. They
cross claimed one another for defamation. And she's been
participating in that litigation as a non-party as well,
although it concerns her attorneys and the same exact
allegations.

So while others have called her a liar, notably
Mr. Dershowitz, and others have denied claims that plaintiff
has made, including Buckingham Palace, and while Judge Marra
down there has found her claims impertinent and immaterial to
the allegations going on in Florida, Ms. Maxwell has not
actually ever called her a liar.

And your Honor, all of these cases that plaintiff

cites to, Davis v. Boeheim, McNamee v. Clemens, all of those

cases had complaints which had attached to them the actual

statements at issue.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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I think in the McNamee v. Clemens case there were some

27 exhibits attached to the amended complaint where Mr. Clemens
had been on 60 Minutes and given statements to reporters and
gone on at length calling the plaintiff in that case,

Mr. McNamee, a liar, calling him a liar 25 ways to Sunday,
talking about his financial motives, his potential financial
gain, et cetera.

Likewise, in the Davis v. Boeheim case, Mr. Boeheim

gave a press conference in which he called the accusers liars.
He questioned their financial incentives following the Sandusky
case to be coming forward then, and he went on at length about
all of the reasons why they might be coming forward now with
their, quote, unquote lies.

In each of those cases, McNamee v. Clemens and Davis

v. Boeheim, the New York Court of Appeals, as well as the

Federal Court in the Eastern District of New York, made clear
that the one thing that is not actionable is a general denial.
And then they talk about'why Mr. Boeheim's comments and

Mr. Clemens' comments went well beyond what anyone might
consider a general denial. And fortunately, those cases
actually had records which included the statements, included
the articles in which the statements were made, so the Court
could engage in the sort of analysis that it must, that is, to
decide whether, in context, the statement has a defamatory
meaning.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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So I think even now, saying that my client called her
client a liar is just not supported by a single fact in the
complaint. While the complaint makes conclusory statements
like it was a campaign questioning her dishonesty and all of
that, when you get right down to the actual statements, which
this Court has held on numerous occasions must actually be
spelled out in a defamation case, the only statements are,
quote, sentence fragments like allegations against Ghislaine
Maxwell are untrue.

And by the way, looking at those news articles, one
might see that they actually are talking about allegations that
have lodged in the British press. They don't refer to
Ms. Roberts, as she was then known, they don't refer to
anything about her, they don't call her a liar, they don't

gquestion her financial motives, although I'm sure she has some.

So if you look at the cases Davis v. Boeheim, McNamee v.
Clemens, you will see Ms. Maxwell's statements, even to the
extent they're alleged, fall well within the general denial
privilege.

I think it's inaccurate to quote, with regard to the
prelitigation privilege, the statements attributed to
Ms. Maxwell that reserved her right to seek redress from the
British press for the repetition of what she said were untrue
allegations. And that is something that, under British law,
one must assert or waive. So if you don't, under British law,

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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put the press on notice that you are challenging the veracity
of statements that the British press is publishing, then you
will have been deemed to have waived your right to do so in the
future.

We cited Khalil v. Front, which is a New York Court of

Appeals case from last year. It was actually affirming the
dismissal of a case on a motion to dismiss. So while plaintiff
claims that privileges like this can't be decided at the motion
to dismiss stage, the New York Court of Appeals directly found
otherwise. And there they said that if a statement is made in
anticipation of litigation, whether or not -- I think they used
the word "contemplated" litigation, whether or not the
litigation actually occurred is not material, but if they are
made in anticipation of potential litigation then they are
entitled to the prelitigation privilege.

So not only do I believe that the statements
themselves are non-defamatory general denials, but insofar as
they were issued to put the British press on notice, that
repetition of them may give rise to litigation. They also
should be afford the prelitigation privilege that the New York
Court of Appeals has recognized. Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you very much. I will reserve
decision.

olo

SCUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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Defendant, Ghislaine Maxwell, by and through her undersigned counsel, hereby responds
to Plaintiff’s First Set of Interrogatories (the “Interrogatories™).

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT AND GENERAL OBJECTIONS

1. This response is made to the best of Ms. Maxwell’s present knowledge,
information and belief. Ms. Maxwell, through her attorneys of record, have not completed the
investigation of the facts relating to this case, have not completed discovery in this action, and
have not completed preparation for trial. Ms. Maxwell’s responses to Plaintiff’s Interrogatories
are based on information currently known to her and are given without waiving Ms. Maxwell’s
right to use evidence of any subsequently discovered or identified facts, documents or
communications. Ms. Maxwell reserves the right to supplement these Interrogatories in
accordance with Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(e).

2. Ms. Maxwell objects to the Interrogatories to the extent they attempt to impose
any requirement or discovery obligation greater than or different from those under the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure, the local rules of this Court or any Orders of the Court.

3. Ms. Maxwell objects to the Interrogatories to the extent they seek information
protected by the attorney/client privilege, the work-product doctrine, Rule 408 of the Federal
Rules of Evidence, any common interest privilege, joint defense agreement or any other
applicable privilege.

4. Ms. Maxwell objects to the Interrogatories to the extent they seek information
outside of Ms. Maxwell’s possession, custody or control.

5. Ms. Maxwell objects to the Interrogatories to the extent they seek information
which is not relevant to the subject matter of the litigation and /or is not reasonably calculated to
lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

6. Ms. Maxwell objects to the Interrogatories to the extent they are overly broad,
unduly burdensome and/or propounded for the improper purpose of annoying, embarrassing, or
harassing Ms. Maxwell.

7. Ms. Maxwell objects to the Interrogatories to the extent they are vague and
ambiguous, or imprecise.

8. Ms. Maxwell objects to the Interrogatories to the extent they seek information that
is confidential and implicates Ms. Maxwell’s privacy interests.

0. Ms. Maxwell incorporates by reference every general objection set forth above
into each specific response set forth below. A specific response may repeat a general objection
for emphasis or for some other reason. The failure to include any general objection in any
specific response does not waive any general objection to that request.
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10. The Interrogatories seek information that is confidential and implicates Ms.
Maxwell’s privacy interests. To the extent such information is relevant and discoverable in this
action, M s. Maxwell will produce such materials subject to an appropriate protective order
pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(c) limiting their dissemination to the attorneys and their
employees.

OBJECTIONS TO DEFINITIONS

1. Ms. Maxwell objects to Definition No. 1 regarding “Agent” because it is an
incorrect statement of the law.

2. Ms. Maxwell objects to the Definition of “communication” to the extent it
expands upon the meaning ascribed to that term by Local Rule 26.3(c).

3. Ms. Maxwell objects to Definition No. 3 regarding “Defendant.” The Definition
is overly broad and unduly burdensome to the extent it attempts to extend the scope of the
Interrogatories to information in the possession, custody or control of individuals other than Ms.
Maxwell or her counsel.

4. Ms. Maxwell objects to the Definition No. 4 regarding “Document” to the extent
it expands upon the meaning ascribed to that term by Local Rule 26.3(c).

5. Ms. Maxwell objects to Definition No. 5 regarding “Employee.” Ms. Maxwell is
an individual, sued in an individual capacity, and therefore there is no “past or present officer,
director, agent or servant” of hers. Additionally, “attorneys” and “paralegals” are not
“employees” of Ms. Maxwell given that she herself is not an attorney and therefore cannot
“employ” attorneys.

6. Ms. Maxwell objects to Definition No. 7 of “Jeffrey Epstein” to include not only
entities but also any employee, agent, attorney, consultant or representative of him, to include
any entities owned or controlled by him. Questions related to an individual named Jeffrey
Epstein have been construed to mean only that individual and not any other individual who is
affiliated in some capacity with entities owned or controlled by him.

7. Ms. Maxwell objects to Definition No. 8 regarding “Massage” to include “any
person touching another person,” as the touching of another person may or may not include what
is commonly understood to mean massage, it may be for a harmful, offensive or accidental
reasons, or for any other purposes, or may be a touching incidental to being in close proximity
with another. Similarly, a definition of “massage” to include “using any object...to touch
another person” can mean a wide variety of activities and for various purposes that exceed the
relevancy of this defamation action.

8. Ms. Maxwell objects to Definition No. 9 regarding “Person” to the extent it
expands upon the meaning ascribed to that term by Local Rule 26.3(c).

9. Ms. Maxwell objects to Definition No. 11 regarding “You” or “Your.” The
Definition is overly broad and unduly burdensome to the extent it attempts to extend the scope of
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the Interrogatories to information in the possession, custody or control of individuals other than
Ms. Maxwell or her counsel.

OBJECTIONS TO INSTRUCTIONS

1. Ms. Maxwell objects to Instruction No. 1, in particular the definition of the
“Relevant Period” to include July 1999 to the present, on the grounds that it is overly broad and
unduly burdensome and calls for the production of documents that are irrelevant to this action
and not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. The Complaint at
paragraph 9 purports to describe events pertaining to Plaintiff and Defendant occurring in the
years 1999 — 2002. The Complaint also references statements attributed to Ms. Maxwell
occurring in January 2015. Defining the “Relevant Period” as “July 1999 to the present” is
vastly overbroad, irrelevant and not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible
evidence, and as to certain of the Interrogatories, is intended for the improper purpose of
annoying or harassing Ms. Maxwell and it implicates her privacy rights. Thus, Ms. Maxwell
interprets the Relevant Period to be limited to 1999-2002 and December 30, 2014 - January 31,
2015 and objects to the Interrogatories, except as specifically noted. Without waiver of this
Objection, Ms. Maxwell notes the Court Order in this case which permits discovery regarding
events between 2002 and the present which relate to the topics of the sexual trafficking of
females and will respond to the Interrogatories for the period 2002 to the present on that topic.

2. Ms. Maxwell objects to Instruction Nos. 2-21 to the extent they impose
obligations beyond those imposed by Fed. R. Civ. P. 33(b) and Local Rule 33.3. In particular,
the majority of the Instructions pertain to Requests for Production of Documents and are
therefore inapplicable to Interrogatories.

3. Ms. Maxwell objects to these Interrogatories to the extent they exceed those types
of interrogatories permitted by Local Rule 33.3. In particular, the majority of these
Interrogatories do not seek the names of witnesses with knowledge of information relevant to the
subject matter of this action nor the existence, custodian and location or general description of
relevant documents. Moreover, these Interrogatories are not a more practical method of
obtaining the information sought than a deposition or a request for production of documents.

4. Finally, the contention interrogatories are premature, as other discovery in this
case has not concluded. Local Rule 33.3(c).

5. Ms. Maxwell objects to the Definition of “Identify” to the extent it expands upon
the meaning ascribed to that term by Local Rule 26.3(c).



Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-19 Filed 01/04/24 Page 6 of 20

RESPONSES TO INTERROGATORIES

1. Identify all persons and entities authorized by you or authorized your agent(s) to
make statements on your behalf in January of 2015.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory as vague and ambiguous, specifically by not defining
what types or topics of “statements” are referred to. As drafted, this Interrogatory calls for
information clearly outside the relevancy of this lawsuit because it implicates her assistant
making work calls for her, scheduling appointments for her and her representatives making
“statements” in all manner of business capacities. Further, Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory to the extent it calls for information protected by the attorney/client, attorney work
product and joint defense privileges. Without waiver of the foregoing objections, she responds
as follows:

Ms. Maxwell has no recollection of any non-privileged communication by which she specifically
authorized any agent or entity to “make statements on her behalf in January of 2015” nor does
she possess any documents beyond those already produced by which any such authorization may
be ascertained.

2. Identify any action that you took after Ross Gow issued the January 2015 statement
regarding Ms. Giuffre to the public to retract or remediate the statement, clarify the
statement, or otherwise cause a different message to enter the public domain.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory as vague and ambiguous, specifically by not defining
what types or topics of “statements” are referred to. Further, Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory to the extent it calls for information protected by the attorney/client, attorney work
product and joint defense privileges. Without waiver of the foregoing objections, she responds
as follows:

Ms. Maxwell does not recall any actions that she took to retract, remediate or clarify a
communication Mr. Gow made to the British press in January 2015 regarding Plaintiff’s
allegations nor upon the exercise of a reasonable inquiry has she located any actions that she
took in that regard.

3. Name every blog, television station, newspaper, or other media or public outlet that
you are aware covered the January 2015 statement issued, either by quoting from the
statement or by referring to or referencing the statement.

ANSWER

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory as improper pursuant to Local Rule 33.3(a) and (b).
The Interrogatory does not seek the names of any witnesses nor the custodian or location of any



Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-19 Filed 01/04/24 Page 7 of 20

documents. Moreover, Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory to the extent it calls for
attorney work product and attorney client communications. The information sought is equally
available to both parties within the public domain. Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms.
Maxwell responds as follows:

Ms. Maxwell is personally unaware of any particular coverage by any media regarding Mr.
Gow’s communication to the British press. Any such articles or coverage of which she is aware
have previously been produced in this action and are equally available to both parties in the
public domain.

4. Identify all legal actions you, or someone acting on your behalf, have initiated, since
January 1, 2015, identifying the jurisdiction, the date of initiation of the action, and the
subject matter of the action.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory as vague and ambiguous, specifically by failing to
define “legal action.” Further, Ms. Maxwell objects to the extent the Interrogatory calls for
attorney-client communications or attorney work product. Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms.
Maxwell responds as follows:

Ms. Maxwell has not filed any complaint in a court since January 1, 2015.

5. Identify all payments made or things of value transferred to you by Jeffrey Epstein,
directly or indirectly or through any entity or person affiliated with or controlled by
Epstein, from 1992 through the present, and if loans, detailing the amount of the loans, the
terms of the loans, the interest rate of the loans, and any payments made by you or on your
behalf to repay such loans.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory on the grounds that it is propounded for the improper purpose of annoying or
harassing Ms. Maxwell. Ms. Maxwell’s personal financial information is not at issue in this
matter and information relating thereto is irrelevant. This Interrogatory also violates Local Rule
33.3(a) — (¢) in that it does not seek the name of witnesses or the custodian and location of
documents. Finally, Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory to the extent it seeks information
from a time period not relevant to this action.

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:
From the time period of January 1, 2015 through the present, Ms. Maxwell has had no payments

made or things of value transferred to her, including loans, by Jeffrey Epstein or any entity or
person affiliated with or controlled by him.
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6. Identify all loans issued to you by Jeffrey Epstein, directly or indirectly or through
any entity or person affiliated with or controlled by Epstein, from 1992 through the
present, detailing the amount of the loans, the terms of the loans, the interest rate of the
loans, and any payments made by you or on your behalf to repay such loans.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory on the grounds that it is propounded for the improper purpose of annoying or
harassing Ms. Maxwell. Ms. Maxwell’s personal financial information is not at issue in this
matter and information relating thereto is irrelevant. This Interrogatory also violates Local Rule
33.3(a) — (¢) in that it does not seek the name of witnesses or the custodian and location of
documents. Finally, Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory to the extent it seeks information
from a time period not relevant to this action.

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:

From the time period of January 1, 2015 through the present, Ms. Maxwell has had no loans
issued to her by Jeffrey Epstein, either directly, indirectly or by any entity or person affiliated
with or controlled by him.

7. Identify any other employment you have held since 1999, how you were
compensated, and how much you were compensated, broken down by job title, employer,
and year.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory on the grounds that it is propounded for the improper purpose of annoying or
harassing Ms. Maxwell. Ms. Maxwell’s personal financial information is not at issue in this
matter and information relating thereto is irrelevant. This Interrogatory also violates Local Rule
33.3(a) — (¢) in that it does not seek the name of witnesses or the custodian and location of
documents. Finally, Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory to the extent it seeks information
from a time period not relevant to this action.

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:

From January 1, 2015 to the present, Ms. Maxwell has not been employed as that term is
commonly understood to mean a salaried position.
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8. Identify all persons who gave a massage to Jeffrey Epstein with whom you had any
involvement, either in meeting the person who gave a massage, finding the person who gave
the massage, making a referral to the person who gave the massage, conversing with the
person who gave the massage, staffing the person who gave the massage, or otherwise
facilitating that person giving a massage to Jeffrey Epstein.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to the
Interrogatory as vague and ambiguous given the definition of “massage” to include any person
touching another person. Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is
propounded for the improper purpose of annoying or harassing Ms. Maxwell. Finally, Ms.
Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory to the extent it seeks information from a time period not
relevant to this action.

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:

As she testified at her deposition, Ms. Maxwell on occasion met with adult, professional women
and men who were employed at high-end spas or resorts and asked whether they made home
visits for the purposes of massages. She does not recall the names of those persons who ended
up making professional, adult home visit massages that occurred between the years 2000 and
2002. Other deposition testimony in this case has included that of Johanna Sjoberg who stated
that she had met with Ms. Maxwell and later had trained for and become a masseuse and
provided professional massages to Mr. Epstein.

9. Identify all efforts undertaken by you to ascertain the age and professional
qualifications of any individual in your answer to Interrogatory number 9.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to the
Interrogatory as vague and ambiguous given the definition of “massage” to include any person
touching another person. Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is
propounded for the improper purpose of annoying or harassing Ms. Maxwell. Further, Ms.
Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory as a violation of Local Rule 33.3(a) — (b) as it seeks neither
the names of witnesses nor the locations of documents and is more appropriately discovered
through the deposition of Ms. Maxwell, during which time she already answered questions on
this topic. Finally, Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory to the extent it seeks information
from a time period not relevant to this action.

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:
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As she testified at her deposition, Ms. Maxwell has contacted a number of professional
masseuses from spas in various locations, including New York, Palm Beach, and the U.S. Virgin
Islands, to provide professional, adult massages to be given to Jeffrey Epstein. Ms. Maxwell
relied on and expected those various high-end registered and licensed spas to hire professional
accredited massage therapists and to check the credentials, including the age and professional
qualifications, of their employees.

10. Have you ever recruited, found, hired, approached, introduced, procured, or
otherwise obtained, for the purposes of Jeffrey Epstein employing, any female who was not
at the time a certified or licensed massage therapist for the purpose of having that female
perform a massage on Jeffrey Epstein. If yes, please identify the name of each such female,
the last known address and phone number, and a description of the circumstances
surrounding that female meeting with your (sic) or Jeffrey Epstein.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to the
Interrogatory as vague and ambiguous given the definition of “massage” to include any person
touching another person. Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is
propounded for the improper purpose of annoying or harassing Ms. Maxwell. Further, Ms.
Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory as a violation of Local Rule 33.3(a) — (b) as it seeks neither
the names of witnesses nor the locations of documents and is more appropriately discovered
through the deposition of Ms. Maxwell, during which time she already answered questions on
this topic. Finally, Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory to the extent it seeks information
from a time period not relevant to this action.

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:
Not to her knowledge.

11. Have you ever recruited, found, hired, introduced, approached, or encouraged any
female, and told that female to meet with, or show themselves to, Jeffrey Epstein because
he was associated in some way with Victoria’s Secret. For each such female, please list her
name, address, telephone number, as well as a description of the circumstances
surrounding that female’s encounter with your or Jeffrey Epstein.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory on the grounds that it is propounded for the improper purpose of annoying or
harassing Ms. Maxwell. Further, Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory as a violation of
Local Rule 33.3(a) — (b) as it seeks neither the names of witnesses nor the locations of
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documents and is more appropriately discovered through the deposition of Ms. Maxwell, during
which time she already answered questions on this topic. Finally, Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory to the extent it seeks information from a time period not relevant to this action.

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:
Not to her knowledge.

12. Identify your basis for your contention that Plaintiff’s claims are barred by the
United Kingdom’s Defamation Act of 2013.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory to the extent it calls for attorney-client communications and attorney work product.
This Interrogatory is premature and violates Local Rule 33.3(c) because discovery is ongoing in
this case, not complete, and it is more than thirty days from the conclusion of discovery. See,
e.g., Shannon v. New York City Transit Auth., No. 00 CIV. 5079 (RWS), 2001 WL 286727, at *3
(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 22, 2001) (Sweet, J).

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:

The January 2, 2015, communication by Ross Gow to members of the British media did not, nor
was it likely to, cause serious harm to the reputation of Plaintiff. The imputation conveyed by
the communication is substantially true. Substantial portions of the communication conveyed
honest opinion. The communication was privileged as a matter of public interest. The
communication is barred by the single publication rule because Mr. Gow previously issued a
communication that was substantially the same as the January 2, 2015 communication, issued by
materially the same manner of publication, and Plaintiff and her counsel did not deny or timely
take action with respect to the previous communication.

13.  Identify the basis, including all underlying facts, for your contention that Plaintiff’s
claims are barred because the statements made by Ms. Maxwell or her agent were
protected by the self-defense privilege.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory to the extent it calls for attorney-client communications and attorney work product.
This Interrogatory is premature and violates Local Rule 33.3(c) because discovery is ongoing in
this case, not complete, and it is more than thirty days from the conclusion of discovery. See,



Case 1:15-cv-07433-LAP Document 1325-19 Filed 01/04/24 Page 12 of 20

e.g., Shannon v. New York City Transit Auth., No. 00 CIV. 5079 (RWS), 2001 WL 286727, at *3
(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 22, 2001) (Sweet, J).

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:

The self-defense privilege as it applies to Mr. Gow’s January 2, 2015 communication to
members of the British press are spelled out in detail in the Memorandum of Law In Support of
Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss at page 8-13.

14. Identify the basis, including all underlying facts, for your contention that Plaintiff is
a public figure and unable to prove Ms. Maxwell exhibited actual malice.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory to the extent it calls for attorney-client communications and attorney work product.
This Interrogatory is premature and violates Local Rule 33.3(c) because discovery is ongoing in
this case, not complete, and it is more than thirty days from the conclusion of discovery. See,
e.g., Shannon v. New York City Transit Auth., No. 00 CIV. 5079 (RWS), 2001 WL 286727, at *3
(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 22, 2001) (Sweet, J).

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:

Plaintiff sought public attention to her fabricated story concerning Ms. Maxwell and others. To
wit, Plaintiff was paid more than $100,000 for her false story to the Daily Mail as well as the sale
of a photograph purporting to be of herself and Prince Andrew. Plaintiff then further sought
public attention to her story through (a) an interview with Bradley Edwards and Jack Scarola, (b)
through contact with various literary agents, ghost-writers and news outlets, and (c) through a
carefully orchestrated scheme to publish her false claims in a public pleading in the U.S. District
Court for the Southern District of Florida, as well as media interviews and other contacts
including ABC News, Sharon Churcher, and her purported work on behalf of Victims Refuse
Silence.

With regard to Maxwell’s absence of actual malice, any statements attributed to her regarding
Ms. Roberts were limited in scope, directly targeted to Plaintiff’s mis-statements of fact without
any further comment regarding the many character and truthfulness shortcomings of Plaintift,
and were directed to the media outlets who continued to publish Plaintiff’s lies. Ms. Maxwell
decided against making any further statements regarding Plaintiff and her many lies in order to
minimize public attention to Plaintiff’s false claims, despite the many opportunities to provide
additional truthful comment and color, as demonstrated by her email communications provided
in discovery.

10
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15. Identify the basis, including all underlying facts, for your contention that Plaintiff’s
claims are barred because the statements made by Ms. Maxwell or her agent constituted
“fair comment.”

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory to the extent it calls for attorney-client communications and attorney work product.
This Interrogatory is premature and violates Local Rule 33.3(c) because discovery is ongoing in
this case, not complete, and it is more than thirty days from the conclusion of discovery. See,
e.g., Shannon v. New York City Transit Auth., No. 00 CIV. 5079 (RWS), 2001 WL 286727, at *3
(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 22, 2001) (Sweet, J).

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:

Ms. Maxwell retains her First Amendment privilege to express her opinion, to criticize others
including Plaintiff, and to comment on matters of public interest, including Plaintiff’s allegations
of being a sex slave or being sexually trafficked. Mr. Gow’s communication to members of the
British media constituted expressions of opinion regarding Plaintiff and her public claims.

16. Identify the basis, including all underlying facts, for your contention that Ms.
Maxwell or her agent did not cause or contribute to any damages suffered by Plaintiff?

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory to the extent it calls for attorney-client communications and attorney work product.
This Interrogatory is premature and violates Local Rule 33.3(c) because discovery is ongoing in
this case, not complete, and it is more than thirty days from the conclusion of discovery. See,
e.g., Shannon v. New York City Transit Auth., No. 00 CIV. 5079 (RWS), 2001 WL 286727, at *3
(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 22, 2001) (Sweet, J).

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:

Mr. Gow’s communication to the British media in January 2015 did not cause or contribute to
any damages Plaintiff suffered because, inter alia, Plaintiff was widely reputed prior to any such
communication to be a liar, a person who falsifies claims of sexual assault, and a sexually
permissive woman, because Plaintiff already had substantial mental and medical conditions that
pre-existed any statement issued, and because Plaintiff’s damages, if any, were occasioned by
her own wide-spread dissemination of her own false and defamatory statements. Without the
steps that Plaintiff took to publish her fabricated and falsified history, she would not have
suffered any reputational harm.

11
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17. Identify the basis, including all underlying facts, for your contention that Plaintiff
failed to take reasonable, necessary, appropriate and feasible steps to mitigate her alleged
damages.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory to the extent it calls for attorney-client communications and attorney work product.
This Interrogatory is premature and violates Local Rule 33.3(c) because discovery is ongoing in
this case, not complete, and it is more than thirty days from the conclusion of discovery. See,
e.g., Shannon v. New York City Transit Auth., No. 00 CIV. 5079 (RWS), 2001 WL 286727, at *3
(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 22, 2001) (Sweet, J).

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:

Plaintiff was advised by her own physician in Australia to engage in psychotherapy but has
refused to do so. Plaintiff was advised to cease taking valium but has refused to do so. Plaintiff
was advised by a court to stay away from her abusive husband but has refused to do so.

Further, Plaintiff had the opportunity to truthfully tell her actual history on a number of
occasions, including during her interviews with ABC, with other media outlets, with book
authors and journalists, but chose not to tell her true story, instead telling falsehoods and
fabricated and mistaken events, dates and participants.

18. Identify the basis, including all underlying facts, for your contention that Plaintiff’s
damages are the proximate result of intervening causes, pre-existing medical and mental
conditions of Plaintiff, and/or causes that occurred without knowledge or participation of
Ms. Maxwell and for which Ms. Maxwell is not responsible.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory to the extent it calls for attorney-client communications and attorney work product.
This Interrogatory is premature and violates Local Rule 33.3(c) because discovery is ongoing in
this case, not complete, and it is more than thirty days from the conclusion of discovery. See,
e.g., Shannon v. New York City Transit Auth., No. 00 CIV. 5079 (RWS), 2001 WL 286727, at *3
(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 22, 2001) (Sweet, J).

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:
Plaintiff’s records disclose that she (allegedly) had been sexually assaulted as a child by a family

friend, that she had been held as a sexual slave in captivity as a young teenager, that she had
been sexually assaulted by teens when she was 14 in the back of a house, that she had been
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sexually assaulted as a 14 year old by two young men in the “Woodsies,” that she had suffered at
a since-closed drug rehabilitation facility at the hands of “guards,” that she suffered from
“anxiety,” depression and suicidal ideation from at least 1998 before meeting Ms. Maxwell, that
she has experienced marital discord, that she suffered from parental and familial alienation, that
she has been beaten, choked and strangled by her husband on more than one occasion, that she
has suffered from pre-existing and post-existing drug addictions, alcohol abuse and prescription
medication addiction and abuse, that she has suffered many of the ill-effects of an impoverished
childhood, and that she suffers from certain limitations of mental faculty.

19. Identify the basis, including all underlying facts, for your contention that Plaintiff’s
damages were the result of her own conduct or the conduct of others and were not
proximately caused by any action of Ms. Maxwell.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory to the extent it calls for attorney-client communications and attorney work product.
This Interrogatory is premature and violates Local Rule 33.3(c) because discovery is ongoing in
this case, not complete, and it is more than thirty days from the conclusion of discovery. See,
e.g., Shannon v. New York City Transit Auth., No. 00 CIV. 5079 (RWS), 2001 WL 286727, at *3
(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 22, 2001) (Sweet, J).

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:

Plaintiff’s records disclose that she (allegedly) had been sexually assaulted as a child by a family
friend, that she had been held as a sexual slave in captivity as a young teenager, that she had
been sexually assaulted by teens when she was 14 in the back of a house, that she had been
sexually assaulted as a 14 year old by two young men in the “Woodsies,” that she had suffered at
a since-closed drug rehabilitation facility at the hands of “guards,” that she suffered from
“anxiety,” depression and suicidal ideation from at least 1998 before meeting Ms. Maxwell, that
she has experienced marital discord, that she suffered from parental and familial alienation, that
she has been beaten, choked and strangled by her husband on more than one occasion, that she
has suffered from pre-existing and post-existing drug addictions, alcohol abuse and prescription
medication addiction and abuse, that she has suffered many of the ill-effects of an impoverished
childhood, and that she suffers from certain limitations of mental faculty.

Plaintiff was advised by her own physician in Australia to engage in psychotherapy but has
refused to do so. Plaintiff was advised to cease taking valium but has refused to do so. Plaintiff
was advised by a court to stay away from her abusive husband but has refused to do so.

Further, Plaintiff had the opportunity to truthfully tell her actual history on a number of
occasions, including during her interviews with ABC, with other media outlets, with book
authors and journalists, but chose not to tell her true story, instead telling falsehoods and
fabricated and mistaken events, dates and participants.
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20.  Identify all reasons why you failed to appear for a deposition scheduled in about
2009 to 2010 in a sexual assault civil suit filed against Jeffrey Epstein.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory on the grounds that it is propounded for the improper purpose of annoying or
harassing Ms. Maxwell. Further, Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory as a violation of
Local Rule 33.3(a) — (b) as it seeks neither the names of witnesses nor the locations of
documents and is more appropriately discovered through the deposition of Ms. Maxwell, during
which time she already answered questions on this topic. Finally, Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory to the extent it seeks information from a time period not relevant to this action.

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:

Ms. Maxwell did not fail to appear for a scheduled deposition in 2009 or 2010. At the only
scheduled deposition date, December 9, 2009, Mr. Edwards failed to appear and failed to
communicate with Ms. Maxwell’s counsel following the November 9, 2009 involuntary
bankruptcy of his law firm occasioned by the arrest (and subsequent imprisonment) of his law
partner. Thereafter, including during 2010, the parties never agreed to a particular deposition
date.

21. Identify all communications you have had with Jeffrey Epstein since January 1,
2015, and the substance of those communications.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory on the grounds that it is propounded for the improper purpose of annoying or
harassing Ms. Maxwell. Further, Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory as a violation of
Local Rule 33.3(a) — (b) as it seeks neither the names of witnesses nor the locations of
documents and is more appropriately discovered through the deposition of Ms. Maxwell, during
which time she already answered questions on this topic. The Court has limited discovery of
communications between 2002 to the present with Mr. Epstein to those related to the sexual
trafficking of women. Finally, Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory to the extent it seeks
information from a time period not relevant to this action.

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:
Ms. Maxwell already produced any written communications with Mr. Epstein that were

responsive to the Interrogatory for the same, as limited by the Court to (a) all communications
from January 2015 and (b) all documents related to sex trafficking.
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22. Identify all flights you have taken on aircraft on which Ms. Giuffre was also a
passenger.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory on the grounds that it is propounded for the improper purpose of annoying or
harassing Ms. Maxwell. Further, Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory as a violation of
Local Rule 33.3(a) — (b) as it seeks neither the names of witnesses nor the locations of
documents and is more appropriately discovered through the deposition of Ms. Maxwell, during
which time she already answered questions on this topic. Finally, Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory to the extent it seeks information from a time period not relevant to this action.

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:

As she testified during her deposition, Ms. Maxwell has no recollection of ever having been on a
flight on which Ms. Giuffre was a passenger. Ms. Maxwell does not possess any other records
which might refresh her recollection with respect to any such flights.

23. Identify all occasions on which you either observed Ms. Giuffre massaging Jeffrey
Epstein or understood that she was massaging Jeffrey Epstein.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to the
Interrogatory as vague and ambiguous given the definition of “massage” to include any person
touching another person. Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is
propounded for the improper purpose of annoying or harassing Ms. Maxwell. Further, Ms.
Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory as a violation of Local Rule 33.3(a) — (b) as it seeks neither
the names of witnesses nor the locations of documents and is more appropriately discovered
through the deposition of Ms. Maxwell, during which time she already answered questions on
this topic. Finally, Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory to the extent it seeks information
from a time period not relevant to this action.

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:
Ms. Maxwell, as she has already testified, has no specific recollection of ever seeing Plaintiff
massage Mr. Epstein or having any understanding that Plaintiff was massaging Mr. Epstein on

any specific occasion, nor does she possess any records which would permit her to identify any
such occasion.
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24. Identify all persons or other sources of information who have told you or that
suggested that Epstein had sexual interactions with persons under the age of 18.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to the
Interrogatory as vague and ambiguous given the absence of definition of “sexual interactions.”
Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is propounded for the improper
purpose of annoying or harassing Ms. Maxwell. Further, Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory as a violation of Local Rule 33.3(a) — (b) as it seeks neither the names of witnesses
nor the locations of documents and is more appropriately discovered through the deposition of
Ms. Maxwell, during which time she already answered questions on this topic. Ms. Maxwell
objects to this Interrogatory to the extent it calls for information protected by the attorney/client,
attorney work product and joint defense privileges. Finally, Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory to the extent it seeks information from a time period not relevant to this action.

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:

Ms. Maxwell knows of no person who has communicated to her directly any information
concerning sexual interactions between Mr. Epstein and a person under the age of 18.

25. Identify all girls under the age of 18 with whom you have interacted at one of
Epstein’s properties, including his Palm Beach mansion or his New York City mansion.

ANSWER:

Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory on the grounds that it is overly broad and unduly
burdensome and calls for information that is irrelevant to this action and not reasonably
calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory on the grounds that it is propounded for the improper purpose of annoying or
harassing Ms. Maxwell. Further, Ms. Maxwell objects to this Interrogatory as a violation of
Local Rule 33.3(a) — (b) as it seeks neither the names of witnesses nor the locations of
documents and is more appropriately discovered through the deposition of Ms. Maxwell, during
which time she already answered questions on this topic. Finally, Ms. Maxwell objects to this
Interrogatory to the extent it seeks information from a time period not relevant to this action.

Without waiver of the foregoing, Ms. Maxwell responds as follows:

As described during her deposition, the only females with whom Ms. Maxwell interacted at any
of Epstein’s properties knowing that they were under the age of 18 were either members of her
own extended family or the minor children of her or Mr. Epstein’s friends, and any such
interactions did not involve anything sexual or inappropriate by herself or anyone else to Ms.
Maxwell’s knowledge. Based on their own privacy rights, Ms. Maxwell is not identifying these
family members or children of her or Mr. Epstein’s friends.
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Dated: June 29, 2016

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Laura A. Menninger

Laura A. Menninger (LM-1374)
Jeffrey S. Pagliuca (pro hac vice)
HADDON, MORGAN AND FOREMAN, P.C.
150 East 10™ Avenue

Denver, CO 80203

Phone: 303.831.7364

Fax: 303.832.2628
Imenninger@hmflaw.com

Attorneys for Ghislaine Maxwell
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that on June 29, 2016, I electronically served this Defendant’s Response to
Plaintiff’s First Set of Interrogatories via Electronic Mail on the following:

Sigrid S. McCawley

Meredith Schultz

BOIES, SCHILLER & FLEXNER, LLP

401 East Las Olas Boulevard, Ste. 1200
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
smccawley@bsfllp.com
mschultz@bstllp.com

Bradley J. Edwards

FARMER, JAFFE, WEISSING, EDWARDS,
FISTOS & LEHRMAN, P.L.

425 North Andrews Ave., Ste. 2

Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
brad@pathtojustice.com

Paul G. Cassell

383 S. University Street
Salt Lake City, UT 84112
cassellp@law.utah.edu

J. Stanley Pottinger
49 Twin Lakes Rd.
South Salem, NY 10590
StanPottinger@aol.com

/s/ Nicole Simmons
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